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ABOUT US

Dairy Crest is a leading British dairy company.
We have a well-established strategy, a clear
vision, robust values and great people.

The company's success is driven by a strong portfolio of market
leading brands including Cathedral City cheese, Clover dairy
spread, Country Life butter and Frylight, the original one calorie
cooking spray.

The year ended 31 March 2017 marked a new chapter in our
history as we started production of two functional ingredients,
demineralised whey powder and galacto-oligosaccharide (GOS')
at our Davidstow facility. This brings exciting new opportunities
in the high growth giobal infant formula market.

We strive constantly to innovate, bringing new products to market
and introducing new ways of working across the business.

Our success has been built on our links to the countryside, our
dairy heritage and our people and we continue to ensure we are
setting the standard for responsible business practice.

Dairy Crest is very well positioned for profitable and sustainable
growth in our added value and branded markets.

The UK’s No1 The UK’s No1
cheese brand dairy spread
The UK's Not The UK’s fastest growing

oil brand major spreadable brand



2017 HIGHLIGHTS
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1 All years have been restated to remove discortinued operations
2 Continuing operations before exceptional items, amortisalion of acquired intangibles
and pension interest
Statutory results
2017 2018
£m £m
Profit before tax from continuing operations 40.3 45,4
Profit from continuing operations 33.1 38.5
Profit/loss) from discontinued operations 52 (151.5)
Profit/foss) for the year 38.3 (113.0)
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Non-GAAP measures of financial performance
used hraughout this Anrual Report and
Accounts are defined In tne financial review
on pages 12 to 16 and in Note 1 1o the
financial statements.

Notice: Limitations on Director liability = The purpose of the Annual Report
and Accounts 1s to provids information 1o members of the Company and it

has been prepared for, and only for, the memoers of the Company as a body.
The Company, its Directors, employees, agents and advisers do not accept or
assume responsitility ta any ather person te whom this document s shown

or into whose hands it may come and any such responsibllity 18 expressly
disclaimed. Under the Companies Act 2006, a safe harbour limits the hatulity of
Directors in respect of stalements in and omiss ons from the Directors’ report
contamed on pages 4 to 40 and 62 1o 64 and fram the Directors’ reruneration

Company (but not to any third party) if the Directors’ report contained errors as
a result of recklessness ar knowing misstaternent or dishonest concealment

of a material fact, but they would not otherwise be liable. The Directors' report
and the Dirsctors’ remuneration report have been drawn up and presented in
accordance with and in reliance upon English company law. Liabilities of the

report at pages 41 to 6°. Under English faw the Diractars would be liable to the

Dirsctors in connection with those reports shall be subject to the imitations and
restrictions provided by such law.

Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements —

The Group's reparts including this Annual Report and Accounts and written
information released or oral statements made to the public in the future, by
or on behalf of the Company and the Group, may contain forward-looking
statements. By their nature, these staterments involve uncertamty since future
events and circumstances can cause results to differ materially from those
anticipated, The forward-looking statements reflect knowledge and information
availlable at the time of their preparation and, except to the extent required by
applicable regulations or by law, the Company and the Group undertake nc
abligation to update these forward-looking statements. Nothing in this Annual
Repart and Accounts should be construed as a profit forecast,
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AT A GLANCE

| Who we are

|

Dairy Crest is a leading British dairy company

| Vision

® Our success has been built on our links to the
countryside, our dairy heritage and the people in our
business

® From this, we will grow through a shared passion to
create exceptional food, loved by every generation

i Strategy |

® To generate growth by building strong positions in
branded and added value markets

@ To simplify, make more resilient and reduce costs
® To generate cash and reduce risk

# To make acquisitions where they will generate value

Our locations

Manufactures Clover, ;
Country Life, Utterly Butterly
Vitalite and Willow brands

|Kirkby

o

<

Innovation Centre
Harper Adams
A unigue collaboration between Dairy Crest and

Harper Adams University. The base for our
research and development and technical teams

The UK’s largest cheese
creamery producing

award-winning cheddar,
demineralised whey and
galacto-cligosaccharide

ﬂ Cheese

Cheese produced at Davidstow is matured and packed
into the Cathedral City and Davidstow brands
M8:) Distribution

Products from Kirkby and Frome, alongside Cathedral Gity
and Davidstow cheese, are efficiently distributed to
customers through our partnership with Fowler Welch

(ONuneaton

]

Head Office
Claygate

Home 1o our spray oil business

] )Frome

MH Foods. Manufactures Frylight

Versatile cheese packing |

one calorie cooking spray

Davidstow B

Dedicated West Country milk pool

l'Our retail markets

| Cheese” £2.5biion | | Retail sales of our
Butter and spreads* £1.2 villion l four key brands
Olls™ £330 million | o
42 British farms supply
m Dairy Crest
** Kantar mmarket dats 52 weeks ended 26 March 2017
“* urgmonilor estimale 2016 L

The infant formula
market is growing by

-

80/0 year on year

Infant fermula global™* | $55 billion
© IR market data, 52 weeks ended 25 March 2017

9 90/0 of people

regularly consume dairy
products

0500m litres

of raw milk purchased
a year

Dairy Crest Annual Report 2017



' Product groups

| Cheese & functional ingredients |

| Butters, spreads & oils |

Revenue Profit Market share
Retal branded

everyday cheese

Revenue Profit Market share
Retal butter

and spreads

© QG

Contribution to Group: % of :otal Group. Revenue excludes other revenue, Profit 1s product group profit excluding share of assoc ates.

Market share source: [R) 52 weeks ended 25 March 2017,

Dairy Crest produces and marksts Cathedral City, the UK's leading
cheese brand, and the premium Davidstow cheddar brand, Qur
world-class supply chain starts with milk supplied by 360 farmers in
the dairying heartlands of Cornwall and Devon. This top quality milk
is made into cheddar cheese at our highty-automated creamery
in Davidstow, Cornwall. The cheese then matures for on average
nearly a year at our purpose-built Nuneaton facility before being cut,
packed and distributed. We have a second packing site in Freme,
Scmerset, for more complex and innovative packaging.

Whey is a by-product of the cheese making process. Our
new facility at Davidstow produces demineralised whey and
galacto-cligosaccharide (‘{GOS'), a lactose based prebiotic, which
are both ingredients for infant formula. a high-growth, high-margin
global rarket.

Highlights

® Cathedral City is Britain’s largest cheese brand, 18th largast
grocery brand and 7th largest online grocery brand

® Cathedral City is now bought by nearly 55% of UK households
aach year

& Cathedral City has been re-launched with new and improved
packaging design across the range

® 100% of cur milk comes from dedicated farmers in the South
West of England

#® Production and sales of demineralised whey and GOS
are underway

The UK’s Noi
cheese brand

Dairy Crest manufactures a number of leading butters, spreads
& cil brands in the UK. Key brands include Country Life (butter)
and Clover (spread) which are produced at a single facility in
Kirkby, Merseyside, alongside a portfolio of smaller brands in the
spreads category.

Our subsidiary company, MH Foods, is based in Erth, Kent
and has a strong haritage in innovative focd oroducts spanning
more than 30 years. It produces Frylight, the original cne calorie
cocking spray and now the UK's largest oil brand.

Highlights

® Frylight continues to grow sales strongly, growing volumes
by 23% and increasing its lead as the UK's Not oil brand

® Country Life spreadable gained share and grew sales by 7%

® ‘No artificial ingredients’ Clover continued to gain share,
outgrowing a difficult spreads market by 4%

® Re-launched Vitalite, our iconic dairy free brand, grew sales
by 3%

The UK’s No1
dairy spread

The UK'’s No1
dairy free spread

The UK'’s fastest growing The UK's No1 gil brand

major spreadable brand

Dairy Crest Annuai Report 2017
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL

[ Making the most from milk

Dairy Crest processes and markets We have two product groups:
branded dairy products and value- Cheese & functional ingredients
added ingredients. Qur business and Butters, spreads & ails.

depends on milk and we make sure
we use every drop we buy. This
diagram shows how milk flows through
our business and the products we
make from it.

¢ 500 million litres of fresh

Cheese & functional ingredients milk from 360 farms

Butters, spreads & oils Buik butter and oils

Cheese | Functional ingredients

Dairy Crest produces and markets Cathedral Dairy Crest’s functional ingredients business
City, the UK’s leading cheese brand, and the produces and sells demineralised whey, GOS
premium Davidstow cheddar brand. Our and other added value dairy ingredients
world-class supply chain starts with milk including whey butter.

supplied by 360 farmers in the dairying

heartlands of Cornwall and Devon. This top Whey is a by-product of the chease making
quality milk is made into cheddar cheese at process. We have a new facility at Davidstow
our highly-automated creamery in Davidstow, producing demineralised whey and GOS, both
Cornwall. The cheese then matures for an ingredients for infant formula, a high-growth,
average of nearly a year at our purpose-built high-margin global market.

Nuneaton facility before being cut, packed
and distributed. We have a second packing
site in Frome, Somerset, for more complex
and innovative packaging.

4 Darry Crest Annual Report 2017



Cheese

Cheddar

Functional ingredients

Demineralised whey

Galacto-oligosaccharide (GOS)

Butters and spreads

Packet butter and spreadable

Dairy spreads

Oils

Frylight

Butters & spreads

| | oils

Dairy Crest manufactures a number of
leading butters and spreads brands in the
UK. Key brands include Country Life {(butter)
and Clover (spread) which are produced at
a single facility in Kirkby, Merseyside,
alongside a portfolic of smaller brands in
the spreads category.

Dairy Crest produces Frylight, a one calorie
cooking spray, at its facility in Erith. Since its
acquisition in 2011 sales have more than
doubled and Frylight is now the No1 oil brand
in the UK.

Dedicated milk supply

A sustainable supply of high quality milk is
important to Dairy Crest. We buy around 500
million litres annually from 360 farmers in the
Scuth West of England.

We are committed to working in partnership
with our farmers to ensure that together, we
are best placed to take advantage of market
growth apportunities.

Dairy Crest Annual Report 2017
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OUR STRATEGY

Dairy Crest has a clear
strategy against which
we continue to make
progress.

Our key performance
indicators (‘KPIs') are
summarised opposite.
These KPIs are also
used as measures for
our Long Term Alignment
Plan {'LTAP’) for Directors
and senior employees.

Operational nerformance — pages 18 to 21
Financial performance ~ pages 12 to 15
Corporate respansibility performance -
pages 22 to 27

See how we make ‘the most from milk’
through our integrated business model -
pages 4to 5

Further details of our LTAP — pages 52 to
54 and 58 10 59

Dairy Crest Annual Report 2017

Our strategy

Progress 2016/17

To generate
growth by
building
strong
positions in
branded and
added value
markets

® Combined volumes of four key brands are flat:

= Cathedral City master brand faunch with support
from TV advertising ~ growth in secand halif

= Clover and other spreads brands grow volumes
well ahead of the market and take a combined
2 percentage points of share

= Country Lite spreadable grew volumes by 6%

= Frylight volume groweth of 23%, increasing its lead as
the UK's No1 oil brand, and winning the IGD "Health
and Welness’ product of the year

® Entered into a research partnership with Danisco
Animal Nutrition, part of Dupant, to explore further
the potential uses of GOS in animal nutrition

® Improved level of demineralised whey hitting the
intant formula quality target rate of 80%

To simplify,
make more
resilient and
reduce costs

® Post the sale of our Dairies business we are how
a much simpler business

® We are driving further efficiencies and cost
savings, which remains an integral part of doing
business at Dairy Crest

® We have started the implementation of new,
simplified IT systerns, which will drastically
reduce the number of systems we use

® We signed an agreement with Fowler Welch
Coolchain Ltd, transferring our transport
operations to them and will, over time, build a
larger warehousing and logistics operation at our
Nuneaton site

To generate
cash and
reduce risk

@ Dairy Crest increased its cash inflow from
operating activities by 11% but debt reduction
was hampered by one-off itemns: Davidstow
commissioning, final settlement of consideration
on the sale of the Dairies business and working
capital increases as milk costs rose

® We now have five well-invested manufacturing
sites and hence capital expenditure has been
significantly reduced

# We have put in place specific financing covering
our new functional ingredients plant at Davidstow,
which has led to a cash inflow of £37.9 million

To make
acquisitions
where they
will generate
value

® Qur focus has been on organic growth and we
have not made any acquisitions during the year
ended 31 March 2017




Future priorities

Key performance indicators and performance
in the year ended 31 March 2017

® Our focus will remain to grow the market share
of our key brands, Cathedral City, Clover,
Country Life and Frylight

#® Continued investment in advertising and
promaotion

® Further develop our strong pipeline of innovation

® Accelerating returns from our investment in
demineralised whey and GOS at Davidstow

® Further developing our GOS business in adult
and animal nutrition

® To continue to implement a two year programme
to replace core IT systems to deliver a less costly
and simpler IT infrastructure more appropriate
for our smaller business and realise significant
associated cost savings

# Continue to seek cost reductions and drive
operational efficiancy improvements across
the business

@ Net debt expected to reduce in 2017/18 as a
result of strong underlying cash generation and
reduced one-off costs

® Continued sales of properties will provide cash
to the business

® We have a low future capital expenditure
requirement

® For 2017/18 the sharply higher milk price will
impact working capital but milk costs have now
started to fall

& We will continue to look for value-enhancing
acquisitions which meet our stringent
reguirements

Deliver progressive dividends with cover between 1.5 and
2.5 times.

in the year ended 31 March 2017 the Board is
recommending a total dividend up 1.9%. This is
covered 1.6 times.

Grow earnings before interest, tax and depreciation (adjusted
EBITDA) and adjusted profit before tax (adjusted PBT).

In the year ended 31 March 2017 EBITDA was flat
and adjusted PBT increased by 5%.

Deliver an acceptable return on capital employed (ROCE)*.
ROCE for the year ended 31 March 2017 was
15.4%.

Maintain net debt/EBITDA within the range 1 - 2 times*.
At 31 March 2017 net debt/EBITDA was 2.9 times
(31 March 2016: 2.7 times).

Grow our four key brands ahead of the market.

In the year ended 31 March 2017 Clover, Frylight
and Country Life spreadable grew ahead of the
market although Cathedral City did not (31 March
2016: 3 of our key brands grew ahead of the
market).

Deliver cost saving initiatives.

Cost reduction projects initiated in the year ended
31 March 2017 have delivered substantial benefits
ahead of plan.

Achieve revenue targets for products developed in the last
3 years.

In the year ended 31 March 2017 around 13% of
our revenue came from such sales against a target
of 10% (31 March 2016: 11% of revenue).

Improve corporate responsibility measures.

During the year we introduced our new corporate

responsibility pledges. There are fourteen

pledges grouped under the four pillars of Climate,

Colleagues, Consumers and Community. See the

corporate responsibility section on pages 22 to 27
for more detail.

* ROCE 1s calculated as product group pront from conlinuing operations tor the year duided
by the average operating assels of the continuing operations over the year. Operating assets
are defined as properly, plart and equipment, goodwill, intangible assets. inventaries, trade
and other recevables, Irade and other payables, and prowisions.

** Further detals on page 14,

Oefiritions of the ‘adjusted’ numbers a<e included i he financial review on payges 12 to 15,
There is a morg detailed review of our performance aganst KPIs on pages 52 to 54 and 58 to 58.

Dairy Crest Annual Report 2017
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

L

Review of the year

This year we have deflivered a set of results which demonstrate
the underlying robustness of our business, Adjusted profit before
tax has increased by 5% to £60.6 million and profit margins have
increased to 16.4%. This performance has bean delivered despite
a highly volatile background in global dairy markets.

In the first half of the year, milk volumes were strong across
the UK and falling milk and cream prices reflected this. However,
after two years of pronounced deflation, UK and global dairy
markets strengthened in the second half of the year as supply fell.
In this environment, we increased the price we pay our farmers for
milk by 38% between the summer of 2016 and March 2017, The
impact on cream prices was even more pronounced and butter
input costs doubled in the second half of 2016.

Despite this background, we increased profits and delivered
a strong branded performance, especially across our butters,
spreads and oils portfolio. Furthermore, 2016/17 saw the start
of dernineralised whey and GOS praduction at our Davidstow
creamery. Sales of functicnal ingredients reprasent an important
future growth opportunity for the business,

Developing brands

Developing brands is at the heart of our business and 2016/17
saw good progress across our porifolio. Cathedral City, Clover
and Frylight have each benefited from refreshed packaging during
the fast 12 months and the level of overall marketing activity was
increased compared to the prior year. We aired two new TV
advertisements for Cathedral City and Frylight and supported

a significant programme of consumer-facing and in-stare
advertising, and promotional activity across our key brands.

Innovation at the core

| am delighted that our success in innovation and product
developrnent was racognised this year. Clover won the spreads
category 'Product of the Year 2017" award in the world's largest
consumer survey award for product innovation. This is testimony
to the wark undertaken to remove all artificial ingredients from the
recipe. Furtharmore, in Ociober 2016 Frylight won the Institute of
Grocery and Distribution *Health and Wellness' award.

Innovation is critical in order to continue to grow our business
and 13% of the Group’s revenue in 2016/17 resulted from products
that are less than three years old. This is well ahead of the 10%
target we set ourselves,

Dairy Crest Amnual Report 2017

Value-added ingredients

We have now completed our investment at our cheese creamery
at Davidstow, Cornwall. We are producing demineralised whey,
an added value by-product of the cheese-making process.
Demineralised whey Is the base ingredient for infant formula and
by March 2017 over 80% of production was meeting the exacting
standards required for use in infant formula recipes.

Furthermore, we have also started manufacturing GOS at
Davidstow. GOS is a prebiotic which is added into premium infant
formula to help aid digestion and growth in babies.

Both of thase products are being marketed and sold inte
global infant formula manufacturers by our partner, Fonterra. We
also continue 1o research other potential applications for GOS In
both human nutrition and animal feed. in December 2016 Dairy
Crest announced that it had entered into a research partnership
with Danisco Animal Nutrition, part of DuPant, to explore further
the potential uses of GOS in pouliry and swine. If successful, this
wark wauld help to broaden the potential market for GOS beyand
infant formula.

Our culture and valves

Our succass has been built on our links to the countryside,
our dairy heritage and the people in our business. From this
foundation we will grow through a shared passion to create
exceptional food, loved by every generation.

Dairy Crest remains committed to doing the right thing in the
way we conduct ourselves and do business. Following the sale of
the Dairies business, we have refined our corporate responsibility
agenda into 14 new pledges. These pledges set demanding
targets across areas such as environmental impact, employee
safety, diversity and development, defivering to our consumers
and contributing to the communities in which we operate. We will
measure ourselves against these pledges and report on progress
annually,

Increased dividend recommended

The Board is recommending a final dividend of 16.3 pence per
share, making a full year dividend of 22.5 pence per share. In

line with our progressive dividend poficy, this is a 1.9% increase
on last year. The dividend is covered 1.8 times by adjusted basic
earnings per share. A key part of our strategy remaing to continue
to increase dividends each year, aiming for a targst cover range of
1.5 to 2.5 times.

Summary

Qur performance this year is not only a resuli of the Group's long-
term strategy but aiso a reflection of the significant contribution
and dedication of all of our employees, for which | would like 1o
thank them.

The Board remains confident in the future prospects for Dairy
Crest. The business has a strong management team who are
delivering against a clear business strategy cf building brands,
adding value, driving simplicity, generating cash and reducing risk.

Stephen Alexander Chairman
17 May 2017



CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S REVIEW

Highlights

e Adjusted profit before tax up 5% to
£60.6m

e Cathedral City retumns to volume growth

in the second half

s Frylight, Clover and Country Life

spreadable all grow volume and increase

market share

o Demineralised whey production meets
targeted levels of infant formula grade

¢ Partnerships with DuPont and others to
research GOS usage in animal nutrition —

trials underway

e Innovation — proportion of sales from
recently launched products now 13%,
well above target

o Net debt increased as expected due
to completion of Davidstow
commissioning and final payment to
Muiller on sale cf Dairies business

* Proposed final dividend up 1.9% to
16.3 pence

Summary: margin improvement despite deflation
Dairy Crest has implemented significant changes during the tast
two years. We are a much leaner, more focused organisation that
makes predominantly branded and high value-added products.
This allows management and the business to focus on those
areas that will drive long-term vaiue creation: innovation, brand
building, efficiency improvements and cost raduction.

| am particularly pleased that overall margins in the business
have improved. This is despite the difficult input cost environment
and the longer than expected commigsicning pericd of the new
functional ingredients facility at Davidstow. The strength of cur
brands, our well-invested supply chain and the quality of our
pecple all ensure that the Company is well positioned for the
future. This will help us to maintain our strong track record of
rewarding shareholders with higher dividends.

Market background: the return of inflation

Ws are a major UK buyer of milk and last year we purchased
around 500 million litres. The past year has seen a turning

point in dairy prices. After a prolonged period of deflation, dairy
commadity prices have experienced strong gains. Low milk prices
had an effect on milk volumes. They were down in most large milk
producing countries across the world. Consequently milk prices
rose. During the course of the year we have increased the price
we pay farmers for milk by 38% to 30 pence per litre. Since then
we have announced a 1 pence per litre reduction from Jure and a
further 1 pence per litre reduction from July. We pay our farmers
a fair, competitive price for their milk and our price remaing one of
the highest in the country.

However these inflationary forces do take time to work their
way through to the prices that consumers see in the shops. In
the first nine months of the financial year cheese retail prices fell
or remained stable. Since Christmas, however, we have seen
evidence of prices increasing on shelf.

Butter has been even more affected than cheese. Cream
prices, which determine the input costs for butter, more than
doubled during the year. Inevitably this has impacted margins in
our butters, spreads and oils business.

Managing volatility is a challenge for both us and food retailers,
our principal gustomers. For this reason we continue to work with
our customers to help to grow our categories through innovation,
rarketing and category merchandising.

Key brands perform robustly

Overall revenues from our four key brands were down £%. This

is in line with our expectations. Most of this decline was due to

the deflationary market place that we experienced for over three
quarters of the year. Key brand volumes were flat across the year.
Volume growth in Frylight, Clover and Country Life spreadable was
offset by declines in Country Life block butter, which we promoted
less, and Cathedral City. Howsver, as predictsd, the latter made
good progress in the second half of the year, with a return to
volume growth.

Cheese

IRl data for the 52 weeks ended 25 March 2017 shows that the
total cheese market grew by 3% in volume but was unchanged
in vatue terms. Within this the everyday cheese market grew

oy 2% in volume but fell by 3% in value, a deflation of 5%. For
much of the year there were high levels of cheese stocks in the
market. In order to maintain the brand’s premium positioning
within the category we decided against discounting aggressively.
Consegquently, Cathedral City slightly underperformed this market
growth, with volumes down 3% for the year. However volumsas
improved in the second half and this positive momentum has
continued into 2017/18.

Dairy Crest Annual Report 2017
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S REVIEW CONTINUED

Brand Market Dairy Crest Dairy Crest
volume growth* value growth*
Cathedral City Cheese (3)% (9%

Butters, spreads,

0, Q
Clover margarine 1% (9)%
. Butters, spreads, o o
Country Life mergarine 0% 2%
Frylight Qils 23% 19%
Total 0% (6)%

*Lairy Crest volume and value sales 12 maonths o 31 March 2017 vs 12 months to 31 March 2016

Cathedral Gity remains the nation's favourite cheese brand. It
accounts for 54% of total branded everyday cheese sales in the
UK and almost three fifths of households bought Cathedral City
during the past year.

Earlier in the year we successiully rolled out a refreshed
master brand identity for Cathedral Gity. The new design simplifies
the brand, iImproves visibility on shelf and strengthens our range.
This allows our brand investment 1o work better across the whole
of the growing cheese category- It was supported by significant
investrment including a successful new TV advertisemeant, 'The
Rules of Cheese’. We have seen a positive consumer reaction
both to the new packaging and the marketing campaign.

Spreads and butters

IRl total market data for the 52 weeks ended 25 March 2017
shows that butter volumes grew by 2% but that spreads volumes
declined by 7%. Selling prices for spreads were down very slightly
for the year and for butters were up slightly. However, for butter
this full year number masks the change from heavy deflation in the
first part of the year to price increases of 16% in the last quarter.

Our main spreads brang, Clover, had a very successful year,
growing volumes at 1% versus a significant market decline, partly
driven by increased promational volumes. Our other smaller
spreads brands, Utterly Butterly, Vitalite and Willow also performed
well and our total volume growth in spreads, including Clover, was
4%, 11 percentage points better than the market, This means that
our overall spreads market share has climbed by 2 percentage
points to 27.2%.

With Clover we continued to reinforce the ‘no artificial ingredients’
positioning through a marksting campaign in the first half of the year
and launched new packaging in the second half of the year. We were
pleased that the 'no artificiat ingredients’ recipe received extarnal
recognition as ‘Product of the Year 2017 in the spreads category in
the world's largest consumer survey award for product innovation.

Whilst Country Life averall volurmes were fat for the year, sales
weare up 2%. Country Life spreadable, which accounts for 65% of
brand sales, grew voiumes by 6% and was the best performing
major branded spreadable product over the year. However the
block product experienced a volume decline as we promoted less
following the sharp rises in input costs.

Frylight: another exceptional year

Frylight, our one calorie cooking spray, has had another outstanding
year. Volumes grew by 23% and sales by 19%, well ahead of market
growth of 1% and 2% respectively (Kantar data for the 52 weeks
ended 26 March 2017). Frylight has strengthened its lead as the
UK’'s number one oil brand and increased its share of the market for
the whole year to 11%, with a household penetration rate of 23%,

Dairy Crest Annual Report 2017

During the year we redesigned the pack to emphasgise its ‘no
artificial ingredients’ credentials and this was highlighted in well
received TV advertising in the fourth quarter. This advertising has
driven increased growth during the final quarter with market share
climbing to 15% and the brand will be advertised again in the first
quarter of this year. We were delighted that during the year Frylight
received the Institute of Grocery and Distribution IGD) ‘Health and
Wellness' product award.

Infant formula quality improvement

The quality targets for infant formula grade demineralised whey
are rightly demanding. During the year we have continually
improved our product so that by the year end we had met our
target of 80% of our demineralised whey being of infant formula
grade. The feedback we have received from customers so far on
the guality of cur product has been very pesitive. In partnership
with Fonterra we are building cur sales relationships with infant
formula producers for bath GOS and demineralised whey and
expect strong growth in sales of these products during the coming
year, with the majerity of this growth coming in the second half of
the year,

Leng-term demand for proteins looks robust. Whey protein
concentrate prices have risen strongly in the second half and
demineralised whey prices are now starting to firm. We are well
positioned to deliver improved returns in 2017/18.

An important part of the long-term future for GOS is its
potential beyond the infant formula market, to extend its use into
other areas such as animal and adult nutrition, The research and
development programme for GOS in animals has broadened
and during the year we signed an agreement with Danisce
Animal Nutrition, part of DuPont. Trials are now underway in this
partnership that will provide an extensive level of research into the
benefits of GOS in the animal husbandry industry.

Innovation

The retained business is much more focused following the sale
of the Dairies business. The pace of innovation is, and needs
to be, an impertant point of difference. Future growth will be
underpinnad by innovation.

Qur Innevation Centre on the Harper Adams University
campus, which opened in late 2015, is aiready helping to drive our
ambitious target of 10% cf sales each year coming from innovation
in the previous three years. This year, helped by the re-launch of
Clover with 'no artificial ingredients’, we achieved 13% of sales
from innovation during the last three years. This is an industry-
leading level of innovation.
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Innovation continues to drive cur business forward. As well as

buiiding on the success of the new Clover product, in the year

ended 31 March 2017, we:

* brought a new Frylight product to market — avocado spray ail,

¢ developed a new Frylight cap design to be launched in early
2017/18;

* launched a new Cathedral City snack bar range;

re-launched the Cathedral City spreadable range;

strengthened our ‘dairy free’ Vitalite range with the launch of a

new coconut variant; and

* agreed a partnership with Fowler Welch Coalchain Ltd, a logistics
specialist, to maximise the throughput at cur Nuneaton distribution
and warehousing site.

A simpler business

Dairy Crest is a simple, lean and respconsive business. We have
five well-invested manufacturing sites and fewer than 1,200
employees. There are cpportunities to further simplify procedures
and support structures within the business. During the year

we embarked on a change to our core T systems which will
bring benefits over the next twe years. This wili deliver & more
appropriate and cost effective |7 infrastructure for a business of
our scale and is also acting as a catalyst for us to simplify the
processes that sit alongside these IT systems.

We continue to drive operational efficiency improvements. A
particular focus is improving performance efficiency at Kirkby,
where we successfully consalidated all our butters and spreads
production onto one site in 2015. We are confident that all our
sites will contribute towards further improved productivity over the
year to 31 March 2018.

Future prospects

In the first full year since the transformational sale of our Dairies
business, we have delivered a robust performance in a tough
market.

Our industry leading margins are the result ¢of us driving long-
term value through innovation, brand building, investment in a
world class supply chain and strong cost control.

Our key brands continue to perform well. Cathedral City
remains the nation's favourite cheese and following its brand
refresh at the start of the year, the good progress and momentum
we have seen in the last six months has continued in the new
financial year, Our overall spreads market share has climbed, and
Frylight had another outstanding year with sales growing 19%,
well ahead of the market. The ongoing investment we are putting
behind cur brands gives me confidence that we can grow market
share.

We have continued to make gcod progress in our demineralised
whey operations at Davidstow. We are now hitting our targeted level
of demineralised whey being of infant formula grade. Developing cur
sales of demineralised whey and GOS into the high-margin global
infant formula market will be a key pricrity this year. At the same
time we are continuing our research into other potential animal and
hurman applications for GOS.

Looking forward, | am excited about the future for Cairy Crest.
The business is well pcsitioned to deliver profitabie, sustainable
growth and stronger cash generation, underpinning our
commitment to growing our dividends and reducing debt.

Mark Allen Chief Executive
17 May 2017
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
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Cverview

This year we have deliverad a set of results which demonstrate the
underlying robustness of our business. Revenue is lower than fast
year despite flat volumes reflecting the deflationary envircnment
that existed for much of the last two years. However, milk and
butter input costs rose significantly as the year pregressed.
Despite this highly volatile background we improved profit margins.

Continuing operations

Revenue

We continue to provide praduct group analysis consistent with
prior years to assist the users of the financial statements afthough
the Group operated as one segment throughout 2017,

2017 2016 Change  Change
R fm  fm  im %
Cheese & functional
ingredients 254.8 263.7 8.9) (3.4)
Butters, spreads & oils 150.7 1526 1.9} 1.2)
Other 11.1 60 51 850

~ 4166 4223 5.7)_ (1.3

Continuing operations (.3
Revenue decreased by 1.3% to £416.6 million, although revenue
in the second half of the year was 3.7% ahead of the same period
last year. Despite sales volumes across our four key brands
remaining broadly flat, the Group faced price deflation in the

first half which only partially reversed in the second half of the
year. Cheese and whey revenue fell by £8.9 million (3.4%) with
decreased sales volumes and prices. Revenue in butters, spreads
and oils fell by £1.9 million (1.2%) as price deflation across spreads
and butter in the first hait of the year more than offset the second
half recovery and the strong value and volume growth in Fryiight.
Cther revenue comprised warehousing and distribution services
provided to third parties.

Profit on continuing operations

2017 2016  Charge  Change

. _Em _ gm0 _gn* %o
Cheese & functional
ingredients 42.8 36.4 6.4 17.6
Butters, spreads & oils =~ 255  29.6 41y (13.9)
Total product group profit 683 660 23 35
Acquired intangible
amortisation _ G4 o4 - -
Group profit on
continuing operations
[pre-exceptionalitems} 679 656 = 23 3.

Overall total product group profit (before interest, acquired
ntangible amortisation and exceptional fterns) increased by £2.3
million to £68.3 million and the profit margin increased to 16.4%
(2016: 15.6%). This margin is after charging all central corporate
costs and includes £3.0 milion profit (2018: £3.6 miliicn) on the
sale of closed depots that were not disposed of as part of the
sale of the Datries busingss in 2015 to Muller UK & treland Group
LLP {'"Mller’). These depot sales are expected to continue next
year but will then cease. Their freatment as operating income

is consistent with the treatment in previous years of the related
closure costs. Future sales of ex-manufacturing sites such as
Fenstanton, Cambridgeshire and Crudgingion, Shropshire will be
classified as exceptional consistent with the historic treatment of
the related closure costs.



Cheese and functional ingredients product group profits increased
by 17.6% and the margin increased to 16.8% (2016: 13.8%). This is
despite lower revenue which reflectad lower selling prices during
the year. The profit and margin benefited from the reduction in rmilk
costs in 2015/16 that resulted in lower cost of sales in 2016/17 due
to the 12 month average cheese maturation cycle.

Milk costs increased significantly in the second half of the year
and these costs will lead to higher ceost of sales in 2017/18.

Butters, spreads and cils product group profits at £25.5 mitlion
(2016: £29.6 million) were £3.5 million lower than 2016 with profit
margins of 16.9% (2016: 18.4%; reflecting the competitive butters
and spreads market and significantly higher butter input costs.

Exceptional items
Pre—tax excepticnal charges from continuing operations increased
to £19.1 million {20186: £11.3 million).

The Group incurred £19.0 million of exceptional costs in
relation to the building and commissioning of the demineralised
whey and GOS facilities at the Davidstow creamery in Cornwall
(2016: £16.2 millicn). The principal elements of spend were
duplicate running costs, stock write-offs, commissioning expenses
and project management. In addition, there was an exceptional
charge of £2.3 million (2016: £nil) relating to the disposal costs
of closed manufacturing sites at Totnes, Fenstanton and
Crudgington. The treatment of this charge as an exceptional item
is consistent with the treatment of closure costs in pricr years.
These costs have been partly offset by the release of £2.2 million
of an exceptional provision in relaticn to the settlement of historic
claims between the Group, Farmright Limited and Quadra Focds
Limited at ££1.0 millicn, which was lower than the creditor balance
held of £3.2 million.

In 2016 an exceptional provision of £1.8 million was created for
dilapidation costs for leased properties in the retained business,
crystallised by the sale of the Dairies business, and provisions
relating to the closure of the Crudgington site totalling £0.7 million
were released. The Group also realised a gain in 2016 of £6.0
million on its investment in Promovita Ingredients Limited at the
point that it acquired 100% control in December 2015.

Finance costs

Finance costs of £7.7 million reduced by £0.6 million in the year.
This reflected the benefit from refinancing the £80 million of loan
notes that matured in April 2016 with loan notes issued in March
2016 at a lower interest rate. This was offset by a £0.7 million
reduction in interest capitalised on the investment at Davidstow
and increased interest costs on borrowings under the revaolving
credit facility, as the total level of borrowings increased. The
interest cost will increase next year as the capitalisation of interest
on the investment at Davidstow will cease. Capitalised interest
costs in the year amountad to £3.1 millicn {2016: £3.8 million).

Interest cover excluding pension interest, calculated on total
product group prefit was 9.0 times {2016: 8.1 times).

Other finance expenses, which comprise the net expected
return on pension scheme assets after deducting the interest cost
on the defined benefit coligation, increased slightly to £0.8 million
(2016: £0.86 million). These costs are dependent upon the pension
scheme position at 31 March each year and are volatile, being
subject to market fluctuations. We therefore exclude this item from
headline adjusted profit before tax.

Profit before tax = continuing operations

2017 2016  Change  Change
£m £m £m %

Total product group profit 68.3 66.0 2.3 3.5
Finance costs @ 8.3) 0.6 7.2
Adjusted profit before tax 60.6 57.7 2.9 5.0
Amortisation of acquired
intangibles (0.4) 0.4) -
Exceptional items {191} (11.3) {7.8)
Other finance expenses -
pensions {08 (0B 0.2)
Reported profit before tax
- continuing operations 40.3 45.4 5.1} (11.2)

Adjusted profit before tax {before exceptional items, amaortisation
of acquired intangibles and pension interest) increased by 5.0%

to £60.6 million. This is management's key Group profit measure
because it excludes exceptional items and therefore gives a Detter
indication of underlying performance. Reported profit before tax of
£40.3 million represents a £5.1 million (11.2%) decrease from 2016
predominantly due to the increase in exceptional items.

Taxation

Thea Group's effective pre-exceptional tax rate on continuing
operations was 18.0% (2016; 17.5%). The effective tax rate

is slightly below the headline rate of UK corporate tax as we
continue to self a small number of properties, the profits on which
are offset by brought forward capital losses or rall over refief.

Earnings per share

The Group's adjusted basic earnings per share from continuing
operaiions increased by 3.2% to 35.6 pence (2016: 34.5 pence) as
aresult of the increase in adjusted profit before tax and the lower
tax charge. Basic sarnings per share from continuing operations,
which includes the impact of exceptional items, pension interest
expense and the amortisation of acquired intangibles, amounted
to 23.7 pence (2016: 27.9 pence).

Discontinued operations

The post-tax profit on discontinued operaticns totalled £5.2 million.
A gain of £1.4 million relates to the disposal of the Dairies business,
which completed in 2015/16, This gain includes; additional costs of
£21 million resulting from a re-assessment of liabllities at the date of
dispesal; the final consideration reduction of £2.5 million paid back
to Muller foliowing determination by an independent expert; and a
tax credit on these items of £6.0 million.

There is a discontinued credit of £3.8 million that relates to the
release of tax provisions held in relation to the St Hubert business
that was sold in August 2012. These previsions are no longer
required.

In 2016 the loss from discontinued operations was £151.5
million. This reflected operating losses in the nine menths to
December 2015 of £33.3 million (post tax £26.4 million), post-
tax exceptional items totaling £14.4 million as the operations
to be sold were carved out of the Dairy Crest Group and site
restructuring continued in the Dairies business and a post-tax loss
on disposal of £110.7 million.

Fult details of discentinued operations are set out in the notes
to the financial statements.

Group result for the year

The reported Group profit for the year from continuing operations
was £33.1 million (2016: £38.5 million). The prcfit for the year
attributable to equity shareholders was £38.3 miillion (2016: £113.0
million loss).

Dairy Crest Annual Report 2017
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Dividends
We remain committed to a progressive dividend policy and have
continued to deliver against that policy by increasing our proposed
final dividend by 1.9%. The proposed final dividend of 16.3 pence
per share represents an increase of 0.3 pence per share. Together
with the interim dividend of 6.2 pence per share (2016: 6.1 pence
per share} the total dividend for the year is 22.5 pence per shars
(2016: 22.1 pence per share). The fina! dividend will be paid on
11 August 2017 to shareholders on the register on 7 July 2017.
Dividend cover of 1.6 times is within the Board's target range
of 1.5 to 2.5 times (2016&: 1.6 times).

Pensions

During the year ended 31 March 2017 the Group pald £13.1 million
cash contributions inte the closed defined benefit pension scheme
(2016: £20.8 million including an £8.3 million pre-payment of future
agreed cash contributions in relation to lease payments on three
properties cwned by the pension schems).

The reported deficit under 1AS 18 at 31 March 2017 was
£109.6 million; an increase of £&67.1 million from March 2016, The
principal reason for the increase was falling corporate bond yields
which are the reference point for the discount rate used to value
scheme fiabiiities.

The March 2016 actuarial valuation and corresponding schedule
of contriputions has yet to be finalised. This valuation will determing
future cash contributions and will replace the existing funding plan
which has cash contributions for 2017/18 of £17.2 million.

We continue to manage pension scheme liabilities and during
the year a Flexible Retirement Option programme was undertaken
resulting in £18.8 million of liabilities being permanently removed
from the scheme.

Cash flow

The business generates strong operating cash flows. However, the
year saw a number of one-cff items in the form of final payments
associated with the sale of the Dairies business and high levels of
exceptional commissicning costs at Davidstow.

In the year ended 31 March 2017 cash generated from
operations was £32.8 million 2016: £31.3 million).

Operating cash flow was impacted by a £6.1 million increase
in working capital (2016: £14.0 million reduction). This refiected
higher stocks of demineralised whey and lower levels of creditors.
Exceptional cash costs of £25.6 million (2016: £17.6 million) relate
principally to the commissioning of the demineralised whey and
(0OS piants at Davidstow. This commissioning is now substantially
complete.

Cash interest payments amounted to £12.2 million (2016:
£12.8 million) reflecting lower costs on the Group's Joan notes
following the maturity of notes in April 2016, Capital expenditure of
£25.6 miilion represents a £41.2 miltion (629%) reduction from last
year's £66.8 milion. This reflects the completion of the projects at
Davidstow. Capital expenditure next year is expected to be similar
to this year.

Proceeds from depct disposals were £4.5 million (2016:

25.4 million). in addition the Group received £37.9 million from
the sale of some of the assets at Davidstow relating to GOS
and demineralised whey, which were subsedquently leased back
on operating lease terms. During the year the Group repaid a
total of £28.4 million to Muller including £2.5 million following an
independent expert’s determination of final adjustmenis to the
consideration. In 2016 the sale of our Dairies business resulted
ininitial cash proceeds of £54.5 million - comprising headline
proceeds of £80.0 mitlion less £15.0 million for the cost of the
undertaking in lieu, £7.5 million of property sales from which the
Group had already received the cash proceeds and £3.0 million
in relation to pre-sale capital expenditure in the Dairies business

Dairy Crest Annual Report 2017

falling beiow an agreed target. Against this, the Group paid £5.5
million in related fees reflecting the extended review undertaken
by the UK Competition and Marksts Authority ({CMA’). The Group
also paid £6 million for the outstanding 50% of the share capital of
Pramovita ingredients Limited in 2015/16.

Overall, the final payments to Miller, the commissioning costs
at Davidstow and the adverse movement in working capital offsat
by the sale and leaseback at Davidstow have resulted in a £20.8
million increase in net debt during the year (2016: £30.3 million
increase) to £249.8 milion (2016: £229.0 milion). However, looking
ahead, strong underlying cash generation will translate into lower
levels of borrowing as these one-off factors fall away — the Dairies
business is sold, Davidstow commissioning is complele and milk
input costs are set to reduce in June 2017, We remain committed
to reducing net debt/EBITDA to below 2.0 times.



Borrowing facilities

Total borrowing facilities comprise £380 million Sterling eguivalent.

The Group has a five year multi-currency revolving credit facility
for £240 million which reduces by £80 million in Cctober 2018.

At 31 March 2017 the Group had a swapped Sterling
equivalent of £140 millicn of loan nctes outstanding maturing
between 2017 and 2026.

Post balance sheet events

On 4 April 2017, the Group repaid €10.7 million (£9.2 million
Sterling equivalent) and £2.8 million of 2007 fixed coupon loan
notes on their maturity.

Treasury policies

The Group cperates a centralised treasury function, which controls
cash management and borrowings and the Group's financial risks.
The main treasury risks faced by the Group are liquidity, interest
rates and foreign currency. The Group only uses dervatives to
manage its foreign currency and interest rate risks arising from
underlying business and financing activities. Transactions of a
speculative nature are prohibited. The Group's treasury activities
are governed by polictes approved and monitored by the Board.

Tom Atherton Group Finance Director
17 May 2017
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We manage risk to help us achieve our strategic obiectives
and protect our reputation.

The Group faces a number of risks which, should they materialise,
could affect our ability to achieve cur strategic objectives. The Board
has overali respensibility for ensuring the effective management

of risk acress the Group. It is supported by the Audit Committee
which reviews the effectivenass of the Group’s risk management
processes and internal controls. Responsibility for the day-to-day
managernent of risk is delegated to the Executive Committee
which reviews the business’ performance and the risks and threats
being managed at each of its mastings. Executive Committee
meeting minutes are routinely reviewed by the Board. All functions
of the Group are represented at Executive Committee enabling the
Committee to manage the Group's risks on an on-going basis.

Risk appetite: The Board belisves that the assumption aof informed nisks
enables the delivery of long-term success. It determines the nature and extent
of significant » skas the Company assumes to achieve its strategic objectives. The
Drrectors have carried out a robust agsessment of the principal risks which the
Company faces including those that would threaten the business model, future
performarce, solvency or liguidity.

Risk management process: Each kay function in the Group is requirad ta
prepare a risk register for its area of accountablity. Functional risk registers are
reviewed by the Executive Committes and from them the Group risk register is
compiled. it is formally reviewed by the Soard when the Group sets its budgst in
April. The Group Internal Audit function reviews the Grougp risk register at the start
of sach year. It 18 a key componant of the compilation of s anrual audit plan.

All Group Internal Audit function reports are provided to the Exegcutive and Audit
Committees. The Audit Committee reviews the Group's Internal Audit's reports
and progress against its work plan. The Audit Commitige reports o the Board
after each meeting. Group Internal Audit provides independent assurance over
the management and mitigation mechanisms. This procass explicitly recognises
the relationship between Group Internal Audit and risk managerrent. The Audit
Committes is satisfied that the processes are adequate and appropriate. Further
details of the Group's approach to risk management and internal control are set
out in the Corporate Governance report at pages 32 to 33,

Risks and uncertainties: Details af the principal risks and uncertainties facad
by the Group and the associated mitigating controls are set out on this page

and on page 17. Althougr the Group has an on-going pracess for identfying,
evaluating and managing the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group,
acditional rsks which are not presently known to managernent could also have an
adverse effect on the Group. The risks and uncertanties referred to in this Annuat
Report are not intended to be an exhaustive analysis of all risks facing the Group.

[Commercial risks

]

Inadequate levels of innovation

i\_isrk area and potential impact

We operate ir markets in which our competiors are continually nnevating in
order to maintar customer and consumer interest In ther products and to attract
customer and consumer interest for new praducts. If we do not successtully
innovate we rnay 1ose custorers and consumers and we may fafl te attract new
customers and consumers. That would result in fewer sales, loss of profit and
failure to mest growh targets.

We have a strong new product development and innavation team who are
based at our Innovation Centre on the Harper Adams University campus. That
team works closely with Harper Adams University leveraging the research and
other expertise of the University, including taking students on secondment

Into pur innavation team. The rnovation teamn's briet Ncluces enhancing the
appsal of existing products, driving product and manufacturing efficiencies
and improvéments and developing new exciting products and vanants of
existing products. Continued investment N inncvation enables our busress to
maintain or outstrip innovation in the rast of the marke:. Focusing an element of
senior managemert remuneration on innovaticn through the use of a balanced
sgorecard including an innovaton target for the Group's share based long-term
incentive plan helps to ensure comtinued focus on and drive behind innovation
as does the publicly adopted target of achieving *0% of revenue from procucts
daveloped in the last three years.

} Input cost volatility _;j

Risk area and potemialjmpact

Volatile rmilk and non-milk costs fvegetable oils, digsel, electricity, gas and
packaging) could reduce margins unless we can manage cost rigk, find other
cost efficiencies elsewhere or increase selling prices.

Milk prices could remain volatile driven by global and European commodity
market pressures as well as local market and environmental factars.

Mitigating controls

Kay input cost trends are continually monitored by our exparenced procurement
team and are ~egularly reviewed by the Executive Committee. Milk and vegetable
olf are critical inputs for the Group. Milk price negotistions are conducted folliow ng
careful reviegw with the Executive Committee which crovides the procurement
team with a specific mandate. The use of a balancing contract with direct milk
suppliers (introduced in tne first quarter of the f rancial year) enables better
balancing of mik supply and demand theretyy reducing the risk of milk oversupply
resulting in lower recoveries. The balancing contract helps to reduce our exoosure
to lower value commodity markets thereby supporting the Group's strategy of
focusing on branded and added value markets, Vegetabls oil is reviewed monthly
by a risk committee which monitors and hedges forward vegetabie cil purchases
as apprapriate. We seek ¢ absarb short-term cost movements through supply
chain efficiencies. Qur procurement and cormrrercial teams have clear lines of
communication between them 10 ensure customers are kept aware of changes 0
aur cost base and requests for price increases can be fully justified.

!
i

iﬂltlgatmg Vcontmis )

i
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Entry into new product areas or territories
Risk area and potential impact

Heduce&ﬁ:lllty V . )

[Hisk area and potential impact

N N

We operate I comoetitive markets. If we fail adequately ta control our cost
base, to compete effectvely or are subject to higher input prices that cannot be
racavered by raising selling prices without losing volumes, we could lose sales

and profits.
Mitigating cantrols

We set ourselves the target of cantinually reducing our cost nase and are able to
invest in our supply chain to help achieve this.
Despite challenging trading conditions we continue to Invest in marketing our

key brands. Cur innovation programme continues to genarate new products
that reinforce our appeal to custormners. We recognise the importance of strong
custarmer relationships and the executive team plays an actve part in mantaining
and developing these. They are also involved '» major customer negotiations, We
conduct custorner surveys ta bercrmark aur performance and we continuously
morutor tre service and quality levels provided 1o our customers and consumers,
and have proceduras in place 1o react quickly io any issues. Our commitment to
corporate responsbility 13 an important cart of our overall proposition to some
customers.
''Reduced demand from consumers q

Risk area and potential impact !

—

Consurnears could move away from dary products for ecanomic, health, ethical,
or other reasans leading to lower sales and profits.

Mitigating controls
Consumers are at the heart of our business and we regularly monitor consumer
trends. We continue to promgote the health benefits provided by dairy products
and develop heatthier procucts. We alsc continue to mantain our focus on
developing a comgeling new product development pipeling, enabling us to react
tc consumer trends, for example with more environmentally-friendly packaging,
and healthier variants of our key brands. We have a direct iInvolvement with
government to understand and mifluence future legislation that could affect future
consumer demand.

Dairy Crest Arnual Report 2017

The dynamics of new categones may not be in line with our expectations resulting
in lower than anticioated margirs, lower than anticipated volumes, longer than
articipated payback on investment and higher than expected costs to access
markets.

Mitigating controls . J

We work with commaercial partners who are already astablished in new categories
and markets where the Group 1s rot already operating or present. Cantractual
relationships with these estatlisted commarcial partners for the sale and
distribution of products in new gategaries and markets enable the Group to have
certanty over minimum levels of retums and known costs of accessing new
markets.

E)perational risks ]
ﬁnahility 1o source milk
} Risk area and polential impact
Without milk we would not have a business. Restricted milk supply could be
caused by economic factors, weather, fusl availability or an epidemic which

aftects dairy cows. This could lead to lower sales and profits. Consurmer
confidence in dairy products could also be adversely affected.

Mitigating controls J

We invest significant resources in maintaining strong relationsrips with our milk
suppliers by attending forums and discussing current issues and pressuras that
aftect both the farms and our business. Cur milk comes directly from farms on
contracts that inciude a notice period of between three months and ane yaar.
QOur experienced milk procurement tearm understand milk procuction and are
alert to changes in supply. We aim to pay a fair, market related mik price and
closely monitor the milk price we pay to supplers. Significart etfort is expended
by our team of dedicated Farm Susiness Managers ta make the Group an
attractive purchaser of milk for our supphers, including waorking ciosely with our
direct supplying farmers providing valuable support ta them with their businesses.
We have contingency plans established for major iIncidents and work closaly with
DEFRA and industry bodies to ensure these are agpratriate. These plans are
regularly tested and reviewed by the Executive Committee,



Failure of a key supplier

@itigating contrals '

Risk area and potential impact

We are dependen: on key suppliers and could lose sales and face financial
penalties fram custo™ers If a supplier's falure lsaves us unabls to supply. Failure
of key information techrology suppliers could adversely affect our financiat
systems,

Mitigating controls

Qur procurement team regulary monitors suppliers' ability to supply and puts

n place atemative arrangemeants, ~cluding dual purchasing, if appropriate. We
have taken specific actions ta reduce our dependency on nformation technology
suppliers.

Disruption to production

Risk area and potential impact

Imglemer:ation of and strict adherence ‘o ranufacturing proceduras designed
to ensure product meets specification. Assurance over adherence to thase
procedures s provided by intemal techrical audit, customer audit and external
expet audit, Qur contracaual relationship with Fo-terra, who sell the infant formula
ingredients we produce, allows us to utilise its experience In producing product
which conforms ‘o the required specification. Focus on continual enhancement
of site team capabilhes through technical traming and behavioural programrmes
coupled with ensuring appropnately experienced ard skilled ceople are recrutted
into and retained in the team. We have a short milk supply charr with gocd
traceability and strict controls to ensure gual ty, Farm audits e~sure supplier
compliance with quality requirermerts.

| People risks

—

| Recruitment and retention

An accident, a fire, product cantamination, the failure of equicment or systermns,

a deliberate malicious act, or industr al action could d'srupt production, affect
food safety, causa inury, and/or cause reputational damage with adverse
consequences. We are also reliant an mfermation technology and are exposed 10
losses in the event that systerns fail.

} Mitigating controls

Plans are maintained to raspond quickly to incidents and minirmise any impact
tr the Group. Our business is committed to the heaith and safety of all cur
employees and mantans syslems aimed at ensuring everyore Is able 1o work
safely. Al of our manudacturing sites bave a trained engineering resource, are
supported by our major equipment suppliers and hold appropriate stocks of
spaie parts, They also all have fire protection systems and regular fire dnlts, Qur
inforrmation techrology systerns are reguiarly backed up and duplicated in the
majority of areas. Appropriate safeguards such as firewalls are in place to thwart
cyber attack and the rebustness of those safeguards is regularly and routirely
tested as part of our cyber securty pragramme. We are also advised by a
reputable insurance broker and maintain insurance cover for public and product
liability, product recall and property damage and business interruption rsks with
reputable insurers. We maintain strong relations and communication with staff
organisations and trade uniors Including at National Officer level. Establshed
grievance and disciplinary procedures are well embedded in the business and
compliance with them is managed through a strong Employee Relations function,
Pay benchmarking processes and centrally controlled pay negctiations are in
place to ensure pay remains competitive against tne market and i1 ine with

the Group's stated remuneration aims. Regular employee engagement surveys
erable us to maintain a good cn-gong understanding of staff satisfaction and to
identity emerging 1ssues or trends and understand the effectiveress of actions
undertaken to manage them.

Major projects
Risk area and potential impact

To remain competitive we periodically undertake ma;or transformational projects
following strategic raviews or have to undertake major projects or works in
respanse to the changing condition of our infrastructure. Successful execution

of these projects is often key o delivering strategic objectives. At the same time
we have to ensure that major projects do not divert from the cn-going day-to-day
delvery of products and services to our customers.

Mitigating controls ‘

We have a good track record of managing proiects and use experienced and
appropriately skilled sermior managers to lead these. Supervisory govemance
structures are also put in place to help successful delivery. We are aware that
oo much change concentrated in too short a timescale can be detrimental
and manage this by ensuring key prcject resource 1s full trme with apprapnate
backfiling and use of third partes.

Product quality

Risk area and potential impact

Fallure to maintain product quality could lead 1o reputational damage and loss
of sales and profits. As we start to manufacture ingredients for infant formula
this risk could increase,

Mitigating controls ‘

We have well-established supply chains and a close working relationship with our
milk suppliers. We have an independent quality tearn, including experenced cheese
graders. Customer and cansumer complaints are monitored and acted upon.
Where possible we have hakility caps in our contracts and using the advice

of areputable insurance broker we have product recall fiabikty insurance in place
with reputabie insurers. Qur contractual relationship with Fonterra, who sell the
infant formula ingredients we produce, allows us to utilise ts experienca in this field.

Risk area and potential impact ‘

If we don't meet stringent infant formula specifications for added value ingredients
products we wil not be able to sell those products for therr intended use. That
could lead to lower than anticipated sales volumes of nfant formula grade
products associated with which would be lower than anticipated profits; custormer
cenfidence may also be eroded as a result.

Risk area and potential impact ‘

We need to attract and refan nigh guality employees to grovide customers and
consumers with safe, hign quality products and services.

Mitigating controls !

We carry out ngorous selection procedures and benchmark pay and benefits

to ensure we can attract and retain the best people. We have a widely apphed
bonus scheme and a range of other incentives to reward good performarce.

Our share based long-term incentive plan algns the interest of management to
shareholders and helps to retain xey senior ermployees. We use a performance
review and talent management scheme to identdfy and develop cur own pecple.
We undertake regular surveys to monitor our relatiorship with cur employees and
thelr engagement, communicate with them regularty and encourage therr to ask
guestions.

| Financial risks

Pension scheme

Risk area and potential impact

Despite the action we have taken to reduce the risks associated with cur pension
schems, including closing the scheme to future accrual in 2010 and buying
insurance to meet he liabilities associated with many of our retired members in
2008 and 2008, the deficit could continue to Increase and we may then have to
increase our contributions. The ris< of a need for higher cash contributions to the
scheme over a longer than anticipated period may be increased by a persisting
low git yield environment.

Mitigating controls R

We continue to work closely with the Trustee of the Pension Fund to improve the
Fund's financial postion at an acceplable cash cost to the business. We have
reduced the Fund's expasure to equities and other higher-risk asset classes

and am to do se further. The strength of tre Campany's covenart and ability

to continue to fund contributions has been improved by the salg of the Daines
business.

Legal and compliance risks

Compiliance with laws

Risk area and potential impact

Cur sector is subject o a number of complex statutory requirements, There 1s a
risk of fines or lawsuits and reputational damage if we fall to comply.

i Mitigating controls i

We have a strong in-hbouse legal function supported by external advisers. We
have undertaken Group-wide training in respect of competition law and actively
maonitor and adjust to on-going legal and regulatory changes. We have Business
Conduct and Data Protection Palictes and programmes designed to ensure

that all relevant employees understand what is and is net permissible under the
Bribery and Data Protection Acts,

| Regulatory change
' Risk area and potential impact

Food safety and product specification regulations affecting the UK and other
jurisdictions where products are sold impact the products that we manufacture.
Regulatory authorities regularly enact changes to food safety and product
specification legislation. Changes ta legislation could result in restr ctions on the
movement and sale of the Group's products and raw materials between termtories
or reguire changes to the production processes or specification of our products.

Mitigating controls i

We have a strong technical function which routinely monitors planned and
implemented changes to food and ingredients legislation in the LUK and other
relevant jurisdictions which might necessitale changes to our production
processes or product specifications. Our product development function works
in tandem with the technical function ard key supplier partners and customers
to respond to anticipated or implernentad legisiative changes. The Group

has invested n its technical and product development functicns and has its
techrical and mnovation centre at Harper Adams University with whick we have
a cooperation agreement providing access to state of the art academic and
tachnical expertise, We are a member of recognised industry bodies who represent
our interests, along with cthers in the food and dairy industries and advise and
lobby on our behalf, We have close links with UK government and govermirment
represertatives to help represent our interssts in jurisdictions outside the UK
together with commercial partners already established in other jurisdictions.
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PERFORMANGE

| Cheese & functional ingredients

]

€ million 201617 2015716
Revenue 254.8 263.7
Product group profit 42.8 36.4
Margin (%) 16.8 13.8
Share of retail Dairy Crest

branded everyday
cheese

o,
Source: IR 52 weeks Others 46%

ended 25 March 2017

Dairy Crest produces and markets Cathedral City, the
UK's leading cheese brand, and the premium Davidstow
cheddar brand.,

Our world-class supply chain starts with milk collected
from around 360 farmers in the dairy heartlands of Cornwall
and Devon. This top quality milk is made inte cheddar
cheese at our highly-automated creamery in Davidstow,
Cornwall. The chease then matures for around a year at our
purpose-built Nuneaton facility before being cut, packed
and distributed. We have a second packing site in Frome,
Somerset, for more complex and innovative packaging.

Whey is a by-product of the cheese making process. Our
new state of the art facility at Davidstow demineralises this
whey to supply the high-growth, high-margin global infant
formula market. Additionally we produce GOS, a lactose-
based prebiotic, which is also an ingredient for infant
formula, but has potential applications in other human life
stages as well as in animal husbandry.

Market background

2016/17 was a turning point in the UK dairy market. Having fallen
for three years, prices paid to farmers for milk started to rise in
the summer and then rose guickly through the autumn and winter
before stabilising in the spring. The price we pay to farmers for
the milk we use to make cheese rose from a low of 21.7p per litre
in July to 30p per litre in February, afthough in Aprit 2017 we did
announce a 1p reduction from 1 June and another 1p reduction
from 1 Jduly. The maturation process rmeans we sell chease made
with milk purchased around a year before the sale takes place.
Therefore the effect of these higher milk prices will not be seen

in the prefit and loss account until later in 2017/18, although the
effect was seen in higher working capital balances for cheese at
2016/17 year end.

Meanwhile year-cn-year chesse ratail prices were falling in
2016/17 and only just started rising on a quarter-on-quarter basis
in January. Market cheese volumes have been reasonably robust
during the year, rising by 2%, with little change throughout the year.

Global whey prices have also started to rise over the last six
months,

Cathedral City: A true market leader
It is the UK’s 18th largest grocery brand, tigger than all other
competitor cheddar brands combined and accounts for 54% of all
branded everyday cheese sold by UK retallers.

For much of the year there were high levels of chease stocks
across the market, driven by high milk supply in the preceding
year. In order to maintain the brand’s premium positicning within
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the catagory we decided not ta discount too aggressively.
Conseguently, Cathedral City slightly underperformed the market
and volumes were down 3% for the year, However volumes
improved in the second half and we expect this performance to
continue during 2017/18.

During the early part of the year we successfully rolled out
a new master brand identity for Cathedral City. The new design
simpilifies the brand, improves visibility on shelf and strengthens
our range. This allows our brand investment to work better across
the whole of the growing cheese category. It was supported by
significant investment including a successful new TV advertisement,
‘The Rules of Cheese’. We have seen a positive consumer reaction
both to the new packaging and the marketing campaign.

Inriovation remains at the heart of what we do and 2016/17 saw
the relaunch of Cathedral City spreadable in three flavours: Mature,
Extra Mature and Garlic & Herb. We have launched a new flavour,
Lighter Mature, and towards the end of the year our new snack bar
was launched in front of store, This is an important development
for the long-term expansion of the brand into the on-the-go food
section. Innovation will remain key to our future growth.

A world-class supply chain

Our farmers play a vital role in our world-class cheese supply
¢hain, with 100% of the milk we buy coming direct from around
360 farmers in the South West of England. We pride ourselves

on the close working refationship with cur farmers, through both
our Farm Business Team and Dairy Crest Direct ('DCD’), the
independently elected bady which represents Dairy Crest farmers.
Thanks to our Davidstow Farm Standards, all milk supphed to us
meets the strict international standards for the production of infant
formula and in 2016/17 we have further developed and enhanced
our Davidstow farm audis.

New infant formula ingredients come on stream

During the year we completed our investrment at the Davidstow
creamery in Cornwall to make demineralised whey and GOS. The
quality targets for infant formula grade demineralised whey are
demanding. We have been continually improving the guality of our
product so that by the year end we had met our targst of more
than 80% cf our whey being of infant formula grade. In partnership
with Fonterra we are building our sales relationships with infant
formula producers in both GOS and demineralised whey and
expect strang growth in sales of these products during the coming
year. These added value products give Dairy Crest access to new
sales channels in fast growing global markets.



GRQMEETHER

Potentially exciting new applications for GOS

We are investigating some potential further applicaticns for GOS.
Promovita® is the new brand name of our GOS for use in food
applications. In animal nutrition, where we use the brand name
Nutrabictic® the product may improve food uptake but also animal
health, potentially leading to the need for lower levels of antibiotics
in the animal husbandry industry. During the year we signed an
agreement with Danisco Animal Nutrition, part of DuPont, which
will provide an extensive level of research into the benefits of GOS.

A business with huge potential

Our cheese and functional ingredients business has state of the
art facilities, strong brands with market-leading positions and
opportunities within new and exciting markats. It remains well
placed to generate attractive growth in the future.

Cathedral City is the UK's 18th largest grocery
brand, bigger than all other competitor cheddar
brands combined and accounts for 54% of all
branded everyday cheese sold by UK retailers.
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PERFORMANCE CONTINUED

[ Butters, spreads & oils

€ million 2016717 2015/16
Revenue 150.7 152.6
Product group profit 25.5 29.6
Margin (%) 16.9 19.4
Share of retail Others 16% Drairy Crest
butter and spreads '~
market by value Fetailer

Qwn
Source: IR 52 weeks label
ended 25 Mdrch 2017 19%

Arla 34%

Unilever 17%

Dairy Crest manufactures a number of leading butters,
spreads and oil brands in the UK. The key brands are
Country Life (butter), Clover {spread) and Frylight {spray oil).
Our secondary spreads brands are Vitalite, Utterly Butterly
and Willow. All the butter and spreads brands are produced
at a single facility in Kirkby, Merseyside, whilst Frylight is
manufactured at our facility in Erith, Kent.

Butters and spreads market remains challenging

The butters and spreads market has continued to see overall
volume decling, but price inflation during the second half resulted
in the market reporting some value growth. Within the category
the long-term trend of butter gaining volume share was maintained
and butter volumes were up 2% whilst spreads volumes declined
7%. Hawever, during the second half of the year there was
considerable inflation in butter prices and this has widened the
price gap between the two categories. Partly as a result butter
volumes fell by 5% in the final quarter and spreads volume decline
slowed to 5%.

Dairy Crest gaining share
Clover is well placed to meet consumer needs within the changing
market. Over the past eighteen months we have re-launched
and advertised Claver with 'ng artificial ingredients’, positioning
it as a dairy spread made with buttermilk. The improved Clover
original recipe was introduced in late 2015 and Clover lighter
is due to be re-formulated this year. This pasitioning has been
further reinforced by the launch of new packaging in late 2016 and
an extensive marketing campalgn, which has resulted in Clover
gaining anather 1.1 percentage points of share during the year. In
recognition of our wark in launching the improved recipe, Claver
won the spreads category ‘Product of the Year 2017" award in the
world's largest consumer survey award for product innovation.
Our other spreads brands have all performed well and
together Dairy Crast spreads have increased share by 2.2
percentage points. Total spreads volumes are up 4% and Clover
volumes are up 1% in a market that has declined by 7%, a
fantastic performance. During the year we also launched a new
Vitalite coconut variant, which contributes to our share of the
growing ‘dairy freg’ market.
Country Life has performed well against a backdrop of high
input cost inflation. The British themed packaging introduced
{ast year resonates well with consurners and our new spreadable
formulation has helped that preduct grow volumes by 6% to
become the fastest growing major spreadable brand, Managing this
inflation and volatility resulted in us reducing the amount of block
butter promotions during the second half and has led to some
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share loss in this sector. Overall, Country Life volumes were flat and
the higher input prices for butter have had a negative impact on
margins for the business.

Frylight: another strong year
Frylight has been a phenomenal success ever since Dairy Crest
acquired the brand in 2011 and last year was no different. During
the vear it was successfully re-launched with a new packaging
design, which emphasises Frylight's 'no artificial ingredients’
credentials. This was supported by a new TV advertising
campaign across the important fourth quarter period, which
ancompasses both the start of the New Year and Pancake
Day. Sales during the campaign and around Pancake Day both
increased by ovar 25%. Innovation also continued, with a new
avocado variant launched garly in 2017, This follows on from the
launch of a coconut variant last year, which has already become
our third biggest seliing line. All this has resulted in volume growth
of 23% and a penetration rate of 23% of UK households.

This year has already seen the launch of the new cap
design and the business is also exploring expert opportunities
in Europe to support its medium-term growth ambitions, We are
also delighted that Frylight has been singled out by the industry,
winning the Institute of Grocery and Distribution (IGD) 'Health ang
Wellness' product award in Qgtober 2016.

Simplified supply chain, generating cash

All our butters and spreads manufacturing has been consolidated
on one site at Kirkby for the last two years. We are well positioned
to continue driving efficiency and to further lower manufacturing
costs. The simplified supply chain, combined with improvements
in brand periorrmance, will enable continued invastment into this
high-margin category and underpin on-going cash generatian.

All our butter and spreads manufacturing
has been consolidated on one site at
Kirkby for the last two years. We are well
positioned to continue driving efficiency
and to lower manufacturing costs further.



CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

A successful approach to corporate responsibility is an essential part of
securing a sustainable business which thrives both today and in the future.
Dairy Crest’s Corperate Responsibility (‘CR’) strategy is designed to cover
our business activities and is reflected in our new four strategic pillars of
Climate, Colleagues, Consumers and Community.

1

2017 marks the 10th anniversary of our CR strategy. During this
time, we have enjoyed a number of CR achievemeanis and awards,
this strong heritage sets us up well for future success.

In the last year we have reviewed our objectives, and how
we will approach current and ermerging issues. An important
change following this review was the simplification of cur pledges
and the intreduction of four strategic pillars (Climate, Colleagues,
Consumers and Community) which are champicned by our
Executive Committee; this means that the spirit and intent of the
pledges within the pillars are more alive than ever before.

In this section we report on what we have achieved in the first
year of our five year CR programme. We will describe areas of
focus in our Climate oilfar inciuding our engagemsnt with our

farmers and our pregress on CO, and waste reduction.

For our Caolleagues pillar we have improved our industry
leading health and safety performance and the weli-baing
programmes for our empioyees.

Qur commitments tc health and nutrition contained in our
Consurmers plllar are supported by growth in Frifight volumes and
additional Cathedral City Lighter product formats. Qur extensive
research programmes continug, including the exciting area of
animal health benefits from functional ingredients such as GOS.

Finally, in delivering our Community pillar, we continue to
suppert our local communities. We have been very busy working
with The Princes Countryside Fund. Macmillan Cancer Support and
Crigis at Christmas, and pramated employse volunteering days.

Greenhouse Gas Report 2016/17

In line with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic
Report and Direciors’ Raport) Regulations 2013 our greenhouse gas
'GHG") emissions are quantified below,

2016/47 2015/16 o
Scope 1 1,438 78050 tonnes COLe
Scope 2 27,581 57,256  tonnes COe
Total scope 1&2 39,019 136306 tonnes GOe
Intensity ratio 64.40  81.37 ;?r SJ?;EEDE';” torme
Emissions from Biomass fuel 26,02 22,033  tonnes COe

We foliow the GHG Protocal Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard to calculate emissions from the combustion of fuels (Scops
1} and from purchased electricity, heat, steam and cooling (Scope 2).
Carbon emission factors are used to convert each activity that gives
rise to GHG emissions to a carbon dioxide equivalent ( CO,e') using the
latest UK Government conversion factors for company reporting.

The GHG data reported below mdates to ermissions from activities in
the operational control of Dairy Crest Greup pic fom 1 April 2015 to
31 March 2017 consistent with our financial reporting period.

Scope 1 emissions data includes material sources ot fossil fuels used
at manufacturing sites and depots and road fuel used in the transport
and distribution of intermediate and finished products. Boad fuel used
in company cars operated by Dairy Crest for business travel is also
included. Minor losses of refrigerants used in cogling eguipment have
been converted to tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent and are included
for completensss.

Scope 2 emissiong data includss purchased eleciricity used in
manufacturing, distribution and in offices.

We employ a ‘per tonne of throughput' denominator as the most
effective measure of relative performance. This measure is congistent
with our internal target setting process and how we communicate
relative performance.

Consistent with the GHG Protocol emissions from biclogically
sequestered carbon are reporied separately from the ather Scopes.
These comprise emissions from combustion of biomass fuel at our
creamery in Davidstow that significantly reduce Scope 1 emissions
from fossll fuels. Emissions from combustion of biomass fuels are riot
included in the emissions intensity ratic reported above.

Scope 1 and 2 emissions reduced in 2016/17 by 71% compared to the
previous year driven by the changes summarised in the chart below.

136.3
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Divestment and outsourcing:

— full year effect of the divestment of the Dairies business on 26
December 2015 reducing Scope 1 emissions (fuels used n processing
sites and depots and road fuel used far distribution and business travel)
and Scope 2 emissions (electricity used in manufacturing sites and
depcts) compared to April ~ Decermber in this reporting year

- outsourcing of primary transport for distribution of finished products
to Fowler Welch on the 5 June 2016 reducing Scope 1 emissions from
HGV road fuel and refrigeration for the remainder of this reporting vear

Operational changes at manufacturing sites:
- the biomass beilers at Davidstow returned to high levels of utiisation
experienced in previous years providing around 80% of the heat ta the
creamery and reducing Scope 1 emissions from the use of fossil fuels,
In 2016/17 on-site renewable energy represented 41% of total energy
(63% of fuel) used by manufacturing sites,
- the carbon intensity of electricity imported from the public grid
reduced by 11% comparad to the previous year {based on annual
emissions factors issued by DEFRA) reducing Scope 2 emissions
~ changes to portfolio of production at Davidstow with the
introduction of new functional ingredients at Davidstow and
associated site infrastructure, such as new and enhanced assets for
the treatment of process waste water which increased relative energy
use and hence both Scope 1 and 2 emissions

The overall sffect of the changes described above on the emissions
intensity metric was a year-on-year decrease of 21%.
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Climate

As a leading dairy manufacturer we are
determined to play an active role in mitigating
and adapting to the effects of climate change,
reducing waste and looking after our natural
resources.

Targeting 50%

of water from
recycled sources

Working with The
Grocer's ‘Waste Not
Want Not’ campaign

Responsible stewardship on farm

Qur well-established farmer support package consists of cur
Farm Business Centre, field based Farm Business Managers, our
farmers” portal plus independent advisory and audit services.
We work closely with Dairy Crest Direct (‘'DCD"), our farmer
representative body, and actively supported their successful
application to become the first Dairy Producer Organisation in
the UK.

Our Davidstow Farm Standards have proven an effective
way to reflect the shared pricrities of Dairy Crest and our direct
supplying dairy farmers, These standards are designed to reflect
best practice on farm and ensure the highest guality of milk
supply. Each of our direct supplying farms achieves a ranking
under the standards. Our pledge is to assist and support farmers
in achieving the highest ranking which is currently achieved by
around 70% of our supplying farms.

We are engaging with other stakeholders and supply chain
partners in the South West to assess further cost effective best
practice standards for example in relation to environmental
controls that support local healthy eco-systems.

Low carbon manufacturing

We are committed to reducing greenhouse gas emissions
associated with our direct operations by reducing energy demand
and switching to less carbon intensive forms of energy.

QOur site teams continue to make good progress in improving
the efficiency of generation and use of energy with relative energy
use reducing acrass Kirkby, Frome and Nuneaton by 4%. A wide
range of projects included investment in low energy lighting, heat
recovery from air compressors and efficient refrigeration systems.

At Davidstow the introduction of new processes 1o
manufacture functional ingredients and the new and enhanced
assets for the treatment of process waste water has increased
relative energy demand. Our investment in detailed metering of
demand patterns will help us further to optimise energy use for
these new processes.

Around 80% of the heat required by the Davidstow creamery
was provided from biomass, significantly reducing energy from

40% of

total energy use
comes from
biomass boilers

80% waste

segregation target
exceeded

fassil fuels. Energy from the hiomass bailers represented more
than 40% of total energy use, mesting our plecge for more than
one third of total energy to come from on-site renewables.

The combined effect for our manufacturing sites was a lower
than forecast increase in relative energy use of 2% with an associated
reduction in greenhouse gas emissions of 13%. This represents
significant progress towards our pledge to reduce emissions from
our direct operations by 20% over the next five years.

Water stewardship
Securing sufficient, high quality freshwater is essential to
our busingss strategy. We have invested in advanced water
treatment technologies to enable the re-use of process waste
water at Davidstow reducing long-term reliance on freshwater
imports. Towards the end of the year, higher recovery rates meant
that around 45% of water used came from recycled sources.
Maintaining high water recovery rates at Davidstow is key to the
achievement of our pledge for more than 50% of the water required
tc manufacture our products to come from recycled sources.
Reducing demand for water also remains important to us and
we continue to prioritise efficiency projects such as enhanced
cleaning of process eguipment and plant areas.

Reducing waste

In 2016/17 we again achieved our short-term objective to send
zerc waste to landfil and acknowledged that this was an early,
albeit important, stage of achieving our pledge to increase the
value generated from unavoidable non-edible wastes. Our focus
remains on reducing nen-edible wastes at source, converting
wastes into by-products and moving materials up the waste
hierarchy.

We track the proportion of operational wastes segregated on
site and were pleased to exceed our target of 80% segregation by
the year end.

We have worked with WRAP as part of the Courtauld 2025
agreement and The Grocer's Waste Not Want Not campaign to
reduce household food waste,
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY CONTINUED

| Colleagues

At Dairy Crest we continually work to improve
the excellent safety record we have achieved,
we engage with our people and fully utilise their
expertise. We are developing our approach to
Diversity and Inclusion to strengthen our skill
base, and we continue to deveiop our people
to drive our business forward.

Safety is always first

We have seen over the years that a commitment to health and
safety is key to building a great businass. Our track record
during 2016/17 shows further improvernent on an already strong
performance.

At the end of March 2017, we have reduced our Lost Time
Accident Frequency Rate frorn 0.19 to 0.13 due to a 43% reduction
in the number of reportable incidents against the 2013 baseline.
Having set ourselves what appegared to be a chalienging objective
of a 50% reduction in Accident Incident Rate by 2018 versus the
2013 baseline, we have achieved 69% reduction in the last year.

Encouraging employees 1o report near misses is key to
achieving sustainable long-term change in safety behaviour.
Against our target of 130:1 ratio of near miss and behavioural
conversations versus all types of accident by 2018, we achieved a
ratio of 423:1, an improvement on last year's 1751 performance.

Ancther iImportant way of engaging our leams in safety is
through our cultural change programme, encouraging employees
to ‘Stop, Think, Assess, Review' {'STAR') and complete STAR
cards where they see safety related conditions or actions. By
discussing and addressing these issues, we have created greater
levels of dialogue, involvement and a safety first culture. To build
an this programme in 2018 we introducsed the STAR safe systam of
work ('S5oW’) conversations, where front line managers initiate a
conversation with a work colleague, based on the recognised safe
system of working. Through this discussion better and safer ways
of working have been identified, reducing our risks and injuries.

Well-being for our people

2016/17 has seen continued growth in free well-being checks for
employess with 256 membaers of our staff receiving this valuable
service that is open to all.

Our well-being days continue 1o attract high staff attendance.
Caomprised of practical health and safety advice for work and
home, these avents are run acress the business and receive very
positive feaedback from our teams,

Our pusy Occupational Health team also delivered 924
mandatory health checks thraughout the year.
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Through our retreshed Corporate Responsibility pledges, Dairy Crest employeas
have a valuntecring day each year to help support lacal causes.

Engaging employees

Creating an environment where all employees understand they nave
a key role to play in the Company’s success is crucial to achieving
the chjectives and targets we set. 2016/17 has seen a number of
people iniiatives aimed at further engaging our employees.

An empicyee roadshow, presented by members of the
Executive Committee, visited all Dairy Crast sites and offices. Over
a 6 week period, 80% of employees attended the presentation
which covered impoertant topics such as our refreshed Vision
and Values, CR pledges, our business pians and our progress o
date. The roadshows were very well received by employees with
structured feedback reporting high levels of engagemesnt.

We continue 1o develop our other employee communication
channels with a weekly news roundup, regutar business
performance updates and our staff intranet.

Feeling vaiued and part of the wider Dairy Crest team is key to
employee engagement. We support this in three ways:
= Allemployees have the opportunity to be part of a bonus or
incentive scheme which is linked to either personal, site and/or
company performance;

Dairy Crest runs share save schemes whereby employees can
invest in Dairy Crest and take a real ownership role. Two share
save schemes are currently in operation with circa 40% of staff
investing their money, up to £500 a month; and

Our Reward & Recognition scheme continues to benefit
employess who 'go the extra mile’. Bronze and Silver awards, that
attract a monetary benefit, recognise excellent behaviour in line
with our values. Silver award winners are selected by a committee
of staff ta receive one of three prastigious Gold awards. In 2016/17
462 Bronze and Silver awards were awarded.

Investing in learning

In 2018717 Dairy Crest has maintained its focus on induction
training and manufacturing compliance skills devetopment. These
now achieve consistently high levels of compliance with our
internal targets for timing of completion, respectively 99% and
98% at year end.
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GENDER PROFILE
All employees
Male 69%

Fermale 31%

Senior management
Male 76%

Our Procurement team enjoyng a volunteering day
at Brooklands Museum.

An important emphasis this year has been on management
development for all our team leaders, from first line to Director
level. The training provided focussed on the skills required to
enhance high performance from individuals and teams and included
coaching skills, feedback, objective setting and developrment
planning. This programme was attended by 150 managers from
all disciplines within the business. We are in the process of
evaluating the outcomes of this programme ang defining next
steps, however, initial feadback has been very positive and we
aim to build upon this to ensure continued improvernents in the
management and development of aur employees.

To enhance access to learning further, Dairy Crest has
launched a new Learning Management System ‘mydevelopment’
incorporating e-learning programmes on a diverse range of
business topics, including Dairy Crest's specific environmental
awareness module and ‘*how to' toal kits. This new platform allows
Dairy Crest {o drive blended and dynamic learning initiatives across
the business.

The Dairy Crest Talent Management Review is undertaken
annually and is the foundation of our talent assassment process and
succession planning. As recognised in the CR pledges, there has
been additicnal emphasis this year on identifying all business critical
roles and the succession and development plans for these. This will
continue into 2017/18 to ensure Dairy Crest is in the best position to
secure and retain the right skills for the business.

Dairy Crest continues to invest in apprenticesnip programmes
to provide a pipeline of talent into key skill areas. Cur Eden
apprenticeships develop competence in the core areas of dairy
processing, manufacturing and engineering. Dairy Crest currently
supports three technology apprentices and five enginesring
apprentices. Qur first two Eden engineering trainees graduated this
year and both went straight into shift engineer and maintenance
engineer roles within the Group.

Turnover of employees has stabilised during 2016/17 and
now sits at 15%. Although some turnaover of staff is positive in
refreshing our skill base, the current level is higher than desired and
Dairy Crest will be looking to the Employee Survey, undertaken in
Aprii 2017, to help identify any areas where we can improve on this

Our very first Eden engingering apprenticeship

frainees at their graduation ceremony. Female 24%

key metric. With regard to absence, this now sits at 2.7%, slightly
above last year’s level of 2.6% but in fine with our objective to
maintain absence below 3%.

Diversity and inclusion

Businesses are more sustainabie and perform better when they
attract and develop talent from the broadest possible base. It is
this understanding that drives our Diversity and Inclusion agenda.
We also know that peaple are at their most productive when they
can achieve an appropriate balance between work and home life.
At Dairy Crest we wish to employ and grow a diverse workforce
who feel they are treated flexibly with regard to their ways of
working according to business needs.

Employees are encouraged to reach their full potential
regardless of their age, gender, marital status (including civil
partnerships), disability, nationality, colour, ethnic arigin, sexual
orientation cr religious affiliation. Dairy Crest does not tclerate
discrimination or harassment on any of these grounds. To help us
achieve our aims cur polices include the right to apply for flexible
working hours, a sabbatical, support with taking time off to study,
and we provide maternity pay abaove the statutory minimum and
tull pay during paternity leave.

During 2016/17 we have refreshed our Diversity and Inclusion
programme, the abjective of which is enshrined in our CR pledge
to develop employment policies and working practices that
encourage a diverse and inclusive workfarce. Already we have
reviewed the Diversity training and development provided and will
look to enhance this during 2017/18. Further action will include a
review of policies and communications.

Working with trade unions

Dairy Crest has enjoyed gocd relationshios with the recognised
unions, USDAW and Unite, for many yvears. We acknowledge
the positive role trade unions can play in the development of our
business and the constructive way we have worked together.
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY CONTINUED

[ Consumers

We are committed to providing healthier, tasty
products that make it easier for consumers to
choose healthier foods and to play our part in
L helping to improve the nation’s health.

I-IGH.I. & BRIGHT future

Healthier choices

Dairy Crest has continued to invest in its portfolio of lower fat
options. Market data shows that voiumes of the lower fat variants
of cur cheese, butters and spreads brands grew by 1% from
2015/16, and now account for 13.8% of our overall branded cheese,
butters and spreads volumes, an increase from 13.2% in 2015/18.

Callectively, along with Frylight, our one calorie cooking spray,
cur lower fat variants reached a retail sales value of £84.0 million,
an increase of 3.2% over 2015/16,

Cathedral City has expanded its extensive range of lower fat
options, with the addition of two new variants — Cathedral City
Lighter shack bar and Cathedral City Lighter spreadable. This has
helped retail sales of lower fat opticns from Cathedral City to grow
to £34.1 million.

Our tower fat spreads — Clover Light, Utterly Butterly Lightly
and Country Life Lighter spreadable — have a collective retail salss
value of £20.0 million, and sales of our 'no artificial ingredients’
Clover have been strong, out-performing the spreads market,

Frylight enjoyed ancther impressive year reaching a record
retail sales value of £28.9 millian, a growth of 12%, allowing it to
became the UK's biggest oil brand. It is new bought by over a
fifth of UK households, and its ¢contribution to healthier cooking
was recognised in winning the 2016 IGD 'Health ang Welness'
proguct award.

Innovation and quality
Our dedicated Innovation Centre and partnsrship with Harper
Adams University gives us the opportunity to develop even more
healthy products. In 2016 we won ‘Most Innovative Contribution to
Businass-University Coltaboration’ at the Times Higher Education
Awards in recognition of numerous research-led projects that
Dairy Crest and Harper Adams University are engaged in together.
Qur colleagues take enormous pride in the quality of the food
we produce; this is a founding principle at the heart of our quality
agenda. Qur quality management systems are regularly raviewed
and audited by our own technical teams and third parties to
ensure they comply with industry standards.
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Demineralised Whey and GOS

Our plant at Davidstow is now producing high quality ingredients
for infant formula manufacturers and is showing high levels of
consistent quality. We produce demineralised whey, which forms
the base of infant formula, and GOS, a lactose based prebiotic
that has been shown tc help aid digestive health in infants.

In additicn, we have commenced an extensive research
programme with universities and commercial partners to illustrate
the benefits of GOS in animal and human nutrition. GOS may
improve animal health, as well as food uptake, potentially leading
to the need for lower levels of antibiotics in the animal husbandry
industry.

Sustainabie, ethical sourcing

Dairy Crest works with its suppliers to exceed best practice
around areas inctuding guality and traceability. We can trace milk
and raw materials from farms and suppliers through to finished
product.

Thanrks to our Davidstow Farm Standards, all milk supplied
to us meets the strict international standards for the production
of infant formula. In 2016 we commenced a project to review
the Davidstow farm audits with a view to further developing and
enhancing the standards in 2017.

Since 1 April 2016 all palm ol used in our spreads products
comes from RSPO cerlified sustainable sources, more than four
years ahead of our original committed date.

Reducing our packaging impact
To avoid sending waste to landfill, we are investing in new ways
of packaging our products so they are not only made with less
material and more recycled material but also that the packaging
itself is recyclable.

We are pleased to report that all of the tubs and lids used in
our spreads business are now recyclable.




Community

Our community programme supports and
enhances the communities in which we work
and live. Our three key pricrities are supporting
rural communities working with The Prince’s
Countryside Fund, supporting local
communities and empioyee volunteering.

Supporting rural communities

Dairy Crest recognises that the countryside continues to face
significant challenges across a wide range of compiex social and
economic issues.

Dairy Crest has a fong standing relationship with The Prince’s
Countryside Fund. The charity, set up by HRH The Prince of Wales
in 2010, exists to improve the prospects of family farm businesses
and the quality of rural life. The Fund's vision is of a confident,
robust and sustainable agricultural and rural community which is
appreciated for its vital contribution to the UK,

Dairy Crest donated £50,000 to the Fund in 2016/17 through
brand partnerships with Davidstow cheddar and Country Life
butter. We are also sponsors of The Prince’s Dairy Initiative,
launched in 2012, The initiative has brought the dairy sector
together to take practical acticn to support the sustainability of a
diverse British dairy industry.

Supporting local communities

Dairy Crest is committed to supporting local good causes

in the communities where we work and live that improve
health, education, youth engagement, employability skills, the
environment and the countryside.

Each Dalry Crest site is allocated a community budget.

In total, during 2016/17, we spent over £100,000 supporting over
75 local good causes.

We are proud to have supported local schocls, care homes,
hospices, scout and girl guiding groups and health charities to
name but a few.

During December 2016, we donated 318 cases of Cathedral
City cheddar, 71 casas of Country Life spreadable and 3,000
slices of Cathedral City to the 45th Crisis at Christmas. This

In 2016/17 we spent over

£100,000 supporting

over 75 local good causes

enabled the homeless charity to support approximatealy 4,000
homeless guests attending the ten Crisis Lengon centres. In total
36,000 meals were served across the eight days that the Crisis
centres were gpen.

Bairy Crest alsc donated 40kg of Cathedral City cheddar for
the Chelsea Pensioners Ceremony of the Cheeses to enjoy over
the festive season.

Dairy Crest operates a staff lottery which is open to all
Dairy Crast employees. This year staff have supported over 30
charitable causes through financial donations including Surrey
Search and Rescue, Metro Blind Sport, The Stroke Association,
MS Society, Cerebral Palsy, Lady Taverners and Macmillan Cancer
Support.

Dairy Crest also participated in the Calling London 2016 Winter
Coat Drive helping reach a target of 3,500 coats which were
distributed across London.

Employee volunteering

All Dairy Crest emplayees are encouraged to take up their
fully paid volunteering day each year. Measured as people
days equivalent compared to tctal number of employees, this
represents mare than 1,000 volunteering days per annum.

Dairy Crest staff voluntarily deliver healthy, fresh food to
vulnerable people in cur local communities through Meals On
Wheels. We atso support release time for staff to volunteer with
the Fire Service and other services.

We host visits to our sites for local schools, The Women's
Institute and Young Farmer Groups. Staff also volunteer at various
local events including providing support at days out for children
with special needs.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND ADVISERS

The Board sets strategy and
monitors pragress. Day-to-day
matters are the responsihility of
the Executive Committee, which
comprises the three Executive
Directors, the Company Secretary
& General Gounsel, the Group
Supply Chain Director and the
Group HR Director. Other senior
managers attend by invitation.
The Executive Committee normally

meets weekly.

Member

i

Dairy Crest is led by an
experienced Board of
Directors, which comprises
three Executive Directors,
one Non-executive Chairman
and three independent
MNon-executive Directors.
Together, the Executive
Directors have over 50 years’
expetience of the business.

* Audit Gommittee Member
+ Remuneration Committee

f Nomination Committee Member

¢ Corporate Responsibility
Committee Member

A Executive Committee Member

# Not a Board Member

L Board of Directors

Stephen Alexander
Chairman

Appointed as a Nan-executive Dieector in
January 2011, as Chairman in September
2014 and Chairman of the Narnination
Committes in March 2015. He is an Operating
Partner at OpCapita LLP and Chairman of

the charitable prganisation Look Ahead Care,
Support and Housing. Stephen was Chairman
of immediate Media Gompany Ltd until
January 2017 and Chairman of Rhubarb Foad
Design Ltd untii December 2076. Previousty
he was Chairman of Maltby Capital Ltd
tparent company of EMI Group), Chaimman of
Odeon Cinemas, Chief Executive of Hillsdown
Holdings Ltd and held senior positions with
Alliecd Domecq PLC and mperial Foods. He
was also Senior Independent Director at
Devro plc.

Richard Macdonald
Non-Executive Director* 1t £ ¢

Appcinted as a Non-executive Director in
November 2010, as Senior Independent
Owrector in May 2012 and as Chairman of
the Remuneration Commiitee in November
2014, prior to which he was Ghairman of the
Corporate Respaonsibility Committes. Richard
had a 30 year career with the National
Farmers Union, senving as Diractor General
for 13 yaars. He is a Non-executive Director
of Moy Park Limftad, Vice Chairman of the
National Institute of Agricultural Botany and
Chairman of Farm Africa, Richard is a Non-
axecutive Director and Deputy Chairman of
the Envirgnrment Agency.

{International) LLP

Principal Bankers
The Royal Bank of
Scotland ple

Rahobank London
Lloyds Bank plc
Santander UK pic

Advisers
Auditor Corperate Brokers
Ernst & Young LLP Shore Capital

- Group Ltd
Solicitars
Eversheds Peel Hunt LLP
Sutherland

Registered Office
Claygate House,
Littlewarth Road,
Esher, Surrey
KT10 9PN

Registered in
=ngland
No. 3162897
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Andrew Carr-Locke
Non=-Executive Director * {1

Appointed as a Non-executive Director and
Chairman of the Audit Cornmittee in August
2009. A Fellow of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants, he has previously
held senior finance positions at Courtaulds
Textiles, Diageo, Bowater Scoft and Kodak
and was Group Finance Director at George
Wimpey ple until 2007, More recently he
was Executive Chairmart of Cauntryside
Properties. He is a Non-executive Director of
Grainger plc and has previously held Non-

executive directarships at Royal Mail Holdings,

Venture Production and AWG.

Sue Farr
Non-Executive Director * + £ ¢

Appointed as a Non-executive Director

in Novernber 2011 and Chairmarn of the
Corporate Responsibility Committee in
November 2014, She is a special advisor

to Chime Communications plc, having
previously been a member of the Executive
Management team. Sue has extensive
marketing communications experience having
served as Marketing Dirsctor of the BBC

for 7 years, Director of Garporate Affairs,
Thames Television for 3 years and Director of
Corporate Communigations, Vauxhall Motors.
Sue is 8 Non-executive Director of Millennium
& Copthorne Hotels plc, Accsys Technologies
PLC and British American Tobacco pl.c. She
has previously held positions as a Trustee

of the Historic Royal Palaces and as a Non-
executive Director of Motivcom Limited. She
was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
Dolphin Capital Investors Limited in July 2016.



Mark Allen
Chief Executive ¢ A

Appointed as an Exscutive Director in 2002

and became Chief Executive in January 2007.

Mark joined Dairy Crest in August 1991,

He was formerly with Shell UK Ltd. He is a
Trustee for The Prince’s Countryside Fund
and a Non-executive Director of Howdens
Joinery Group Plc. He was appointed a Non-
executive Director of Warburtons Limited in
January 2017,

Tom Atherton
Group Finance Director 0 A

Appointed as an Executive Director in May
2013. A Chartered Accountant who has
worked for Dairy Crest since 2005, Prior to
his appointment to the Board Tom served as
Director of Financial Control. He is a member
of the Board of Dairy UK and a member of
BiTC's Finance and Risk Committee. He has
previously held senior finance positions in
Logica plc and Thorn plc.

Adam Braithwaite
Executive Director ¢ A

Appointed as an Executive Director in July
2016. Adam joired Dairy Crest in 2002 and
has held a number of senior management
nositions within the business. He was
appointed Group Commercial Director in
April 2013.

Non-board Executive Committee members

Robin Miller

Company Secretary & General
Counsel 0 A #

Appointed in April 2008. Robin is a solicitor
having worked in private practice and
in-house in both retail and international
manufacturing.

Mike Barrington
Group Supply Chain Director A #

Before joining Dairy Grast in 2011, Mike
held senior management positions with
Cadbury Schweppes and Kraft Foods,
latterly Manufacturing Director for
Cadbury in the UK & Ireland. Mike jcined
Dairy Crest as Supply Chain Director,
Dairies and was appointed to his current
role in April 2013.

Robert Willock
Group HR Director ¢ A #

Robert joined Dairy Crest 11 years ago
as MR Director, Dairies from The Maersk
Company where he was Director of
Human Resources. He was appointed to
his current role in April 2013.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Chairman's introduction l

[ As | mentioned in my Chairman's —I
statement earlier in this report,
market conditions continued to be
chalienging during the year.

Daspite thess, the Company

has continued te focus on the
on-going execution of the Group's
sirategy of generating growth

in our branaed and functional
ingredients businesses, particularly following the commencement
of manufacturs of our new demineralised whey and GOS
ingredients.

During the year the Management Board has been renamed the
Executive Committee and this Committee continues to executs its
responsibliities with the same membership and terms of reference.

{n addition, following the implementation of the Modern Slavery Act
2015, the Group has published its first Madern Slavery transparency
statement for the financial year 2015/16. The statement for financial
year 2016/17 will be published in September 2017,

The Board is committed to high standards of corporate gavernance
and supports the principles laid down in the UK Corporate
Governance Code published in September 2014 by the Financial
Reporting Council (Code™). A copy of the Code can bea found at
www.frc.org.uk. The Board considers that the Group has compfied
with all relevant provisions of the Code.

The Beard recognises its collective responsibility for the governance
of the Gompany. lts strong governance framewark is supported by a
combination of clear values, appropriate policy, and an environment
of transparency and accountability. The Board's central role is to
work alongside the executive team providing support, chalienge,
guidance and leadership. | believe that the Board is well balanced
with a broad range of skills, diversity and expesrience.

Stephen Alexander Chairman
17 May 2017

The Board

Role: The Board is responsible for the long-term success of the
Group, corporate governance, strategy, risk management and
financial performance. The Board meets regularly throughout the
year to approve the Group's strategic objectives, to lead the Group
within a framework of effective controls which enable risk to be
assessed and managed, and 1o ensure sufficient resources are
avaftable to meet the objectives sef.

Thera are a number of matters which are specifically reserved for the
Board's approval; strategy and management, structure and share
capital, corporate governance, approval of dividends, remuneration,
approval of significant transactions, capital expenditure and
contracts.

In addition, the Board is respansible for ensuring appropriate values,
ethics and behaviours for the conduct of the Gompany are agreed
and that appropriate procedures and training are in place to ensure
that these are observed throughout the Gompany.
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The work of the Board complements, enhances and supports the
work of the Executive Committee. We believe that effective
governance is realised through leadership and team wark.
Collaboraticn across all levels within the Board structure drives a
culture of continuous improvement in standards and performance
across our business.

The Board and its Committes structure is set out below.

Remuneration Nomination

Commitiee Committee
Audit CR

Committee Committee

Group
Board

Executive

Committee

Demand | HR Finance

< Legal Supply

Board Committees: The Board has established five Committees:
* Audit Committes

¢ Corporate Responsibiiity Committee

* Executive Committee

* Nomination Committee

+ Remuneration Committes

The terms of reference of these Committees ¢an be found on our
website and the reports of each Cammittee are on pages 34 o 61.

The Board delegates to the Executive Committee the execution of
the Group's strategy and the day-to-day management and
operations of the Group's business.

Board Composition: The Board consists of three Executive
Directors and four Non-executive Directors including the Chairman.
Alist of the current Directors, their roles on the Board and its
Committees and their experience Is set out on pages 28 to 29.

Further details on the roles and responsibitities of the Chalrman and
Chief Executive are in the document entitled 'Chairman/Chief
Executive Division of Responsibilities’ on the Group’s website.

Richard Macdonald is the Company’s Senior Independent Director.

Independence of Directors: The Board reviews the
independence of its Non-executive Directors as part of its annual
Board effectiveness review. The Chairman is committed to ensuring
that the Board comprises a majority of independent Non-exscutive
Directors who objectively challenge management, balanced against
the need ta ensure centinuity on the Board. The Board considers
that all the Non-executive Directors bring strong independent
oversight and continue to demonstrate independence. The Board
recognises the recommended term of appointrment for Non-
executive Directors within the Code. 1t is mindful of the need for
suitable succession, and therefore maintaing a clear framework of
the time each Non-executive Diractor has served the Company and
the skill sets that each provide.

The Chairman periodically mests individually or collectively with the
Non-executive Directors in the abisence of the Executive Directors,



Board meetings: A minimum of eight face to face meetings are
planned throughout the year to consider for example, half year and
full year anncuncements and the strategy of the Group. Other ad
hoc meetings are held as and when required. Details of the Board
and Committee meetings held during the 2016/17 year are set out in
the table below.

Attendance: The attendance of the Directors at Board and
Committee meetings during the year is shown in the table below.
The numbers in brackets show the maximum number of meetings
Directors could have attended durng 2016/17.

Board and main Committee meetings
The Directors named in the table below held office during the year, The number of Board and Committee meetings attended by Directors
in the year is shown in the table below. The numbers in brackets show the maximum number of meetings Directors could have attended
during 2016/17.

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination Corporate Executive

Responsibility Committee

Mr M Allen 8(8) - - - 3{3) 32(42}
Mr T Atherton 81{8) - - - 3(3) 35(42)
Mr A Braithwaite 8(8} - - - 2(2) 25(28)
Mr S Alexander a8} 5(5) 6(6) 2(2) - -
Mr A Carr-Locke 8(8) 5(5) 6(6) 2(2) 3(3) -
Ms S Farr 8(8) 5(5) 6(6) 1{2) 3(3) -
Mr R Macdonald 8(8) 5(5) 6(6) 2(2) 3(3) -

Board effectiveness review: Each year the performance of the
Beard and its Committees is reviewed. The last externally facilitated
review was carried out during the 2015/16 financial year with the
assistance of Russell Reynolds Associates. During the year, the
Chairman oversaw the implementation of various recommendations
arising from the last review. This year the Board and its Committees
carried out an effectivenass review without external assistance. The
use of questionnaires based on the framewaork provided by Russell
Reyrolds Associates last year ensured year-on-year consistency
and enabled progress against the previous year 1o be tracked and
assessed. They were completed by Directors in March 2017 and the
cutput from the questionnaires was used to inform a review
discussion at the Board’s meeting in April 2017. That discussion
included an evaluation of the Chairman of the Beard's performance,
without the Chairman present, which was led by the Senior
Independent Director.

Evaluation guestions for the Board were grouped intc four key areas;
strategy, structure & process, pecpie & compasition, and
stakeholders. Those four key areas were sub-divided into more
specific areas of focus including, amongst other matters, the
performance of the Chairman of the Board, the performance of the
Chairmen of the Committesas and the performance of Directors
individually. Directors ware aiso asked to comment on progress
rmade against specific developrnent opportunities identified for the
Board in the 2015/16 effectiveness review, Committee
questionnaires, which were also based on the framework used the
prior year to allow consistency and for progress to be tracked, were
complsted in March 2017. Each of the Committees reviewed the
output of the guestionnaires alongside their terms of reference at
their meetings in May 2017, Committee guestionnaires focussed on,
amongst other matters; the guality of leadership, the quality of
debate, performance against and sultability of Committee terms of
reference, and the guality of Committee reperting.

The Board effectiveness review concluded that:

* All Directors perform well and alf continue to make valuable

contributions to the work of the Board

Further enhancements to the skills and experience represented

amongst the Directors in the area of FMCG marketing and/or

international ingredients businesses would be beneficial — more

detalt of the continued work of the Nomination Committee in that

regard can be found on pages 38 to 39 of this Annual Report

» The Board, initizlly through the work of the Nomination Committee,
needed to ensure continued focus on the reguirement in the near
future 10 ensure appropriate refreshment of Non-executive Director
appointments

The effectivenass reviews of the Committees concluded that the

Committees continue to perform well and to fulfil their briefs against

their terms of reference. The review process identified, amongst

other matters, and in particular:

* The need for greater rigour in the reporting of all Committees o
the Board

¢ That the importance of the Corporate Responsibility Cormmittee
needed further emphasis so that it is demenstrably given as much
prominence and focus as the longer standing Audit, Nomination
and Remuneration Committees. To that end it was decided that
progress by the Group against the four pillars of the CR strategy
should be added to the Executive Committee’s work programme
for quarterly review (in addition to the existing regular reviews of
health & safety and technical, guality & environmental
performance). Doing so will ensure continuous rigorous
operational focus on all of the pillars of the CR strategy. In addition,
on days when the Board has Committee meetings, the Gorporate
Responsibility Committee meeting shall be scheduled as the first
of the Committee meetings to ensure that it receives appropriate
focus and that sufficient time is devoted to it, equivalent to that of
the more established Committees.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

Director induction and training: All new Directors undergo a
comprehensive induction programme on appointment. in addition to
equipping Directors with sufficiently detailed knowiedge of the
operations of the Group’s business 1o enable themn effectively to
carry out their duties, the induction programme is tailored to their
experience, background and particular arsas of focus. On-going
training is provided for the Board by way of site visits, presentations
and circulation of updates on, amongst other things, corporate
governance, environmental, regulatory developments and investor
relations matters,

On appointment Adam Braithwaite received ona 1o one training on
directors’ duties and responsibilities from the Group's exteral
solicitors, Eversheds Sutherland (international) LLP.

During the year the Market Abuse Regulation which came into effect
in July 2016 was a particular point of focus and the Board was fully
briefed on the updated inside information and share dealing policles
and procedures arising from the new regulations.

Canflicts of interest: The Company's Articles of Association
(‘Articles’) allow the Directors, where appropriate, to authorise
conflicts or possible conflicts of interest between Directors and the
Campany. In addition, Non-executive Diractors’ letters of
appointment require them to obtain the prior approval of the Board
to appointments external to the Company where those
appointments might affect the time they are able to devots to their
role. When considering conflicts or potential conflicts of interest, the
confiicted or potentially conflicted Directar is excluded from
participation in the Board's consideration of the conflict or potential
conflict situation.

Procedures are in place for Directors to disclose conflicts or potential
conflicts of interest, As at April 2017 the Directors all confirmed that
they had no presgnt or anticipated conflicts of interest, No Director
had a material interest in any significant contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

Appointment and re-election of Directors: The Articles provide
that the Directors or the members, by ordinary resolution, may
appoint a Director to fill a vacancy cr as an additional director. The
Articles require all Dirgctors to be re-elected annually. All Directors
will stand for re-election at the CGompany's 2017 Annual General
Mesting (AGM’} except for Adam Braithwaite, who consistent with
the Articles, will stand for election having been appointed since the
last AGM. Having regard to tha roles performed by each of the
Diractors, the individuai input and contribution they make and their
individual expertise and experience, the Board is satisfied that each
Director's performance justifies nomination for election or re-election
by shareholders.

Service agreements and letters of appointment: Details of the
Exacdtive Directors’ service agreements and the Chairman and
Non-executive Directors’ letters of appointrnent are published on the
Company’s website and appear in tha Directors’ Remuneration
report on page 47, These documents are available for inspection at
the registered office of the Company during normal business haurs
or at the AGM.

Independent advice: The Board has approved a procedure for
Directors to take independent professional advice at the Company's
expense if necessary. No such advice was sought by any Directar
during the year. In addition, the Directors have direct access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary.

Dairy Crest Annual Repart 2017

Shareholder engagement: The Company recognises its
responsibility for ensuring that a satisfactory dialogue takes place
with shareholders. This contirived engagement is highly beneficial to
alt parties as i helps to build a greater understanding of our
investors' views, opinions and concerns. The Chief Executive and
Graup Finance Director have primary respoinsibitity for investar
relations.

Thraughout the year the Board has continued to maintain an active
programme of engagement with investors with reguiar meetings held
with key institutionat shareholders to discuss strateqy, financial
perfarmance and fnvestment activities. This year the Chief Executive
and Group Finance Director met with over 90 investors in eleven
major cities in the UK, Europe, North America and Canada.

Analysts and investors are invited 1o our capital markets day each
year and this year it was held at our Davidstow creamery. It focussed
on the dairy market, the Company’s strategy and performance and
included a tour of the new demineralised whey and GOS
manufacturing facifities. The event was attended by the Chief
Exgcutive, Group Finance Director, Group Commergial Dirgctor and
other senior management. In addition there wers further sharenolder
visits to both Davidstow and our Nuneaton site.

Prasentation slides are made available in the investors section of the
Company's website along with audio recordings, annual and interim
reports, interim management statements, trading updates and
company announcements,

All tha Non-executive Directors, and, in particular, the Chairman ang
Senior Independent Director, are available to meet with
shareholders. Feedback from meetings with shareholders is
provided 1o the Beard to ensure that all Directors have a balanced
understanding of the issues and concerns of sharsholders. The
Board receives feedback from the Chief Executive and the Group
Finance Director on their meetings with shareholders, periodic
reports on investor relations and independent feedback from the
Company’s brokers on the views of major sharenolders.

Risk management and internal control

The Board determines the nature and extent of the significant risks it
is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. It has overall
responsibility for monitaring the Group’s risk management and
internat controf systems and the effectiveness of those systems. it is
assisted in that task by the Audit Committee and the Group Internal
Audit function. There is an on-going process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the principal risks facing the Group. The
Board has delegated responsibility for management of day-to-day
operational risks to the Executive Committee. The Audit Committee
conducts reviews of the internal controf systems and the Board
reviews them annually. The principal risks and uncertainties identified
by the Group are set out on pages 16 to 17 along with the steps
whilch are taken to mitigate and manage them. The Board has
satisfied itself that its systems accord with the FRC's Guidance on
Risk Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and
Business Reparting and that satisfactory internal control procedures
and systems have been in place throughout the year and up to and
including the date of this Repart in campliance with the requirements
of the Code.

A rolling audit programme conducted by Group Internal Audit across
the Group forms a key facet! of the Group's systems of intermal
control, The Head of Group Internal Audit reports independently to
the Chairman of the Audit Commitiee on assurance matters. Under
its terms of reference, the Audit Committes, amongst other matters,
aporoves the appointment or dismissal of the Head of Group Internal



Audit and the Audit Committee Chairman approves the
remuneration of the Head of Group Internal Audit. It is nct possible to
eliminate risk entirely. Accordingly, although the Group's systems are
designed tc manage risks they cannct provide absclute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. They provide reasonable
assurance that potential issues can be identified promptly and
remedied appropriately. The key componerts of the risk
management and internal control systems include:

* The adoption and communication of clearly documented values,

Fair balanced and understandable: Provision C.1 of the Code

requires the Directors to present a fair, balanced and understandable

assessment of the Company's position and prospects, When the
provision was first introduced to the Code, the Audit Cecmmittee
adopted a detailed process to enable the Board to report against
this principle of the Code. The resultant more structured approach
(see table below) to the preparation of the Report and Accounts has
bheen applied in the production of this Report and Accounts which
the Board formally signed off at its meeting in May 2017.

policies. procedures and processes, including, amongst others,
the Group’s Business Conduct Policy

Reservation t¢ the Beard of control of, amongst other matters, all
significant strategic, financial and crganisaticnal risks

A management structure which includes clear lines of
responsitility and documented delegations of authonty with
appropriate policies, levels and rules for, amongst other matters,
incurring capital expenditura or divesting of the Group’s assets
The operation of comprehensive financial and strategic planning,
forecasting and review processes

Exercise of oversight by the Audit Committee, with input from the
Head of Group Internal Audit, over the Group's control processes
designed to ensure the integrity of internal and external financial
reporting

The preparation of monthly management accounts packs for the
business, including KPI dashbcargs for each constituent part cf
the Group’s business, trading results, balance sheet and cash flow
information with comparison against prior year and budget, all of
which are reviewed by the Executive Committee and the Board
Monthly scrutiny of performance against budget (including
analysis of key trends, variances and key risks and plans for
mitigation as well as the continued appropriateness of those risks)
in monthly meetings referred to as Accounts Reviews where each
key constituent part of the Group and key departments report
performance year-to-date and forecast against budget to a panel
comprising the Executive Committee and cther senior managers
Farmal documented financial controls and procedures including
specific procedures for treasury transactions and the approval of
significant contracts

Quarterly completion by each key constituent part of the Group of
a self-assessment controls questionnaire that requires the
approval of management

Preparation and refreshment of risk registers which are reviewed
by senior management, the Executive Committee and the Board
with the assignment of individual responsibility for the cwnership
and mitigation of significant risks to members of the Executive
Committee and independent assurance over the appreopriate
implementation and operation of mitigating activities provided by
Group Internal Audit

Review by the Audit Committee of the Group’s risk register
processes

Review and approval of the audit plan for the Group Internal Audit
function together with progress against and revision of the plan as
appropriate, throughout the year

Receipt by the Audit Committee and the Executive Committee of
all Group Internal Audit reports detalling audit issues noted,
corractive action plans and pregress against those plans

The operaticn af an integrated business pianning process with
formal procedures for highlighting on a monthly cycle financial
performance and risks to budgetary delivery together with
associated opportunities tc counteract or mitigate those risks to
performance

e.g. busingss
model, strategy,
corporate
governance
sections.

Project Manager
{PM) considers
whether content
collated is itself and
collectively fair
batanced and
understandable
{'FBU"). review and
amend.

Identify material
events/
performance
1s5ues that will
need to be
reportad.

related content,
e.g. remuneration
report.

Consider new
regulations and
cansistency with
key messages and
KFPls.

PM considers
whether content
collated s itself and
collectively FBU:
review and ameand.

nput,

Appropnate review
of full content, for
consistency,
completeness and
messaging: review
and amend.

'S gn-off’ by
section owners,

Bring together all
section ownars to
agree that whole
Annual Report and
Accounts "ARA) is
FBU.

Consider formal
sign off from
section owners to
the Board.

January/February/March April May
Initial content Agree key Review and Formal sign off
roduction me: e: ign off
P seages sig Cons:der level of
Prepare content Start completing Confirmation from assuranse
not dependent on and collating contributors as to obtamed over
year end results, performance completeness of non-financial

information n the
ARA.

Wrere applicable
Audt Committee o
formally report to
tne Board on how it
has satsfied itaelf
trat ARA s FBU.

Board to minute
consiceratior of
FBU with Board
paper showing the
process and
results,

The Board's assessment of the fair, balanced and understandable
nature of the Annual Repert and Accounts is further assisted by,
amoengst other matters, the following:
- The Annual Report and Accounts is drafted by senicr
management with overall coordination by the Company Secretary
& General Counsel.
— An internal validation process is undertaken by Group Internal

Audit to ensure factuai accuracy.

- Comprehensive reviews of the draft Annual Report and Accounts
are undertaken by Executive Committee members and in relation
to certain sections by the Company’s external lawyers, the
external auditor and other advisers.

- The drafts of each relevant section are reviewed as they are
prepared through an iterative drafting process by the Chairmen of
appropriate Committees of the Board and the final draft is
reviewed by those Committees prior to consideration by the
Board.

At its May 2017 meeting, the Board reviewed and was satisfied that
the Annual Report and Accounts for financial year 2016/17, taken as
a wholg, is fair, balanced and understandable and the Board
believas that the information contained therein provides the
information necessary for sharehclders to assess the Company's
and Group'’s performance, position, business madei and strategy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

Audit Committee report

As Chairman of the Audit
Committee, | am pleased to present
the Audit Committee’s regort for the
year ended 31 March 2017.

During the year, the Committee has

continued to play a key role within

the Group's governance framework

1o support the Board in matters

relating to internal control, risk
management and financial reporting.

Over the following pages we provide insight into the workings

of the Cornmittes and its acthvities during the year. The report
provides an averview of the significant issues the Committee

has assessed and the Committee’s opinion on the 2017 Annual
Report and Accounts as a whale, including how it has assessed
the narrative reporting in the front of the report to accurately report
the financial statements in the back.

The Committee members as Diractors of the Company have an in
depth understanding and ownership of the Company's strategy.
They receive regular updates on strategic progress together with
insight concerning day-to-day performance through the receipt of
the Executive Committee meeting minutes and monthly
management accounts. This enables the Committee 1o determine
areas of facus in addition to its regular work programime. During the
year we paic particular attention to controls following the major
recrganisation arising from the disposal of the Dairies business and
the large scale investrment prograrmme at Davidstow.

Of specific importance this year has been the oversight of a formal
tender process for the Group's statutory auditor contract, following
the ratirerment by rotation of the Group's current auditor, Ermst &
Yaung {EY"). Following the audit tender and the recommendations of
the Audit Committee, the Board has appointed Deloitte LLP
(‘Deloitte’} as its external auditor for the year commencing 1 April
2017, The appointment will be sublject to shareholder approval at the
2017 AGM.

Looking forward to the next 12 months, the Gommittee will continue
to focus on the audit, assurance, and risks processes within the
business, as well as monitoring changes in EU and UK regulation,
including the impact of Brexit. We will also implernent a more formal
appraisal process of the quality of our external audit.

1t would like to thank the other members of the Cemmittee and Dairy
Crest’s Internal Audit and Finance teams for their on-going support. |
would particularly like to record my thanks to EY for their contripution
to the Committee and the Company over many years.

Andrew Carr-Locke Chairman of the Audit Committee
17 May 2017
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Surnmary of the more significant risks and financial
reporting issues

The Committee is responsibie for reviewing the effectiveness of the
Group's framewark for nsk management and financial contiols, and
ensuring that the Group’s procedures are updated as and when
reguired. On behalf of the Board, the Committee has carried out a
robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Company. The
Committee hag discussed with management the key estimations
and judgements applied to the Group's financiat staterments and the
impact of significant accounting matters arising during the year. The
main items discussed were:

1. Revenue recoghition

The Group’s accounting policy for promotional accruals provides
that the Grroup acsrues for agreed pramational funding, which is
calculated based on a number of estimates and judgements relating
to prometions. The Committee has reviewed the levels of
promotional accruals and considered the results of the interim
review and the audit conducted by EY which assessed the dasign of
controls around this area and tested samples to underlying
documentation. The Committee was satisfied with the judgemenis
made by managament in respect of the accounting policy for
promational accruals and that the revenue reported for the year had
been appropriately recognised.

2. Exceptional iterns

The Group's accounting policy on exceptional iterns provides that
iterns of a material, one-cff hature are classified ag exceptional. The
Committee considered the nature and levels of exceptional items
associated with beth the cantinuing and discontinued operations
together with the results of the interim review and the audit
cenducted by EY. The Committee was satisfied that exceptional
items had been appropriately ¢lassified and disclosed, treated
consistently and that discussions with management were
transparent.

3. Goodwill

The geodwiil held by the Group is reviewed for impairment on an
annual basis. This exercise requires management to make an
astimate of future cash flows. The Committee has considerad the
impairment review completed by management and the findings of
the external auditor; it is satisfied that the assumptions made in
concluding that no impairment has been required are appropriate.

4, Retirement benefit abligations

The valuation of the Group's retirement benefit obligations is made at
each reporting date in accordance with international financiat
reporting standards. The valuation is subject to a number of
assumptions and estimates and the Committee is satisfied that
those made at 31 March 2017 are appropriate,

5. Other income - property

The Group recognises the profit on disposal of ¢lesed depots as
‘Cther Income — Property’. The Comimittee has considered this
treatment; both the Commitiee and the external auditar are satisfled
that it is appropriate.

6. Non-current assets held for sale

The Group has classified some closed properties as non-current
assets held for sale on the basis that they meet the criterla under
international financial reporting standards. The Committee is
satisfied that the assumptions made around the timing of the
disposals are appropriate.



7. Dilapidations liability

A contingent fability has been disclosed in respect of a potential
dilapidation liability relating to Chadwell Heath, a manufacturing site
disposed of with the Dairies business. The Committee has
considered the Group's position and together with the external
auditor is satisfied that the disclosure as & contingent liability is
appropriate.

8. Litigation liability

There are a number of contractual disputes in relation to the
demineralised whey and GOS capital project at Davidstow. Both
claims made by, and against, the Group remain outstanding at 31
March 2017, The Committee has considered the Group's position
and both the Committee and the external auditor are satisfied that
the disclosure as a contingent liability is appropriate.

9. Operating segments

Management has judged that the Group operates as cne segment
under Internatlonal financial reperting standards. This judgement has
remained unchanged from the prior year and the Committee is
satisfied this is appropriate and supports the voluntary disclosure
provided in Note 1 to the Accounts.

10. Deferred tax

The Committee has considered the recoverability of tax losses that
have arisen from various unprofitable operations and raticnalisation
initiatives of the Group. The Committee discussed with bath
management and the external auditor the key judgements which
had been made and was satisfied that the judgements were
reascnable and that, accordingly, the deferred tax asset recognised
in the accounts is appropriate.

11. Fair balanced and understandable

The Committee has considered whether the 2017 Report and
Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess
the Group’s position, performance, business model and strategy.
The Committee was satisfied with the process which had been
followed for the preparation of the 2017 Report and Accounts: it has
reviawed and provided feedback on the content of the draft Report
for consideration by the Board and the Report was amended to
incorporate this feedback.

Following this review, the Committee was of the opinion that the
2017 Report and Accounts is representative of the year and
presents a fair, balanced and understandabile overview, providing
the necessary information for shareholders.

12. Going concern

The Committee reviewed management’s assessment of the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern in line with the guidance
published by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC’). The
assessment included a review of the principal risks facing the Group,
their financial impact, how they were being managed, together with
a discussion as to the appropriate period for assessment. The
Group's viability statement is included in the Directors’ report on
page 62.

13. Effectiveness of Internal Audit

The Committee engaged a third party to conduct a review of the
effectiveness of the Group's Internal Audit function. Gverall the
Internal Audit function substantially meets key stakeholders’
expectations and provides a gocd source of assurance for the
Committee. The Committee supported the recommendations made
and has worked with the Head of Internal Audit to implement tham.

Membership: The Committee is composed entirely of independent
Non-executive Directors. The current members and details of their
attendance at meetings are set out on page 31. The Committee
members have between them a wide range of business and financial
experience appropriate to the sector in which the Company
operates. The Board considers that Andrew Carr-Locke has recent
and relevant financial experience for the purposes of the Coce.

Invitations to attend meetings: A standing invitation is made to
the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive, the Group Finance
Director and the Group Commercial Director to attend the
Committee's meetings. The Group Financial Controller, Head of
Intarnal Audit and representatives of the external auditor attend all
meetings. In addition, the Committee holds private meetings with the
Head cf Internal Audit and with the externat auditor.

Role: The Committee oversees and reviews the Group’s financial
reporting processes, the consistency of the Group’s accounting
policies, the effectiveness of the Group's accounting and business
risk systemns and the Group’s Internal Audit function, the external
audit process and relationship with the external auditor, and the
Group's process for monitoring compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

Terms of reference: The Committee’s terms of reference, which
are reviewed annually by the Commitiee, take intc account relevant
legislation and reccmmended good practice. The terms of reference
were reviewed in March 2017 and can be found on the Group’s
website.
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Meetings: The Cormmities has a regular work programme of
activity agreed between the Chairman of the Committes, the
Group's management and the external auditor. The Committee
undertakes additional work in response to the evolving audit
landscape. A summary of some of the key matters considered at
each meeting during the year are set out below:

Maeeting Key matters considered
12 May + External auditor - EY's 2015/16 year erd final report
2016
s Annual Report and Accounts for the year ending 31 March
20186 {inchuding fair balanced and understandabla review)
s External audit - re-appointmen: of EY as external auditor
and external control effectiveness
s Going concam review
* Group Internal Audit's report on financal and operational
contrals audits, whistleblowing notifications and work plan
tor 2016/17
12 September |« Review of fnancial controls including faitures
2016

= EY's audit planning report

* Group itemal Audit's report on financial ang operational
sontrols audits and whistieblowing notifications

= External audit tender process update

.

FRC audit quality review

= Committee training on forthcoming technical changes

7 Novembher * Draft nterm financial statements

2018

* Fnancial controlg update

= External audit - EY's interim review report

+ External audit tender process update

* Group IT security update

* Review of the effectiveness of the intemal Audit function
2 Degember * Recormmendation of appomtment of new axternal audit firm
2016
13 March e Group Internal Audt’s report on financial and cperational
2017 controls audits, whistleblowing natifications and budget for

201718

* Review of Group Internal Audit's audit universe to ensure
afignment 1o the Groug's risk management frarmework

» External audit — EY's undate to planning report

« Transition plan for new external auditar

» Group [T security update

= Comrmittee’s tanms of reference and 201718 wark
programme

= Financial controls update

+ [mpact of (FRS 15: Revenue from cortracts with customers

* Private meeting with Head of Internal Audit

= Private meeting with extarnal auditer, EY
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External Auditor:

The Committee considers that the relationship with tha current
auditor is working well and is satisfied with the effectiveness. As
reported in the 2016 Annual Report, the Committee concluded that
a tender for the external audit contract should take place during
2016 tc enaple the appointment of a new externat auditer for the
start of the 2017/18 financial year. EY has been the Company’s and
Group's external auditor since 1996 and the external audit
appointment has not been tendered competitively since EY’s
appointmant. Accordingly EY is retiring by rotation and was not
invited to tender.

External auditar tender process:

Process and selection criteria

The tender process was ovarseen by the Charman of the
Committes and carried out in compliance with the provisions of the
Competition and Markets Authority Audit Order 2014 (CMA Order’).
A selection committee was appointed, comprising the Chairman of
the Committeg, a Non-executive Director wha is alsa a member of
the Audit Committes, the Group Finance Direcior and Group
Financial Controller. The process was supported by the Group's
third party procurement specialists. The selection criteria adopted by
the selection committes closely followed those detailed in the Audit
Tender notes of best practice set out by the FRC as at July 2013
(namedy, quality and clarity of approach, understanding of the
business and risks, appropriate geographic breadth, appropriate
team structure and experience, cultural fit and approach to
independence and conflict issues).

Due to the nature and size of the Group's business, a mid-tier
accountancy firm was invited to tender alongside other larger firms,
but investors' views were not sought on the list of tender
participants.

Process summary from 9 August 2016 to 2 Decemnber 2016
A Request for Proposal ('RFP') was issued by the Chairman of the
Committee to these firms on 9 August 2018.

Knowledge and information meetings were held between BFP firms
and senior management from key functions as well as the Chief
Executive, Group Finance Director and the Chairman of the
Committes. In addition the firms all took up the opportunity to visit
two of the Group's factories.

The firms submitted their final written tenders on 3 October 2016
which were measured against the selection criteria and agreed by
the selection committee. This was followed by a formal presentation
to ihe selection committee on 24 November 2016 at which sach firm
was questioned in relation ta its audit approach and on issues of
independencea.

An Audit Committee meeting was convened on 2 Decernber 2016 to
consider the outcome of the selection committeg's review of the
tendar responses. The selection committee recommended Deloitte
as its preferred firm and Delcitte was invited to prasent to the
Committee, Un the recommendaticn of the Audit Committes and
sublect to shareholder approval, the Board appointed Deloitte as the
Group's new external auditor.

A resciution to appoint Deloitte as the Group’s external auditor is
included in the Notice of 2017 AGM.



Auditor’s independency policy: The Committee has an
established policy to safeguard and support the independence and
objectivity of the Group’s external auditor, which complies with the
provisions of the CMA Order. The key principle of the policy is that
the Group's external auditor may be engaged te provide services
only in cases where those services do not impair its independence
and objectivity, and provided that the total annual fees for non-audit
services are below the sum of annual fees for audit and audit-related
Services.

The external auditor may not be engaged to provide services if the
provision of such services would result in the external auditor:

- having a mutual or conflicting interest with any Group company;
— being placed in the position of auditing its own work;

- acting as a manager or employee of any Group company; or

- being placed in the position of advocate for any Group company.

The Committee's assessment of EY's independence during the year
was underpinned by the Group's policy on the use of the external
auditor for the provision of nor-audit services. The pclicy contaings a
presumption against the use of the external auditor for non-audit
services. The external auditor may only be engaged for the provision
of non-audit services in contravention of that presumption where
those services are expraessly permitted under the policy and where
there is a demonstrable efficiency, audit enhancement or cost
benefit resulting from the engagement of the external auditor.
Furthermcre, before it may be engaged for the provision of such
non-audit services, alternative providers must have been considered
and discounted. This policy has been updated to reflect the FRC’s
revised ethical standard 2016 and revised guidance on audit
committees 2016, including an update to expand the list of
prohibited non-audit services.

Services which the external auditor is prohibited from providing to

the Group include, amongst others:

» Bookkseping services and preparation of financial information

* The design, supply or implementation of financial information
systems

* Appraisal or valuation services

* |Internal audit services

» Actuarial services

A breakdown of audit and non-audit fees paid to EY in 2016/17 is
summarised in the following takle, together with a compariscn with
fees paid in 2015/16:

2016/17 2015/16

£m em

Total audit fees 0.5 0.4
Non-audit fees

Taxation services G 0.1

Other non-audit services 0.1 Q.1

Total non-audit fees 0.2 0.2

Total Fees 0.7 0.6

Details of the non-audit work undertaken by EY during the year are
set out at Note 2 to the Accounts at page 84, The Committee was
satisfied that the overall tevels of audit related and non-audit fees
were not material relative to the income of the external auditor firm
as a whole. It was satisfied that the objectivity and independence of
the external auditcr was maintained throughout the year.
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Nomination Committee report

| am pleased to present my report
for the 2016/17 financial year

as Chairman of the Nomination
Committes, Last ysar | reported
that the Committeg’s main focus
would be on considering expanding
the Board. The Committee’s aim,

in particular, was to explore adding
further relevant skills and experience
to those of the existing Directors
reflecting the demands of our changing business following the
successful sale of the Dairies business and the establishment of
our added value ingredients business.

In addition to considering the need for additicnal skills and
experience to help us with the development of our business, on
which | comment further below, the Committes has given
consideration during the year to succession planning for Non-
executive Directors and to strengthening further the Executive
Directar presence on the Beard. As a result, in July, the Committee
made its recommendation to the Board that Adam Braithwaite
should be appointed to the Beard as an Executive Directer.

The Committes considered the benefit of bringing new talent onto
the Board as well as ensuring senior representation of the sales and
marketing function at the Board now and into the future. Adam’s
prometion te the Board recognised that in his service to Dairy Crest
of more than 14 years, during which time he has held a variety of
senior management pcsitions, Adam possesses a depth of
knowledge of the business which would not be brought to the Board
through external recruitment. He was appointed to the role of Group
Commercial Dirsctor in 2013 with responsibility for sales and
marketing and his promation to the Board recognised his deep
knowledge of the business and his relationships with kay
stakeholders, as well as the significance of his role and his valuable
contribution to Dairy Crest.

In addition to considering the ‘bench strength’ of the Executive
Directors the Committes considered the need to augment further
the experience cf the wider Board. The sffectiveness review
conducted with the assistance of Russell Reynolds Asscciates last
year identified that the majority of Directors believed that it would be
beneficial to Increase the number of Non-executive Directors from
four to five.

The Nominaticn Committee has appcinted the Zygos Partnership as
headhunters to conduct a search for an additional Non-executive
Director. The Zygos Partnership has been used by the Company in
previous Non-executive Director searches but has no other
connections with the Company. They have been asked to prepare a
long list of candidates with international experience in either FMCG
and/or ingredients businesses. The Committee will narrow the long
list to a shortlist for interview and recommendation to the Board. In
compiling a long list Zygos has been instructed to include
candidates representing the most diverse range of backgrounds
possible, including, but not limited to gender, ethnicity, nationality
and personal background.

The Committee has also spent time during the year considering
succession for Non-gxecutive Directors in light of their length of
sarvice and the reguirerments of the Code. Andrew Carr-Locke is the
longest serving of the independent Non-executive Directors having
been appointed to the Board in August 2009. By the end of this year
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he will have served 8 years on the Board and the Committee intends
to conduct a search exercise for his replacernent during late 2017/
early 2018, Andrew is an exceptionally able Audit Committee
Chairman and the Committee will be looking for candidatas with
recent and relevant financial experience which wilt enable them to
take on the role of chairing the Audit Committee. It is the
Committeg’s intention to ensure that sufficient time is allowed for an
appropriate hand-cver period from Andrew 0 his SUCCESSor,
Accoardingly, it is the Committee’s intention to have concluded the
search process in time to make recommendations to the Board so
that an appcintment may be made by April 2018 enabling the
incoming Audit Committee chairman tc shadow the Audit
Committee's activities related to the 2017/18 financial year-end
process.

In addition to the matters referred to above, during the new 2017/18
financial year the Committee will also be focussing on mapping out
the succession requirernents associated with other Non-executive
Directors, In November this year, Richard Macdonald wilt have
completed 7 years’ service on the Board, including 3 years as
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The Committee is
conscious af the recommendation that before being appeinted to
chair a remuneration committee, individuals should have served at
least a year on a board as a non-executive. The effect of that is to
require even longer forward planning for the recruitmant of
rermuneration committee chair successors than was previously the
case, With that in mind, the Committee is conscious that the
recruitment of a successor for Richard would need to have been
cancluded by November 2018, Moreover, the Committee is
conscious that the burden associated with chairing a remuneration
committee has increased significantly over recent years. As a result,
the pool of individuals with the requisite expetience for the role may
not be as broad as for other reles. Accordingly, sufficient time needs
to be ailowad for a longer mare challenging search process.
Although there remains ample time to conduct a search, the
Committee is thinking ahead and intends to start a search in mid
2018 to allow time for recruitment of the best possible candidate,

The Committee is satisfied that it has performed its duties under its
terms of reference, including:

Director appointments: The Cocmmittee’s primary responsibility is
to consider and recommend to the Board candidates who are
appropriate for appointment as Executive and Non-executive
Directors. Its objective is to maintain an appropriate balance of skills
and experience on the Board and to ensure progressive refreshment
of the Board.

Processes for Director appointments: The process for the
appointment of new Directors is rigercus and transparent. The
Carmmittee ensures that the recruitment sxercise for Directors is
conducted against a documented brief setting cut the requirements
of the role and the skills and experience reguired of the person to fill
it. In the past, the Company has engaged the services of external
search consultancies and as referred to above, it is anticipated, in
the ordinary course, that it would do so In the future. Were it not to
do so, open advertising would be used as an alternative. Prospective
appointses are interviewed by the Committee and the Committee
makes a recommendation to the Board. The Board makes the
decision whether to appoint the recommended individual. The
Committee reports the outcome of its meetings to the Board.

Director commitments: The Committee evaluatas the

commitments of individual Directors. The Board believes that itis in
the best interests of the Company that Executive Directors take up
opportunities to act as non-executive directors in other appropriate



companies. Unless the Board approves ctherwise, Executive
Directors may serve in a non-executive capacity on the board of cne
other company. Non-executive Directors may serve as directors,
executive or otherwise, on the boards of other companies or
apprepriate crganisations. Naon-executive Directors’ letters of
appointment require them to seek prior appreval from the Board
before accepting any additionat commitment that might affect the
time that they are able to devcte to their role as a Non-executive
Director of the Company. The Board has the opportunity to satisfy
itself that Non-exgcutive Directors’ other commitments alfow them to
devote adequate time to their commitments to the Company. The
Board approved all new appointments of Directors during the year
and is satisfied that all Directors continue to have sufficient time to
devote themselves properly to their duties for the Company.

Diversity: The Cormmittee monitors diversity on behalf of the Board.
The Group interprets diversity in its widest sense and aims tc
achieve the best possitle leadership for the Group by ensuring an
appropriate mix of skills, backgrounds, gender, experience anda
knowledge amongst its Directors, senior managers and other
employees. The Committee considers that first and foremost,
appointments must be made based on an objective assessment of
who is the best persen tofill a role, with candidates drawn from a
diverse range of backgrounds. The Company has not adopted
targets for fernale representation amongst the Directors. The Group
will continue to operate policies giving equal opportunities to all,
irrespective of age, gender, marital status, disability, nationality,
colour, ethnic origin, sexual orientation or religious affiliation.

Board effectiveness: The Board normally undertakes an annual
effectiveness review. In accordance with the Code, every three
years, it uses the services of an external facilitator to facilitate its
sffectiveness review. Last year's review of the effectiveness of the
Board, its Committees and of me as Chairman was conducted with
the assistance of Russell Reynolds Assogiates, This year | led a
review of the effectiveness of the Board and its Committees with the
assistance of the Company Secretary and the Senior Independent
Director, who led the review of my performance. Details of that
review can be found at page 31.

Stephen Alexander Chairman of the Nomination Committee
17 May 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

LCorporate Respansibility Committee report

| am pleased to present the report

of the Corporate Responsibility
Committee to sharehoiders.

Fult getalls of our corporate
responsibility programme can

be found at pages 22 to 27. The
Committee cversees the Group's
corporate rasponsibifity programme
and ensures that key social,
ethical and environmental issues
are assessed and pricritised including reviewing the Company's
corporate responsibility pledges. In addition to me as Chairman,
the Committee comprises Richard Macdonald, Mark Allen, Tom
Atherton, Robin Miller, Robert Willock, Adam Braithwaits and
Simon Hewitt (Group Technicat Director).

During the year we have concluded our review of our corporate
respansibility strategy resulting in the approval by the Committes
and the adoption by the Group of a simplified strategy centred
around four key pillars; 'Climate’, 'Colleagues’, ‘Consumers’ and
‘Community’. Having previously adopted the language of Business in
the Community’s corporate responsibility structure, we felt that our
corporate responsibility programme was sufficiently established to
allow us to move away from slavishly aping that structure. We also
believed it was important to adept language which would resonate
better with our employees, hence the change to the four new
strategic pillars.

We have also re-affirmed ownership of gach of the pillars by a
member of the senior management team. We felt that direct
indivicual accountability for each of the pillars of our strategy would
help to drive ownership within the business and thereby help to drive
progress. Mike Barrington our Group Supply Chain Director owns
‘Climate’, ‘Colleagues’ is owned by Robert Willock our Group HR
Director, Adam Braithwaite our Group Commercial Director owns
‘Consumers' and finally, ‘Cormmunity’ is owned by Tormn Atherton,
our Group Finance Directar. In addition to adopting new pillars for
our corporate responsibility strategy, we have adopied new
simplified pledges which reflect the simpler structure of our business
following the sale of the Dairies business. We have been careful to
ansure though that with these key pledges we remain able to track
progress from the beginning of our new five year corporate
responsibilty programme.

More detail on our achievements and prograss can be found on

pages 22 to 27 of this Annual Rgport but | wanted to pull cut the

following hightights for your attention:

= We increased the amount of on-site renewable energy to 3% of
fue! used by manufacturing sites in our business from 51% in the
prior year

¢ Qur focus on low carbon manufacturing has seen a 4% reduction
in refative energy use at our Kirkby, Frome and Nuneaton sites
compared to the prior yaar

* Around 80% of the heat required by cur Davidstow creamery was
produced from biomass with energy from biomass baoilers
rapresenting more than 40% of the Group's total energy use in the
year. This means we met our pledge that more than one third of
total energy used should ceme from on-site renewables

« Highar water recovery rates towards the end of the year meant
that around 45% of water used in manufacturing by our business
came from recycled sources
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* We exceeded our target of 80% segregation of operational waste
on site by year end

We achievad a 69% reduction in Accident Incident Rate in the last
year versus the 2013 baseling against which we measure
ourselves

Buring 2016/17 we managed to achieve zero RIDDORS. We are
particularly proud of this achievement, especially as we have
continued to hold ourselves to account against the more
stretching, but superseded, definition of a RIDDOR where
incapacitation is suffered for more than 3 days rather than the
softer definition which the HSE has adopied where an incident
nesds to result In incapacitation for more than 7 days to be
classified as a RIDDOR

80% of the Group’s employees attended a roadshow presented
by members of the Executive Committee which covered topics
ranging from the Group's Vision and Values to our business plans
and progress against them

Lower fat variants of our products collectively achieved a retail
sales value of £84.0 million an increase of 3.2% on the pricr year

Last year | talked of the Committee’s recognition of the need
continually to evolve our corparate respansibility strategy in order to
mest the changing demands of our customers, employees and the
consumers of the great products we make. By evolving cur
corparate responsibility strategy and pledges as we have during the
year the Commitise has demonstrated that commitment to
evolution.

A successful approach 1o corporate respensibility is, we believe, an
esgential part of securing a sustainable business which thrives both
today andin the future.

Sue Farr Chairman of the Corporate Responsibility Committes
17 May 2017

LExecutive Committee

The Chief Executive chairs the Executive Committee which
comprises the other Executive Directors and senior members of the
Group’s executive team. Detalls of the members of the Executive
Committee can be found at page 29. The Executive Commities is
responsible, amongst other matters, for implementing the Group's
strategic direction and monitoring the performance of the business
and its control procedures on & day-to-day basis, as well as the
day-to-day operations of the Group's business, its performance
against forecasts and budgets and profitability. The Executive
Comrrittes normally meets weekly.

Information included in the Directors’ report

Certain information fulfiling the requirements of the Corporate
Governance report can be found in the Directors’ report at pages 62
to 64 under the headings 'Substantial shareholdings', 'Rights and
obligations attaching to shares’, ‘Articles of asscciation’ and
‘Purchase of own shares’ and is incarporated into this Corporate
Governance report by reference.

By order of the Board

Robin Miller Company Secretary & General Counsel
17 May 2017



DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

Chairman’s statement

| Dear shareholder,

On behalt of the Board, | am
pleased to prasent the Directors’
Remuneration repaort for the
2016/17 financial year. The
current Directors’ Remuneration
Policy (Policy’) was approved by
shareholders at the 2014 AGM
and applies from 1 Aprit 2015 until
the 2017 AGM. We have therefore
undertaken a process during the
year to develop a revised Policy to be put to a shareholder binding
vote at the 2017 AGM, which is also included within this report.

As part of the remuneration review, | met with a large number of
our shareholders and the shareholder representative badies to
consult on the details of the Falicy and | would like to thank them
for their input and helpful guidance.

The revised Policy continues to be based upon a core set of
principles which supports the strategic and financial ambitions of
the Company:

s The remuneration package should support a perfcrmance
based culture, attract and retain talented perscnnel and align
executives' and shareholders’ interasts

* The remuneration structure should be both uncomplicated and
transparent and we remain committed to open disclosure

* The measures used for incentive plans sheuld refiect the
strateqic priorities which the Committee considers critical to
the future success of the Company

The Committee is confident that the Policy we are proposing fulfils
these principles to the fullest extent possible within the current
climate and | hope we are able to depend on your support at the
upcoming AGM,

Company performance over the year

2016/17 has been the first full year following the successful sake of
our Dairies business to MUller in December 2015, Our business is
now almaest entirely branded or added value and we have a clear
strategy for future growth, We have delivered another good branded
performance this year through investment in praduct innovation,
promotional activity and advertising. We will continue to develop our
portfalio. Qur innovaticn is beginning to generate new business
opportunities by selling demineralised whey and GOS into growing
infant formula markets globally.

Overall, the Group has delivered increased adjusted profit before tax
and adjusted earnings per share and is recommending an increased
final dividend of 16.3 pence per share.

Review of remuneration policy

In carrying out the remuneration review this year, the Committee was
rindful of the significant changes to Dairy Crest’s business model
since our existing Policy was adopted, in combination with the
evolving external executive pay environment. Cver the last three
years many shareholders have been suppartive of the nature of the
current long-term incentive plan within cur existing policy, a
parformance-on-grant model called the Leng Term Alignment Plan
{'LTAP", in particular noting the alignment with the business strategy
achieved through the scorecard. However, the Committee also
reccgnises the challenges raised by some shareholders in relation to
the operation of the scheme and a more general dislike of
performance-on-grant models and that, as such, some would be
unlikely to be supportive of it as part of Dairy Crest's future policy.
Therefore the last grant under the LTAP will be made this year, based
on the assassment of performance against the scorecard which was
disclosed in last year's Remuneration report.

In developing a revised long-term arrangement to be included in the
future pclicy, the Committee considered the full spectrum of
alternatives with the aim of creating the Dest alignment with the
business and its strategy. We have transformed the Group into a
high margin, added value and branded business. However, our
cperating model and sector does continue to result in potential
earnings volatility, Our primary raw material, mifk, is subject to
significant price volatility which cannot be hedged and, as a result of
the manufacturing process, there is a lag between when the cost of
raw materials is incurred in manufacturing cheese and when the
product sales are recognised on average nearly 12 months later {the
average maturity of our cheese). This dynamic is unique to
companies such as Dairy Crest and results in potential margin
volatility which is not consistent with a smooth progression in
earnings over several years.

In light of this volatility, setting robust long-term financial earnings or
cash targets which are appropriately stretching is extremely
challenging, as price volatility can generate a boom or bust vesting
cutcome which is nat within management’s contral. The Caommittee
also wanted to simplify the arrangements, increase transparency
and maximise alignment with shareholders. As a result of these
factors we concluded that a restricted share arrangement would be
optimal for the business to achieve these goals. Our proposed
approach for restricted shares included a number of trade-offs to
reflect the increased certainty of the award for management,
comprising a significantly reduced opportunity level, a vesting period
of five years and the inclusion of a dividend underpin.

We consulted with our largest shareholders and shareholder bedies
on this proposal and whilst many were supportive, a number of
shareholders and a proxy body were not able to confirm their
support for our proposed approach. In the current envircnment and
given this uncertainty the Committee therefore determined that it
would not be appropriate to put restricted shares forward as a
proposal at the 2017 AGM.

Since this decision was made, the House of Commons Select
Committee cn Corporate Governance published its findings which
included support for restricted shares in line with the approach we
were ¢censidering. As such, we intend to continue to monitor the
evolution of views within the market and may revisit restricted shares
in the future as the acceptability of this model in the market evolves.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

in light of the shareholder consultation, the Committes decided to
revisit the possibie incentive afternatives and after much deliberation,
we are now proposing to return to the use of a traditional long term
incentive plan {'LTIFY. Dairy Crest had a traditional LTIP in place pricr
to the LTAP, the Long Term Incentive Share Plan {LTISP'), and the
new LTIP will replicate many of the features of this plan, tut with
some amendments such that it refiscts the current busingss strategy
and markel. Normally, the maximum guantum for awards granted o
any individual under the plan will be set at 150% of base salary per
financial year which is the lower guartile compared to the FTSEZ50,
equal to the maximum under our previous LTISP and therefore with
an expected value equal to that of our current LTAF.

In particular, given the challenges the Company faces in setting
long-term financial targets, the LTIP will be based primarily an
relative Tota! Sharehclder Return (TSR') performance. TSRis a
robust financial measure which achieves shareholder alignment
whilst being a measure for which it is straightforward (o calibrate
targets which are acceptable to shareholders, given its relative
nature. We believe share price and ultimately shareholder returm arg
critical measures of the successiul implementation of strategy and
the performance and growth of the business and ensure that
management Is rewarded in the case wherg Dairy Crest's
shareholders have experienced a higher overall retum than the
market.

Therefare, our proposed Policy states that at jeast 75% of the overali
award will be based on financial measures, with at least 50% of the
overall award based on TSR versus a broad comparater group. The
remaining part of the award may be based on strategic measures
and we will retain discretion te determine the appropriate measures
year on year based on strategic pricrities at the time.

As stated, we will not be making a grant under this award until 2018,
Taking into account business strategy and context at that time we
will determine the specific measures for the first grant. We will
ensure transparency on the measures set.

The plan will also incorperate elements in line with best practice,

including malus, clawback and the addition of & two-ygar holding
period post the three year vesting period, in order to align further
management’s intergsts with those of shareholders.

Other than changes to the long-term incentive plan, we have made
no ather significant changes to our revised Policy.

2016/17

We were pleased o welcome the Group Commercial Director Adam
Braithwaite to the Board on 19 July 2016, His remuneration upon
joining the Board was fully in line with the current Remuneration
Policy, with his salary set at £255,000, a level competitive against the
market for simiar roles in FTSE 250 companies.

Ags set out inlast year's report, cur annual bonus has been assessed
against three metrics; profit before tax, free cashflow and personal
chiectives. This approach was applied to all scheme participants
across the Group.
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The economic and trading circumstances faced by the business
over the year, in particufar, significant cost inflation in the second half,
resulted in the Company achieving below threshold in respect of the
cashflow measure aloeit abeve thresheld n respect of the profit
measure. Whilst the reported results against the targets set would
resull in & payout under the profit element of the bonus the Executive
Committee, supparted by the Remuneration Committee, determined
that this would) not be appropriate given the extended
commissioning of demineralised whey and GOS plants at Davidstow
which resulted in a higher than anticipated exceptional charge for the
year. However, it was agreed that, given the profit threshold level was
met, a payout under the personal objectives element of the bonus
was warranied. This results in bonus outcomes of 18.75% of salary
for Mark Allen, 18.75% for Tom Atherton and 15.63% for Adam
Braithwaite, reflecting their achievernent against challenging
personal objectives for the year.

Under the L TAP, the Executive Direttors are measurad against a
pre-determined set of strategic performance indicators which
deterrmines the level of grant. The award is subject to a dividend
performance underpin for the first 3 years of the vesting period, with
awards vesting in two equal tranchies tour and five years after grant.
The 2016/17 grant level of 67.2% was determined based on the
performance of the Company over 2016/17 against the scorecard
disclosed in the previcus year's report. Details of the achievement
against each scorecard measure are included in this report and
reflect a consistent psrformance in a challenging year.

201718

Mark Allen received an annual salary increase effective as of

1 January 2017, This figure reflects the longer period of 18 months
before the next salary review in July 2018. Mark received a salary
increase of 3.6%, equivalent to 2.4% per annum over 18 months
Salary increases for Tom Atherton and Adam Braithwaite will be
2.6% in line with that of the general workforce. The increases will be
effective from 1 July 2017.

Non-executive Director fess have also increased during the year. Full
details are provided on page 60.

In light of the importance to Dairy Crest of reducing net debt over the
short-term, the Committee has reviewed the weightings of measures
under the bonus plan. To reflect this, the Committee decided to
increase the proportion of bonus relating to free cash flow
generation. The bonus quantum is unchanged.

The perfermance pericd under the one-off Transformational
Incentive Award ['TIA) completes in Decernizer 2017. This award
supported the retention and motivation of Mark Allen through the
critical period of the sale of the Dairles business to Muller in which
his knowledge and experience were vital 1o a successful outcome,
Further details of the TIA ofsjectives and performance against these
to date are set out in this report.

Finalty, | would like to thank my fellow Committee members and
internal and external teams who supported us with their
commitment and hard work over the past year. We remain
committed to hearing your views as shareholders. If you would like
to discuss any aspect of cur remuneration further | would welcome
your comments.

Aoproved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

Richard Macdonald Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
17 May 2017
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy

We seek to ensure that the remuneration packages contribute to the
delivery of long-term sharehclder value. This is reflected in the
Company's annual bonus scheme and long-term incentive plan,
which are explained in more detail below. The Committee will be

Future policy table

The remuneration structure for Executive and Non-executive

Directors (who are paid fees and receive no additional benefits) at

requesting shareholder approval of the following remuneration policy
at the AGM on 18 July 2017 to cover a period cf three years from

that date.

Dairy Crest and the underlying principles on which each element of
the package is based are set out below.

How the element
suppeorts our
strategic objectives

Operation of the element

Maximum opportunity under the element

Performance metrics used and time
period applicable

Base salary
Reflect assessment
of market practice
based on role and

Benchmarkad aganst executives with similar
responsibilitiss In companies cf comparable
size and complexity, in particular the
constituent companies of the FTSE 250 index

Increases will normally be broadly in line with
inflation and the widsr empioyse population.

The Committee retains the flexibility to award

Not applicable.

Provide a market
compelitve level of
provision with
appropriate flexibility
whilst minimising nsk

or salary supplement n place. Nc further
service accrual under final salary pension
scheme from 1 April 2010,

experience. fexcluding financial services). higher base salary increases and 1o position
salaries in such a way that ensures Dairy
Paid In 12 equal manthly instalments dunng Crest rerrains competitive in the market and
the year. o take nto account an individual’s personal
performance ard experience in the role - as
Reviewed annually and any charges are in such the Committee may apply increases
the ordinary course effective from 1 July. over time as approgriate to achieve alignment
with market levels.
Changes may also be made in the case of a
change In rcle or responsibility.,
Raticnale for any changes
No changes
Pension There is a defined conzribution scheme and/ Executive Directors receve employer Not applicable.

contriputions up to the Annual Allowance on
pensian contributions plus cash
supplemerts. Overall employer contributions
(nchuding cash supplements) will not exceed
23% of salary.

Provide market-
compelitve henefits.

cover, permanent health insurance and
medical insurance.

Dairy Crest pays the cost of providing the
benefits on a monthily basis, or as required for
one-off events,

The Remuneratior Committee reserves the
nght to add to or remove these benefits as
required.

to the Group.
Rationale for any changes
No changes
Benetits Includes company car benefit, Ife assurance Ali Executive Directors receive a company Not applicable.

car/car allowance and private medical
Insurance, commansurate with market levels.

Executive Directors receive life insurarce
cover of 7 x annual salary.

Rationale for any changes
Ng changes

Bonus

Ensure that annual
reward is consistent
with successfully
achisving the
short-term financial
targets and strategic
abjectives of the
Group.

To deliver an appropriate balance between
long-term and short-term reward, any bonus
earned aver 50% of annual szlary is deferred
Into shares (see below). The remainder 1s paid
as cash,

The cash element of the bonus 1s ordinarily
paid three morths after the end of the
financial year to which it relates, Clawback
applies to cash payments for 3 years fro™ the
date this elerment 1s paid.

Current maxmum award: 100% of salary.
Target award: 50% of salary.
Threshold award: 0% of salary.

The Remuneration Committee has discretion
to increase the maximum award to 150% of
salary in excepiional circumstances. The
Committee is not aware of any such
circurnstances and so does not currently
expect to make awards above the maximum
of 100% cof salary.

Perfarmarce 1s measured by reference to the
financial year.

Metrics used to determine performance
under the bonus will be based on a mix of
financial, operational and personal measures.
The metrics that apply for 2017/18 are set out
on page 60 of the Annual Report.

The Committee has the flexibility to vary the
performance measures and weighting of
metrics under this plan,

Rationale for any changes
No changes
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DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

How the element
supports our
strategic objectives

Operation of the element

Maximum opportunity under the element

Performance metrics used and time
pericod applicable

Deferred bonus
Delver apprognate
balance between
lorig-term and
shori-term reward
andg o buld up

Any bonus over 50% of annual salary i1s
deterred for three years, condiional on
continued empioyment untl vesting date.

Deiivered n shares. Participants will normally
be entitied w0 an amount, payable in shares,

Folicy maximum award' 50% of salary
fmaximum potential deferral).

In the exceptional event the Remuneration
Comrmrittee exercises discret on to award a
bonus above 100% of salary, any bonus

None. Value growth is acnieved only through
change in share pr ce and diidend
equivalents paid,

Encourage ard
reward continuing
improvement in the
Group's performance
over the longer term,

Algnment of interest

between participants
and shareholcers,

The Committee will determine the appropriate
level of grant each year subjact to the
rmaximum award of 150% of base salary. For
recruitment purposes only, where there is a
need to provide replacement awards, grants
can be mads in excess of 150% of base
salary.

Normalty, awards will vest 3 years after the
date of grant and the number of shares that
vest will be determined by reference to certain
performancs conditions, Awards granted for
recrutrment purposes may vest befare the
expiry of 3 years from the date of grant and
may not be subject to performance
conditions.

A 2 year holding periad will normally apply
after tne vesting pericd (subject to the
Committee's discretion to reduce or not apply
a holding period in exceptional
circumstances).

Vasted shares accrue dividend equivalents.

Awards {and dwidend equivalents) may be
sentled in shares or cash,

Malus and clawback apply to the _TIP.

Threshold award. 25% of the maximum
award

Diractors’ on vesting equal N value to the dividends zamed above 50% of salary would be
shareholdings in lne payable on deferred bonus shares aver the deferredt nto shares.
with Policy. deferral peried.

Malus applies to deferred bonus,

Rationale for any changes

No changes
Long term Awards will take the form of aither nil cost Maximurm award: 150% of base salary (other Performance is measured by reference o the
incentive plan aptiens to acquire shares or conditional 1han where an award is made in connéaction three financial years starting with the year of
[LTIPY) awards to acquira shares. with recruit—ent). grant.

Metrics used to determine performance
under the LTIP will be based on a mix of
financial and stralegic measures.

The Commitiee has the ‘exibility to vary the
performance Maasures and weighting of
metrics under thig plan, Howaver, at least
75% of the overall award will be based on
financial measures, with at least 50% of the
overall award based on relative TSR versus &
broad comparator group. The remaining part
of the award may be based on strategic
measwres.

Rationale for any changes

Further 1o extensive shareholder consuitation where the future acceptabiity of the LTAF was questioned and after subseguent consideration of
a restricted stock plan, it has been decided to implement a traditional LTIP. To achieve shareholder alignment, the LTIP is predominantly
finangially based, with the prmary measure being TSH, incorporating an extended vesting/holding period. The maximum award of 1560% is set
a! the lower quartile of the FTSE260 and is equal to the maximum under tre previous LTISP with an expected value equal to the current LTAF.

Save as you earn
scheme ['SAYE’)
Encourage share
ownership across
the Company.

The SAYE Scheme is an ali-employee HMRC
appraved savings-related share option
scherme and no performance conditions are
attached to SAYE ophons.

Executive Directors are eligible to participate
in the all-employee SAYE.

The maximum participat on levels will be set
based on the applicable limits set by HMRC.

Not applicable.

Raticnale for any changes

Executive Directors are invited to participate as part of a consistent reward framework open tc all employees across the Company ard its

subsidiaries.
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How the alement
supports our
strategic objectives

Operation of the element

Maximum opportunity under the element

Performance metrics used and time
period applicable

Shareholding
requirement
Alignment of interest
between participants
and shargholders.

Execuiive Cirectors are required to build a
shareholding in the Ccmpany, Such
sharsholdings excluce unvested cptions
under the L TISP and LTIP but include
unvestec deferred shares grartsd to
Executive Cirectors as part payment of
bonuses and unvested LTAP awards.

Executive Cirectars who have not achieved
the minimum shareholding will be required to
retain 50% of net proceeds ‘rom any shares
released under the deferred bonus/LTAPALTIP
until the required level of shareholding is
reached.

The shareholding recuirement for Executive
Directors is 200% of salary.

Not appl cable.

Rationale for any changes
Na changes

Non-executive
Directors' fees
Remunerates
Non-executive
Directors and
attracts Non-
exscutive Directors
of sutable calibre.

Benchmarked against Non-executive
Directors with similar responsibilities It
companies of carnparable size and
complexity,

The remuneration of the Non-executive
Chairman s determined by the Board
following recommendations from the
Remuneraton Committee and Chief
Executive. The remuneration of Non-
execulive Directers is determined by the
Board following recommendations from the
Chie® Executive having reviewed appropriate
market levels.

Non-executive Directors are paid a fee only.

The total fess for Non-executive Directors
remain witain the limit of £600,000 set out in
the Articles of Association,

Not applicable.

Rationale for any changes
No changes

Provisions of previous policy that will continue to apply at all times so long as the LTAP awards remain in existence - final grant will be made in 2017, no
further awards will be made under the LTAP

Lohg Term
Alignment Plan
{'LTAP’)

Encourage and
reward continuing
improvernent in the
Group's performance
over the longer term.

Alignment of iInterest
between participants
and shareholders.

Measures identified
are central to Dairy
Crest's strategy and
are considered by
D rectors in
overseeing the
operation of the
business.

Annual grant of share awards.

Awards will be subject to a phased vesting
reguirement, with 50% of the award vesting n
year 4 and 50% in year 5 following grant.

Participarts will normally be entitled to an
amount on veshng, paid in shares, equal in
value 1o the dividends payable on shares
awarded.

Malus and clawback apply to the LTAR. The
Board may at any time up to and on vesting
reduce the number of shares that vest,
should material misstaterment or misconduct
OCCur.

Maxirmum award: 90% of salary.

If perfermance falls below a minimum level
against the scorecard no award will be made.

Acnievements over the pricr year against a
pre-grant perfarmance scorecard comprising
measures aligned to Dairy Crest's strategic
priorities.

The Committee has flexibility to amena the
relevant measures, weightings and KPIs
which determine the size of the awards
granted. The weighting of financial KPIs in
determining annual grant levels will be at least
60% o the scorecard.

Vesting is subject to continued employment.

The lavel of vesting may be reduced
dependent on a dividend urderpin over the
first three years of the vesting period.

An amount of the award proportional to the
percentage decrease in dividend may not
vest in the event of a decline of up to 50%. If
the declne exceeds 50%, the Committee will
use its discretion to determine the proportion
of the award that shail vest. in such
circumstances not more than 50% of the
award will vast,

Dwvidend cover mus: be maintained in a
specific -ange over the three-year
measurement period. The Remuneration
Comrmittee retains discretion to reduce the
vesting of awards as appropriate stauld
dividend cover be outside this range, Vesting of
awards could be reduced to zera. The cividend
cover range will be determined by the
Corrmitlee annually and may be adjusted f the
Corrmittee determines this to be appropriate,
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Notes on Policy table and components of remuneration

Performance measures and targets

Performance rmeasuras for incentive plans and bonus reflect the strategic priorities which the Committee considers critical to the future
success of the Company. Targets are set by reference to budgeted financials, wider Group targets, external market consensus and stretching
strategic growth sutcomes.

Differences in remuneration for all employees

All employees participate in some form of bonus plan. The size of award and the weighting of performance conditions vary by grade, with
specific measures incorporated where relevant. All employees have the opportunity to participate in a pension arrangement at levels of
employer contribution which vary by grade. Members of senior management participated in the LTAP at an award level appropriate to their
role which will be replaced, subject to shareholder approval, by the new LTIP with the same individuals eligible.

CEO one-off Transformational Incentive Award

At the EGM hetd in December 2014, shareholders approved the grant of a one-off Transformational Incentive Award {TIA"} outside of paficy to

the CEQ, cornected to the key business change of the sale of the Dairies business. The key terms of the TIA are detailed below, with further

detail in the 2016 Director's Remuneration report:

* The award will vest in Decamber 2017 to the extent that the stretching performance conditicns set in relation to the award are achieved over
the three year period December 2014-2017

* The award is structured as a base award over Ordinary Shares having a market value at grant equivalent 1o 75% of Mark Allen’s base salary.
A multiplier of between 0 and 3 times the number of Ordinary Shares subject to the base award will be applied t¢ it at the end of the three
year performance period, depending on the level of perfarmance achieved

* The Committee will determine the level of vesting of the TIA based on performance obiectives which are intended to be demanding. In
measuring performance in this regard, the Committee has identified three categories of objectives on which the assessment of performance
will be based. These relate to the rastructuring of the business and its future success, as follows:

~ Managing the competition approval process relating to the sale of the Dairies business, requiring strong leadership and a high level of
personal involvernent from a chief executive officer who is an acknowledged leader in the sector, as well as managing the business as a
whole through a period of extended uncertainty

~ Appropriately reshaping the Group, taking account of the outcome of the competition approval process

» Establishing a successful future business, by reference to the development of the Group and its principal business streams, including the
delivery of value to shareholders

s An update on the performance against these objectives to date is provided on pages 54 to 55

Statement of consideration of employment conditions elsewhere in the Company
As the Committee has oversight of remuneration matters for the broader senior managerment pepulation, it brings the reward of these
individuals into consideration when discussing packages for Executive Directors.

The Committes does nat specifically ask employees ta comment an matters related to the remuneration of Executive Directors but any
comments received are taken into account. The leval of salary increases for the general Dairy Crest employee population is considered whan
setting increases for the Executive Directors. In addition, salary benchmark information for cormpanles of comparable size and complexity
within the FTSE2E0 (excluding financial services) is taken into consideration.

The Committee has oversight of statutory matters in relation to wider employee pay. for example in respect of the National Living Wage and
Gender Pay Gap, and receives regular updates on such matters.
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Approach to recruitment remuneration
The Committee’s approach to recruitment remuneration is to pay a competitive salary as appropriate to attract and motivate the right talent in

the role.

The following table sets out the various compenents which would be considered for inclusicn in the remuneration package for the
appointment of an Executive Director. In respect of a promotion, any remuneration commitments made prior to such promotion will be
honoured. Any new Executive Director’s remuneration package would include the same elements and be subject to the same constraints as
those of the existing Executive Directors performing similar reles, as shown below:

Componeant

Policy and principles

Base salary and
beanefits

The salary level will be set taking into account the responsibilities of the individuat and the salaries paid for siilar roles in comparatle
comganies.

Depending on the crcumstances of any particular appeintment the Coemmitiee may choose to set base salary above market median 1o attract
the night talent, or below market median with increases apphed over a period of time to achieve alignment with market levels far the role with
referenca to the experience and performance of tre individual, all sub.ect to the Corrpany’s abillity to pay.

Should relocation of 2 newly recruited Executive Director be required, reasenacle costs associated with this relocation will be met by the
Company. Such relocation support could include but not be imited to payment of legal fees, removal costs, lemporary accocmmodation/hotel
cost, a contribution to stamp duty and replacement of nan-transferrable hausehcld iterrs. In addition, the Committee mray grant acaitional
support as apprapriate.

Other benefits pravided will be aligned to thoss set out on pages 43 10 45.

Pension

The Executive Director will Be able to participate n the defined con‘ributicn scherre up tc the annual allowance and receive a cash supplement
nayment above this, The total benefit will not exceed 23% of Basic Salary.

Annual bonus

The Executive Director will be eligble to participate in the annuat bonus scheme as set out in the Remuneratior Policy table.
The Policy maximum award under the bornus will be 100% of salary.

The Remuneraticn Committes has discret.on to increase the maximum award to 150% of salary .n exceptional circumstances, Any bonus over
50% of salary is deferred Into shares for three years as set out in the Remunreration Policy table.

Long term
incentive awards

The Executive Director will be eligible to participate in the L.TIP at the Remuneration Committee’s discretion,

The maximum annual award under this scheme 1s 150% o' base salary and associated conditions would apply as set out in the Remuneration
Policy tacle.

Under the rules of the plan, the Committee may grant additional awards under this scheme as replacement awards (see below)

Replacement
awards

The Committee may grant addiional awards under tne LTIP as replacement awards, In such cases the level of award and timing of vesting
could be different from that in the Semuneration Policy in order to replicate, as practically as possible, the value and timing of the remuneration
torgone.

The Gemmittee will seek to structure any replacement awards so that overall they are no more generous n terms of expected vaiue or vestng
period than the awards forfeited from a new recruit's prevous employer.

The Committee has the flexibility not to apply perferrmange conditions or a holding period and to use cash and/ar shares as the format for
delivery of any replacement awards.

Service contracts and policy on payment for loss of office
Service contracts and letters of appointment include the following terms.

Executive Director

Date of commencement of contract Notice period

M Allen 18 July 2002 12 months
T Atherton 23 May 2013 12 months
A Braithwaite 19 July 2016 12 months

Executive Directors' service agreements are available on the Company’s website www.dairycrest.co.uk.

Non-executive Director

Letters of appointment

Notice period

A Carr-{ocke 15 July 2009 3 months
R Macdonald 4 October 2010 3 months
S Alexander 4 Qctober 2010 3 months
S Farr 6 October 2011 3 months

Itis the Company's policy that Non-executive Directors should not normally serve for more than nine years. Non-executive Directors’ tetters of
appointment are available on the Company's website www.dairycrest.co.uk.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

External Appointments

Executive Directors may be invited to become Non-executive Directors of other companies and it is recognised that exposure 10 such duties
can broaden their experience and skills which will benefit the Company. External appointments are subject to agreement by the Chairman and
reported o the Board. Any external appointment must not conflict with a Director's duties and commitrments to Dairy Crest. Fess may be
retained by Directors for such appointments,

Termination Policy

The Remuneration Comimittee’s approach when considering payments in the event of termination is to take account of the individual
circumstances including the reason for termination, contractual obligations of both parties as well as share plan and pension schemse rules
{including relevant performange conditions).

The tabie below summarises the key etements of the Executive Director service contract and palicy on payment for loss of office.

Comporient Policy and principles

Notice period 12 months' notice from Company.

12 months’ nctice from Directar,

Compensation for Up to 12 months’ salary plus an additional 3% 1o account for presumed salary increases from any salary review that may have taken place in
loss of office in the notice perod.

service contracts
Payabte nronthly and subject to mitigation if the Directar obtains atternative employment Lp 0 12 manths after termmation,

Other paymenis to the Cirector in guestion include medical benefits, cost of corpany car and a sum equivalert to 23% of annual salary
repraserting pension centribution far the unexpired part of the contractual notice pericd.

Under the terms of Mark Allen's cortract payments on termination are calculated as 90% of the sum of the following items — annual salary,
bensfits, pension plus 50% of maximum bonus opportunity for the notice period. This will not ba the Company's palicy going forward for other
Executive Directars, Contractual pravisions in respect of compensation for loss of office for Mark Allen are therefore grandiathered.

In the event of a compromise or settlernent agresment, the Remunaration Committee may make payments it considars reasenable in
settisment of potential legal claims, This may include an entitlemant to compensation in respect of their statutory rights under employment
protaction legislation in the UK or in other jurisdictions. The Remuneration Committee may also include in such payments reasonable
reimpursament of profess.onal fees in connection with such agreements.

The reimbursement of repatriation costs or fees for protessional or cutplacement advice may also be included in the termmation package. as
ideemed reasonable oy the Committes, as may the continuation of benefits for a hmited periad.

Treatment of If termination is by way of death, inury, liness, disability, redundancy, retirement, or any other circurmstances the Committee cetermines,
unvested deferred | deferred bonus srare awards may be released n full on termination.
bonus awards

under plan niles Otherwise, the proportion of awards released will be deterrmined at tha discretion of the Board.

Treatment of in relation to the L TAP:

unvested LTIP/ Ary autstanding award will tapse at cessation of employment with the Company, unless tha reason far cessation is by way of inury, W-health,
LTAP plan awards disability, redundancy, retirament, the business or company in which the award holder works being sold outside of the Group, or any other
under plan rules circumstances the Committee determings, when the award will vest at the normal vesting date with ihe urderpin and other condtans

considered at the time of vesting, subject ta pro~ration for time served. The Commitiee may determine not to pre-rate if deemed appropriate.
Alternatively, the Committee may determine that a proportion of the award will vest immediately, with the propertion determined by the
Committes taking into account satisfaction of the underpin and any other factors the Committes considers relevant.

In relation o the LTIP:

Ary outstanding award will lapse at cessatior. of employment with the Company, unless the reason for cessation is by way of injury, ill-health,
disability, redurdancy, retirement, the busmess or company in which the award holder works being sold outside of the Group, ar any ciher
circumstances the Caommittee determines, when the award will vest at e normal vestmg date with the parformance conditions considered at
the time of vesting, subject to pro-ration for time served. The Committee may determine not to pro-rate if deemed approphate. Alternativety, the
Commitiea may datermine that a proportion of the award will vest immediataly, with the proportion determined by the Committee taking Into
account satisfaction of the performance conditions and any other fagtors the Committee considers refevant.

A proportior: of the LTIP/LTAP will vest immedately on death, pro-rated for time.

Exercise of Any discretion available in ostermining treatment of incentives on termination of employment is intended only to be rellied Lpon fo provide
discration flexibility ir certain circumstances.

The Remuneration Cammitteg's determination will take into account the particular circumstances of the Directar's departure and the racent
performance of the Company.
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Companent

Policy and principles

Change of control

Outstanding awards and options would normally vest and becorg exercisable on a change of control to the extent that any performance
condition has been satisfied.

The proporion of awards that vest under the LTIF/LTAP will be determined by tne Remunaration Committee. Deferred bonus awards would
narmally be released in full. Payrents under the bonus scheme would be pro-rated far service “rom the start of the relevant bonus year to the
date of the change of control. For SAYE, participants can, at the Board's discretior, exercise options up to six menths after the change of
control. Contributions 1o SAYE can continue up o the date of exercise.

The Committee reserves the right to alter the performance period or the performance measures and targets of the arr~ual bonus plan or of any
outstandirg awards under the annuzl bonus plan or the LTIP/LTAP in the event of a change of control, to ensure that the performance
conditions remain relevant but challenging.

The Committee has the discreton to test performance at the point of change of control or to allow awards to continue or roll-gver in any
reasonable manner with agreement of tre acquerer, tak ng into account the cirsumstances of the change of contrel.

There are no pre-determined spacial pravisions for Non-executive Directors with regard to compensation in the event of loss of office.

lllustration of application of Remuneration Policy

A significant proportion of an Executive Director’s total remuneration package is variable, being subject to the achievement of specified
short-term and long-terrm business objectives. The charts below show the compasition of total remuneration at minimum, target and
maximum performance scenarios far the Executive Directors. The TIA and SAYE are excluded.

Director Value of packagae (£000s)
; ! .
M Allen Max:rnum 4% | 26%] 0% | (2.122)
Target 1% | 20% 20% | (1422 |
M nirmum {Fixed) 100% | (722) i
T I
p 500 1000 1,500 2,200 2507
! :
T Atherton Maximum 34% | 26% | 40%] (1,321) ‘
Target s1n | 20% 20% | ass) ’ |
Minimum Fixed) 100% | a) I
o] 330 8:0 930 *,200 * E0D
: ) ! i
A Braithwaite | Maximum 34 | 26% | 0% Fasu]
1
Target 1% | 20% 20% | t667) ‘
: T ‘
Minimum {Fixed) 100% | (3407 | | ‘
0 220 420 53 800 1,000

[ Fixed Remuneration T3 Annual Vanable Remunaration 1 | ong-term Varniable Remuneration

Notes to the scenarios:
Fixed: This element comprises salary as of 1 July 2017 {see page 59), pension benefits {including salary supplement) and other fixed benefits
[company car, etc) as per the ast known number.

Annual variable remuneration: This element shows annual bonus (including any amount deferred) at 100% of salary in the maximum
scenario and 50% of salary in the target scenario.

Long-term variable remuneration: This element shows remuneration in respect of the LTIP, at 150% of salary in the maximum scenario
and 75% cof salary in the target scenaric. No allewance is made for share price growth and/or dividends and/or dividend equivalents paid, in
accordance with the requirements of rules governing disclosure,

Statement of consideration of shareholders views

During 2016/17 the Committee consulted extensively with our largest shareholders as well as shareholder representative bodies an our new
remuneration structure. We were grateful to shareholders for the levet and quality of engagement, many of whom were supportive of ocur
proposed approach to move to a restricted share arrangement, When the Committee decided to continue no longer with this proposed
approach a second round of consultation tock place.

The Committee values highly the quality of input from its engagement with sharehclders. Sharehclder consultation helps the Committee set
meaningful remuneration policies that achieve clear alignment of the interests of shareholders and management. The Committee looks
forward to continuing the productive dialogue with the Company’s shareholders.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

|:Annual report on remuneration

Single total figure of remuneration - subject to audit

The table below sets out the analysis of total remuneration for each Director. An explanation of how the figures are calculated foliows the table.
The total remuneration for each Director reflects the performance of the Company and the contribution each individual has made to the
on-going success of the Company.

Itis important to note that the LTAP award included in the colurmn LTAP for 2016/17 1s incorporated in the single total figure of remuneration for
regutatory reasons with no shares vesting in the year. The 2014 LTAP vests 50% in 2018/19 and 50% in 2019/20. Therefore the actual
remuneration earned in 2016/17 for Mark Allen, Tom Atherton and Adam Braithwaite was £805k, £501k and £261k ' respectivaly.

Director Base salary/fees Taxable benefits Bonus LTAP' Pension* Total
(£'000s) 2016]1f 2015/16 Em ?15/% 201617 20jﬂ _il.ﬁﬁhz 72015/1 & 2015/‘;.’ 201@"& 2016!‘!1 7201%
Non-executive - - 7 B -

Chairman S N )

S Alexander 155 155 - - - - - - - ~ 155 155

Executive Directors

M Allen m 523 —E 3-2 102 i 235 539 529 125 120 1,344 1439
T Aterton 340 307 19 21 64 138 21 20t 78 N 12 ™M1
A Braitrwaite " 419 - 13 - 28 - 15 - 4 - 36 -
Non-executive - - o ) - S
Directors v e

A Carr-Lacke o 49 - 45 - - 7_: - - - - 49 ﬁ
R Macdonaid 55 ‘_E . *: - - - j—- —i - - 55 48
S Farr 497 _;-7 - - - _;__— - )—49743

For 2015/16 the values included are for the 2013 LTAR. These shares have nat vested, therefore the value of the awards has been calculated using the average middle
market price during tre final quarter of 2018/17.

For 2016/17, the values included are for the 2014 LTAP. Awards were subject ta a dividend underpin aver the pericd April 2014 ~ March 2017, The conditions under
he dividend underpin were met and the awards are not supject to any further performance corditions — they are therefore inciuded in the single “igure, The value of
the awards has been calculated using the average middle market price during tne final quarter of 2016/17. 50% of awards wll vest on *6 December 2018 and 50%
will vest on 16 Dacember 2018. As the vesting period ‘or this award has not yst been completed, no value will be delivered to particpants until 2018/2019.

i Pension amounts include employer's pension contrioution and safary supsolement. Base salary, bonus and LTAP are cefined on pages 43 to 45,

- Amaounts shown n relaton to Adam Braithwaite relate to the period since 19 July 2018, when he was appointed to the Beard.

iv There has been an increass to Non-executive Orector fees in the year, effective from 1 December 2016, For further details see page 60.

Notes
Taxable benefits are valued at the taxable value, and include company car/car allowance and private medical insurance.

During the year, Mark Allen held the pasition of Non-executive Director including Audit Committee member and Remuneration Committee
member at Howdens Joinery Group ple, with retained fees in association with this work totalling £58k (2016: £47k). From January 2017 he also
held the position of Non-executive Director at Warburtons Limited with retained fees in association with this worlk totalling £k.

Additicnal requirements in respect of the single total figure table - subject to audit

Performance against targets for annuaf bonus

Payrment of the bonus is subject to the achievement of demanding short-term financial targets and personal cbjectives. To ensure that an
appropriate batance is maintained between long-term and short-term reward, any bonus eamed over 50% of annual salary is paid in
Company shares and deferred for a three-year period subject to continued employment.
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A summary of some of the key personal bonus objectives set for each of the Executive Directors and their performance against these during
the year are provided below:

Mark Allen

Parformance measure

Performance outcome

Mew Revenue Streams

With Mark overseeing the governance of this majer investmant, demineralised whey ar-a GOS proauctior have acheved subs-antial
imoraverrents in qualty, efficiency, yields ano mneral consistency. “his s Key in establishing sales to in‘ant forrula manufacturers who
require exactrg high standards

Talent Development

Mark has overseen formal development planning for both Tom Atherlon and Adam Braithwaite and fed a full development/succession plan
for business critical roles

Performance measure

Shareholder/Customer | Mark has mainm:ained exceller: links with all major custormers, meeting serior contacts througnout the year. In addition, Mark has
engagement under-aken investor roadsnows both in the UK and USA, the latter bringing new shareholders on to the register
Tom Atherton

Performance outcome

Pension Liability

Tom oversaw a successful programme offering Flexible Retirement Options to deferred scheme members. This atracted considerable
interest with an .n yea- financial benefit of £2 milion excluding fees

Information Fanctionally responsibie for {T, Torm developed a revised strategy incorporating fundamental hardware and software cranges, prov ding a
Technology better fit IT solution for the Group post the sale of the Dairies business
Frylight As Chairman of the company produc ng Frylight, Tom has guided and supperted the leadership team in gaining further market share,

cansolidating its postion as the UK’s number one cacking oil brand and expanding the manufactunng footorint to enhance capacity

Adam Braithwaite

Performance measure

Performance outcome

Commercial
Performance

Adam has continued to build excellent relationships with our custoner base. Strong growth has been achieved in a ~umber of the brands
during the year

New Business Growth

Adam has overseen the formulation, trial and delivery of three spreadable cheese vaneties and the launch of cheese snack bars. Revenue
from new product development ir the last tree years remains abave our target of 10%

Developing the team

Completion of team review and acton plans implemented. Succession plan dehvered

Bonus payouts for the 2016/17 performance year are set out below:

Maximum Outcome as a % of salary
potential
as a % ot
Measure Details salary Threshold Target Maximum  Actual M Allen T Atherton A Braithwaite
Profit before Stretching targets based on 50% £57.7m £61.3m £57.4m £60.6rm C% 0% 0%
tax budget, with a sliding scale
between threshold and
maximum.
Free cash Stretching targets based on 15% £40.0m £42.8m £50.0m £38.7m 0% 0% 0%
flow budget, with a sliding scaie
between threshold and
maximum.
Personal A range of non-financial 25% See description above 18.75% 18.75% 15.63%
objectives cperational and strategic
obyjsctives will be assessed
ty the Committee, with an
appropriate award leve! set
under this element with
reference to the overall
performance of the business,
Total - 100% of 18.75% = 18.7/5% = 15.63% =
salary £102k FB4K £28k!
Deferred into - - NIl Nil Nil
shares

I Amounts shown i relation to Adam Braithwaite relate to his pro-rated salary over the pericd since 19 July 2016, when he was appointed to the Board,

A profit before tax performance of £60.6m was within the range for a payment against this bonus target. However, the Executive Committee,
supported by the Remuneration Committes, determined that a payout was not appropriate given the extended commissioning of the
demineralised whey and GOS plants at Davidstow which resulted in a higher than anticipated excepticnal charge. The Remuneration
Committee supported this proposal and confirmed that no payment would be made for this bonus element.

The free cash flow outturn of £38.7m was outside of the bonus range and resulted in no payout.
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DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Given the profit threshold was surpassed, a payment under the personal objectives component was warrantad, albeit the stretching nature of
the personal objectives resulted in partial payment. '

LTAP 2014
Awards undar the 2014 LTAP were subject to a dividend underpin over the period April 2014 ~ March 2017, The conditions under the dividend
underpin wera met and the awards are not subiect to any further performance conditions — they are therefore included in the single figure.

Value of
Dividend  awards at
underpin 31 March
Face value Number of Dividend underpin conditions 2017 !
Direclor Grant date granted £000s  shares grantad conditions met? £000s End of vesting period
Mark Alfen 16 Deceriber 414 84,406 To increase the c'vdena Yes 539 50% on 16 December 2015
2014 over the period April 20114 50% on 16 December 2019
- to March 2017 in line with
Tom Atherton 16 Decamber 208 42,397 progressive dividend poiicy  Yas 2n 50% on 16 Dacember 2018
2014 wriist mantaining dividend 50% on 16 December 2019
cover within 1.5-2.5 x
Adam Braithwaite | 16 Decomber 81 16,50 range for the period Aprl vag 105 50% o~ 16 December 2018
2014 2013 to March 2016 50% on 16 Decamber 2013

i The value of the awards ras been calculated using the average middle rarket price during the final quarter of 2016/17 and mciudes the dividends azorued 1o date
over the vesting period

Gurrent position on other outstanding LTAP awards ~ not subject to audit

The outstanding LTAP awards are subject to a dividend underpin for three years following the award being made. The award may be reduced
by an amount proportional to the percentage decrease in dividend in the event of a decline of up to 50%. If the decline exceeds 50%, the
Commitiee will use its discration to determine the propartion of the award that shall vest.

Dividend cover must also be maintained in the range 1.5 — 2.5 over the three-year measurement period.
LTAP 2015: The dividend increase over the period following the award is currently 5.4%, and the dividend cover is 1.9 times.
LTAP 2016: The dividend increase over the period following the award is currentty 5.3%, and the dividend cover is 2.1 times.

Total pension entitlements - subject to audit
Following the closure of the Dairy Grest Group Pension Fund (a defined bernefit schemej to future accruals, there is no increase in accrued
pension during the year other than inflationary increases.

The scheme closed to future accrual at 31 March 2010, Mark Allen decided to draw benefits from 31 March 2010 and receives an annual
pension. Mark Allen, Tom Atherton and Adam Braithwaite were members of the defined contribution scheme throughout 2016/17, The
Company made contributions of £10,000 for Mark Allen and £6,656 far Tom Atherton incorporating both employes and employer
contributions. For Adam Braithwaite zero contributions were made since his appointment to the Board (£10,000 of cantributions incorpaorating
both ernployer and employee contributions were made in 2016/17 but were progessed prior 1o his promption to the Board), Further cash
supplements were paid such that the total of cash supplements and employer contributions amounted to 23% of basic salary for Mark Allen
and Tom Atherton, Adam Braithwaite received contributions of 23% of salary for the period since joining the Board.,

Payments for loss of office — subject to audit
Na payments for fass of office were made in the year under review.

Payments to past Directors ~ subject to audit
No payments 1o past Directors were made in the year under raview.

Scheme interests awarded during the financial year - subject to audit

LTAF 2016 award

The award made under the LTAP in 2016 was made on 3 Jure 2018, The award level is determined based on achievernents over the prior
year against the pre-grant performance scorecard, comprising measures aligned o Dairy Crest’s strategic priorities. Quicomes against the
2016 scorecard are summarised in the second tabie below and detail on these cutcomes against the targets set and context in which
decisions were made is included thereafter.

The outcome against the LTAP scorecard may fall between 0% and 100%, basad on agsessment of perfermance against each measurs (as
determined by the Committee) and the weighting attributable to each in the table below. This scorecard percentage outcome then determines
the proportion of the award that will ba granted, in the rangs of 50% to 90% of salary for Executive Directors. As set out in the approved palicy,
in any year, in the gvent of performance below a certain threshold or where the performance against the s¢orecard for that year is determined
not to be a fair reflection of the overall performance of the business, the Committee may determine that no award will be granted. The
maximum opportunity under the LTAP (90% of salary) is lower than the typical long-term incentive level in the market, whilst certainty of payout
far participants is higher.
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Note that this award is subject to a dividend underpin for the first three years of the vesting period and is settled through nil cost share options.

Percentage vesting

Level of award % of Face value on grant at threshold
Director salary £000s performance Number of shares End of vesting period
Mark Allen 67.6% 365 N/A 54,268 50% 4 years after the award date
50% 5 years after *the award date
Tom Atherton B87.6% 230 NAA 20,485 50% 4 years after the award date
50% 5 years after the award date
Adam Braithwaite 38.8% 73 NAA 13,935 50% 4 years after the award date

£0% & years after the award dals

The LTAP award granted to Agam Braithwaite was made before he became a Board Director.

The number of shares was calculated based on the middle market price on 2 June 2016.

Determination of 2016 grant:

Measure KPI Alignment with strategy Weighting Outcome
1. Profit Adusted EBITDA targst sach year Delvery of profit is cors to the business 30% 0%
and supports the progressive dividend
policy
2, Balance sheet ROCE target each year whilst Ensurng accentable return on 20% 0%
efficiency maintaining net debt/EBITDA in the investment within a sustainable level of
1.0-2.0x range gearing
3. Corporate Delivery of annual cost savings targets Ensuring cost savings are delivered on 15% 15%
Activity & an cn-going basis
Efficiencies Delivery of synergies and return on
investment following acquisitions or Ensuring that major acquisitions/
successtul divestments fwhen relevant) divestments deliver against relevant
synergy and relurn targets
4. Brand Growth Key brand value growth over one and Brand growth is key to lenger term 20% 15%
three years versus markets in which they  business growth
operate
5. Innovation Achieve each year the targeted Innavation 18 a key driver of product vity 10% 10%
proport.on of revenue from innovation in and growth
previous three years
€. Corporate Range of metrics aligned to the 40 Zelivering resul's in a sustainable way 5% 4%
Responsibility pledges includirg improvements in which enhances reputation and
accident incident rates, raduced GO, stakeholder engagement
amissions & improved/maintained BITC
score
Total Ad%
For Executive Directors
this converts to an awarc
of 87.6% of salary
1. Profit Weighting: 30%. Outcome: 0%

EBITDA for 2015/16 was below the target threshold due to the higher than anticipated losses in the Dairles business up until the date of
disposal. It reflected the challenges faced throughout the year versus the Group's budgst expectations in a heavily deflating dairy environment
with the added pressure that a prolonged Dairies business disposal had on the commercial performance of the liquid milk business.

This weaker than expected EBITDA outcome resulted in 0% pay out.

2. Balance sheet efficiency

Weighting: 20%. Qutcome: 0%

The KPl s targeted ROCE {operating profit/average operating assets) with an additicnal requirement that gearing should be between 1.0 and
2.0 times. With regard to ROCE, the long-term objective was to maintain this above 12% with individual targets and ranges set each year by

reference to budget.

The ROCE for 2015/16 (based on a post-disposai operating asset position) was 15%. This demonstrates the transformational effect on ROCE
that the disposal of the Dairies business delivered.

However, year-end gearing (het debt/EBITDA) was above the upper end of the target range of between 1.0 and 2.0 times. Staying within the
range is an underpinning requirement for an award under the balance sheet efficiency measure and therefore, no award was made under this

element.
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DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

3. Corporate activity & efficiencies Weighting: 15%. Outcome: 15%
The KPI is targeted full year effect of cost efficiency projects initiated in any year and deiivery of synergies and returns on acquisitions. Where
there is no acquisition activity, the cost efficiency projects can deliver the full 15% award and this was the case in 2016/16.

in 2015/16 great success was achieved in removing costs ahead of target up until the disposal of the Darries business. For the final guarter,
cost saving could not be maintained at this level given that the Dairies business accounted for much of the scale of the organisation.

Although there was no relevant deliverad M&A integration activity in 2015/16, related activity that was successfully delivered included the
acquisition of the outstanding 50% of Promovita Ingredients Limited for a consideration of £6 million (giving Dairy Crest sole control over the
development of the GOS business) and the segmentation of the Dairies business from the combired Group.

The Remuneration Committee recognised the cost savings achieved ahead of target up to the peint of sale of the Dairies business and the
successful business split along with the long-term strategic importance of the acquisition of the balance of ownership of Fromovita Ingredients
Limited. On the basis of this performance it decided that a 15% payout for this element was merited.

4, Brand growth Weighting: 20%. Outcome: 15%

Key brand performance was strong in a deflationary marketplace. The Remuneration Committee considered robust guantitative IRl and
Kartar Worldpanel data for all brands in reviewing this element. Cathedral City, Country Life anc Frylight all grew share aver 12 months. Over a
three year timeframe Cathedral City, Clover and Frylight have all grown value share.

On this basis the Remuneration Committee considered an award of 15% was appropriate.

5. Innovation Weighting: 10%. Outcome: 10%

The Group's target for innovation is that 10% cf revenue should be from product innovation over the (ast three years. In the year ended 31
March 2016 a number of new innovations were brought to market including re-launched Claver with no artificial ingredients and new coconut
and rapeseed variants of Frylight which helped drive the percentage of key brand revenue from innovation in the preceding three vears to 11%.

In additicn the Remuneration Cormmittee recagnised innovation in other areas of the business including the opening of the new innovation
centre at Harper Adams University, new supplier arangements for spreadable cheese with Hochland whao are helping us to develop further a
stronger cheese NPD pipeline, and the arrangement with Fowler Welch Coolchain Ltd that gives us the opportunity to grow warehousing
volumes whilst planning for the completion of the distribution agreement with Midler.

On this basis an award of 10% was made.

6. Corporate responsibility Weighting: 5%. Qutcome: 4%

Our 2015/16 safety record has been better than was targeted. Customer complaints generally have been low and any quality issues have
been addressed fully to investigate root cause and implement improved procedures. Energy usage was 6% below budget and carbon
emissions were better than target and 13% below last year. No empioyae survey was conducted during 2015/16 due to the sizeable pecple
impact of the sale of the Dairies business. However, consideraple effort was put into maintaining employee engagement via enhanced
communications and the inclusion of a sale related component in the bonus scheme for all Hay employees.

The Rermmuneration Committee felt that corporate responsibility performance had generally been better than target and a payout of 4% was
agreed.

Dividend underpin
The level of vasting of this award may be reduced to the extent that a dividend underpin over the period April 2016 ~ March 2019 is not met.

The award may be raduced by an amount proportional to the percentage decrease in dividend in the event of a decline of up to 50%. If the
decline exceeds 50%, the Remuneration Committee will use its discretion to determine the proportion of the award that shall vest. In such
circumstances not more than 50% of the award will vest.

Dividend cover must be maintained in a specific range aver the three-year measurement period, The Committee retains discretion to reduce
the vesting of awards as appropriate should dividend cover be outside this range.

CEO One-aff Transformational Incentive Award — update on objectives and performance against objectives
This yzar also marked the final full financial year of performance under the one-off TIA related to the sales of the Dairies business, granted to
Mark Allen in December 2014 and which is due to vest later this year.

This award supported the retention and motivation of Mark Allen through this critical period in which his knowledge and experience were vital
1o a successful outcome. In line with the commitment made by the Committee in the 2014/15 Remuneration report and following the
comprehensive update provided in last year's report, we have set out detailed information on the performance against the objectives sat under
this plan aver the past year, which were split into three categories as shown below.
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1. Managing the competition approval process relating to the sale of the Dairies business

The sale of the Dairies business required strong leadership and a high level of personal involvermnent from a chief executive officer who is an
acknowledged leader in the sector. Mark Allen was set a number of objectives relating to the success of negotiations and discussions with
Muller and the UK Competition and Markets Autharity ({CMA’} whilst managing the business as a whole through a period of extended
uncertainty.

Mark Allen performed exceptionally in securing the successfut completion of the sale to Mlller in December 2015, positioning Dairy Crest as a
branded and added-value business, focussed on growth, cash generation and enhanced sharsholder value. In 2015/16 the Committee
determined that all objectives in this category had been successfully cempleted. Full details are disclosed in the 2015/16 Remuneration report.

2. Appropriately reshaping the Group
A number of TIA objectives were built arcund a strategic review of the Group following the sale of the Dairies business, implementation of
associated structural changes and the delivery of significant cost savings.

Mark has led the crganisational review process carried out over the past year covering all areas of the Group and his leadership was
instrumental in identifying both immediate cost savings and opportunities for the business to leverage frem this and facilitate further cost
savings in the future.

The initial part of this work was an crganisational design activity which was undertaken immediately post the sale of the Dalries business,
covering all functions, that streamlined the Group and delivered a management and administrative structure template appropriate for a smaller
business. Mark’s leadership of this work and the principles he established on which it was built, were integral to its success. He personally led
the review of outputs and ultimately sanctioned the agreed changes which were critical to delivery and implementaticn in this area throughcut
2016/17.

in addition, recognising the need to build a systems and process infrastructure suited to the post Dairies business, Mark established a major
project under the title ‘Evolve’ that commenced in 2016 and has already set a clear roadmap for systems and process development for all
parts of the business over the next 2 years. Starting with financial systems, this project will deliver change within supply chain, demand,
business systems and HR, resulting in highly effective systems, improved processes and reduced costs.

As a consequence of the above, the Company is on-target to achieve savings of £56m and will be in excellent shape to deliver continued value
o our customers and sharehclders through streamtined, improved ways of working and further cost reductions.

3. Establishing a successful future business
The TiA performance period is three quarters complete and considerable progress has been made across the business.

Brands continue to develop through praduct innovation {Cathedral City spreadable and snack bar, Frylight avocada), packaging changes
{Clover, Cathedral City and Frylight all had packaging refreshes), advertising (Cathedral City and Frylight were both advertised on TV and other
brands were advertised through other channels) and promoticnal activity.

Mark's objectives also required the delivery of new product streams to enhance the profitability of the business and develop sharehotder
returns. He led the project that has made significant progress in delivering both the highly demanding demineralised whey infant formula
quality standard and the necessary quality and tonnage targets for GOS. Mark has overseen the governance process, maintained focus and
control over a highly complex, multi-dimensional project, whilst also leading the key commercial relationships with our partner Fonterra.
2016/17 has also seen further investment in the research into the uses of GOS outside the infant formuta market. The research partnership
with Danisco Animal Nutrition, part of DuPont, will help the Company understand the beneficial effects of GOS on poultry and swine
production, building on the positive academic research already undertaken earlier in the year.

In respect of succession planning, Mark has identified the critical roles for which there may be potential future gaps and overseen a thorough
succession planning process to secure the future skills required by the business. In additicn, he has conducted a full review of Executive
Director development, adopting a range of development processes and engaging specialist independent support, using the output of this to
inform devetopment discussions and plans for the Directors. Mark has also reviewed the senior management population more generally,
developing plans to refresh the talent pool where necessary.

Mark has sponsored and personally led an intensive employee engagement process including a fult Group roadshow to which every empioyee
was invited and a refresh of the Group’s Vision and Values. This was a key activity post the sale of the Dairies business in ensuring employeas
were engaged throughcut this peried of significant change but, more impertantly, remained informed and cormmitted to the future plans and
growth of the Company.

Mark Allen has delivered outstanding progress to date with regard to the objectives set under the TIA. Mark’s exceptional performance in
delivering the sale of the Dairies business and his subsequent work in transforming Dairy Crest has resulted in the Company delivering
industry leading margins of 16% compared to ¢.5% before the disposal of the Dairies business. Dairy Crest is in a strong position to deliver
sustained future growth.

In the view of the Remuneration Committee, Mark has deliverad on, and in some cases exceeded, the targets set to date, A significant

proportion of the business transformation that the TIA was designed to engender and recognise has now been implemented and delivered.
Givan the level of positive progress and achievements against the TIA objectives, vesting at the maximum end is currently anticipated.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Shareholder dilution

In accaordance with the guidelines set by the Investment Association (1A), the Remuneration Committee can satisty awards under all its share
plans with new issue shares or shares issued from treasury up to a maximum of 10% of its issued share capital in a ralling 10 year period to
employees under all its share plans. Within this 10% limit, the Company can only igsue (as newly issued shares or from treasury) 5% of its
issued share capital to satisfy awards under discretionary or executive plans. Currently, awards over shares equaling 7.9% of the issued share
capital have been made under share plans during a rolling 10 year perfod, with awards over shares equalling 2.7% under discretionary or
axecutive schemes.

Statement of Director’s shareholdings and share interests - subject to audit

Executive Directors are required to build a shareholding in the Cornpany equivalent to 200% of salary and to this end are required to retain
50% of net proceeds from share plans and deferred bonus share awards until that shareholding is achieved. Shareholdings exclude unvested
options under the LTISF and inciude unvested deferred shares granted to Executive Directors as part payment of bonuses and unvested LTAP
awards. Mark Allen and Torm Atherton have satisfiad the shargholding reguirement. Adam Braithwaite has not met the requirements and will
continue to grow his shareholding.

The interests of the Directors at the end of the year in the ordinary share capital of the Company were as follows:

Number
of shares
owned
outright Vested but Deferred Total
{including unexercised Unvested Unvested Unvested Unvested annuat interest as
connected LTISP 2012  LTAP 2013 LTAP 2014 LTAP 2015 LTAP 2016 Unvested bonus at 31 March
Director persons) shares’ shares" shares ™ shares ™ shares TIA shares™ shares* SAYEY 2017¢
M Alien 170,865 40,684 90,530 92,324 77,487 66,765 262,374 39,241 4,336 844,567
T Atherton 5,097 5488 35,003 48,373 44,909 42038 - 14,753 4,787 199,448
A Braithwaite - - 14,767 18,059 15,418 14,477 - - 4,336 G7.057
A Carr-lLocke 2,000 - - - - - - - - 2,000
R Macdonald 1,000 - - - - - - - - 1000
8 Alexander 1,000 - - - - - - - - 1.000
3 Farr 4,485 - - - - - - - - 4,465

i Vested but unexerciged L TISF 2012 {nif cost share oplions)

i Long term Alignment Plan 2013 inil cost sharg options): The period for ihe dividend underpin condition endad on 31 March 2016. 50% of awards will vest on
15 August 2017 and 50% will vest on 15 August 2018. Amourits shown include grant and options related to accrued dividends to the date of this Report

il Long term Alignment Plan 2014 (il cost share options): The pearied for the dividend underpin condition ended on 31 March 201/. 50% of awards will vest on
16 December 2018 ang 50% will vest on 16 Dacember 2019. Amounts shown inchude grant and options related to accrued dividends 1o the date of this Beport

v Long term Alignmert Plan 2015 (nil cost share options): The period for the dividend underpin condition will erd on 31 March 2018, 50% of awards will vest on 26 May
2019 and 50% will vest on 26 May 2020, Amounts shown include grant and options related to accrued dividends to tne date of this Report

v Long term Alighrent Blan 2016 it cost share optionsl The perad far the dividend underpin condition will end on 31 Margh 2019, 50% of awards will vest on 3 June
2020 and 50% will vest on 3 June 2021, Amounts shown include grant and options related o accrued owidends to the date of this Repart

vi One-off transfermational award to the CEQ [nil cost share options): The perfarmance perod will end 23 December 2017 and awards will vest thereaftar. Amounts
shown include grant and options refated to accrued dividends to the date of this Repart

vii Deferred bonus scheme (nif cost share options)

viit Save As You Eam Scheme 2014 (cost options). The exercise price for these optiors is 376 pence per share and the exercise period is 9/2017 - 2/2018. There are no
applicable performance conditiors
Save As You Earn Scheme 2016 [cost options). "he exercise price for these optiors 1s 463 pence per share and the exercise period 1g 9/2019 - 272020, Thara are ho
applicable performance canditions

ix Unvested TIA shares and SAYE are not considered when calculating sharenolding requirements

There have been no changes in Directors’ shareholdings between 31 March 2017 and 17 May 2017

Gain on exercise of share options

Number of optichs Market value at exercise Gain on exercise of share
Director _ exercleed  Optionexerciseprics  daefs  optonsfs
M Allen Nil Nil Nil Nil
TAberon N W
;Eraitr\walle - ;JI—; - I;Tk S [:‘T‘ T W S
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Performance graph and table
The graph below sets out for the eight years ended 31 March 2017 the total shareholder return of Dairy Crest Group plc and of the FTSE 250
index (excluding investment companies) of which the Company is a constituent member.

Dairy Crest - Total Shareholder Returns for £100 invested
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The table below sets out CEQ pay over the same period.

CEO pay 2009/10 201011 2011112 2012113 2013/14 2014415 2015/16 201617
Total remuneration 1,018 888 804 837 1,247 951 1,438 1,344
(£'000s)

Annual bonus {% max) 4% 54% 50% 52.5% 81.7% 18.8% 45% 18.8%
Long term incentive 0% 0% Q% 0% 23.5% 20.8% 89%"* 899"
{% max)

i

This figure represerts the LTAP 2013 award {as shown in the single figure table) as a percentage of the maximum annual award under this plan. The vesting penod for
this award has not yet been completed - 50% will vest on 15 August 2017 and 50% will vest on 15 August 2018

" This figure represerts the LTAP 2014 award fas shown in the single figure table) as a percentage of the maximum annual award under this plan. The vesting period far
this award has not yet been completed — 50% will vest on 16 December 2018 and 50% will vest on 16 December 2019

Percentage change in CEOQ’s remuneration

The table below sels out the percentage change in the CEQ's salary, benefits and bonus between 2015/16 and 2016/17, compared with the
percentage change in the average of each of these components of pay for those salaried members of the clerical, administrative, supervisory
and management population allocated to Hay bands. This group comprises 42% of the total workforce, and has been identified as the most
appropriate for this table in view of the comparable nature of employment and incentive arrangements:

Salary Taxable benefits Bonus
201617 2015/16 % change | 2016/17 2015/16 % change |2016/17 2015116 % change
CEOQ (£'000s) 545 523 4% 33 32 3% 102 235 -57%
Average pay for wider 439 47 5% 6.8 5.1 33% 1.5 4.8 -67%
employee population
[£'000s)

Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below ilustrates the relative importance of spend on pay at Dairy Crest, compared with distributions made to sharehclders in
2015/16 and 2016/17:

£m 2016717 2015/16 % change
Employee remuneration 41.2 44.3 -7%

costs

Dividends 31 30.0 4%,
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LTAP 2017 award

The award to be made under the LTAP 2017 is based on achievements over the pricr year against the pre-grant performance scorecard,
comprising measures aligned to Dairy Crest's strategic priorities. This award will be granted later in 2017, Qutcomes against the 2017
scorecard are summarised in the second table below and detall on cutcames against the targets set and the context in which declsions were
made is included thereafter.

The outcome against the LTAP scorecard may fall between 0% and 100%, based on assessment of performance against each measure (as
determined by the Committee) and the weighting attributable to each in the table below. This scorecard percentage outcome then determines
the proportion of the award that will be granted, in the range of 50% to 90% of salary for Exacutive Directors. As set out in the approved
Policy, in any year, in the event of performance below a certain threshold or where the performance against the scorecard for that year is
determined not to be a falr reflection of the overall performance of the business, the Committee may determine that no award will be granted.
The maximum opportunity under the LTAP [90% of salary) is lowar than the typical long-term ingentive level in the market, whilst certainty of
payout for participants is higher.

Director Level af award % of salary Face value £°000s End of vesting pericd
i —
Mark Allen 67.2% 376 5G% 4 years after thg award date
50% & years after the award date
Tom Atherton 67.2% 228 50% 4 years after the award date
S0% 5 years after the award date
Adarmn Braithwaite 67.2% 171 50% 4 years after the award date
50% 5 years after the award date

The nurmber of shares granted will be calculated in accordance with the rules approved by shareholders at the 2013 AGM.

Determination of 2017 grant:

Measure KPI Alignment with strategy Weighting Qutcome
—
Prafit Adjusted EBITDA target Delivery of profitis core to the business and  30% 0%
suppaorts the pragressive dividend palicy
—
Balance Sheet Efficiency | ROCE targst whilst maintaining net debt/ Ensuring acceptable return on investment 20% 0%
EBITDA in the 1-2 range within a susiainable level of gearing
Corporate Activity & Delivery of annual cost savings targets Ensuring cost savings are delivered an an 15% 15%
Efficiencies On-going basis
Oeidivery of synergies and return on Ensuring that magor acquisitions/
investment following acquisitions ar divestments deliver against relevant
successful divestments {wihen relevant) synergy and returmn targets
Brand Growth Key brand value growth over one and three  Brana growth is key to longer term 20% 14%
years versus markets n which they operate  business growth
Revenue Growth through | Achieve each year tre targeted propartion Innavation is a key driver of productivity and  10% 10%
Innovation of revenue from innovation N previcus three  growth
years
Corporate Responsibllity | Range of meincs alignea to the CR pledges  Dalivering results in a sustainable way 5% 4%
including improvements ‘n accident which enhances reputation and
incident rates, reduced CO, emissions and  stakeholder engagement
mporoved/mantaned BITC score
Total 43%
For Executive
Directors this
corverts W an
award of 67.2% of
salary
1, Profit Weighting: 30%. Outcome: 0%

EBITDA for 2016/17 was below the target threshold due to an extended commissioning period in refation to the demineralised whey and GOS

plants at Davidstow.

2. Balance sheet efficiency

Weighting: 20%. Outcome: 0%

The KP\ is targeted ROCE (operating profit/average operating assets) with an additional reguirement that gearing should be between 1.0 and
2.0 tirmes. With regard to ROGE, the long-term objective is to maintain this above 12% with individual targets and ranges set each year by

reference to budget.

68  Dairy Crest Annual Beport 2077




For 2016/17 a stretching vesting target of 15.8% ROCE was set. A ROCE of 15.4% was achieved which was just below the vesting level but
above the ROCE outcome in 2015/16. In addition, year-end gearing (net debt: EBITDA) was abaove the upper end of the target range of
between 1.0 and 2.0 times. Given both the ROCE target and the geanng range were not met, no award was made under this element.

3. Corporate activity & efficiencies Weighting: 15%. Outcome: 15%
The KPlis targeted full year effect of cost efficiency projects initiated in any year and delivery of synergies and returns on acquisitions. Where
there is no acquisition activity, the cost efficiency projects can deliver the full 15% award and this was the case in 2016/17.

In 2016/17 success was achieved in removing costs with corporate costs below budget and procurement savings ahead cf budget. Overall
there was a reduction in Group administrative expenses of £5.4m.

With regard to efficiency projects, considerable progress has been made in defining a revised IT strategy which will deliver cost savings and
improved ways of working.

On the basis of this performance it was decided that a 15% payout for this element was merited.

4. Brand growth Weighting: 20%. Outcome: 14%

Key brand performance was broadly strong in the year. The Remuneration Committee considered robust guantitative |RI data for ail brands in
reviewing this element. Clover and Frylight grew share over 12 months as did Country Life spreadable. Cathedral City lost value share but
strengthened in the second half of the year. Over a three year timeframe, Cathedral City, Clover and Frylight have all grown value share.

On this Dasis an award of 14% was agreed.

5. Innovation Weighting: 10%. Outcome: 10%

The Group's target for innovation is that 10% of revenue should be from product innovation over the last three years. In the year ended 31
March 2017 preduct innovation drove the percentage of key brand revenue from innovation in the preceding three years to 13%. The
development of Cathedral Gity spreadable, launch of cheese snack bars and the continued growth of Clover with no artificial ingredients all
suppoerted this result.

The Remuneration Committee decided on this basis an award of 10% shouid be made.

6. Corporate responsibility Weighting: 5%. Outcome: 4%

Our 2016/17 safety record achieved the best performance yet with zero reportable accidents in the year. Customer complaints generally have
been low across our brands, albeit we did see some increase in cheese complaints. With regard to energy usage, this improved and better
than target performance was achieved as did carbon emissions which were 13% below last year's level. No employee survey was conducted
during 2016/17 however, considerable effort was put into maintaining employee engagement via enhanced communications including & fult
employee roadshow to which all employees were invited,

The Remuneration Committee assessad that corporate responsibility performance had generally been better than target, especially in the
area of health and safety and a payout of 4% was merited.

Dividend underpin
The level of vesting of this award may be reduced to the extent that a dividend underpin over the period April 2017 — March 2020 is not met.

The award may be reduced by an amount proportional to the percentage decrease in dividend in the event ¢f a decline of up to 50%. If the
dedline exceeds 50%, the Remuneration Committee will use its discretion to determine the proportion of the award that shall vest. In such

circumstances not more than 50% of the award will vest,

Cividend cover must be maintained in a specific range over the three-year measurament period. The Committee retains discretion to reduce
the vesting of awards as approgpriate should dividend cover be outside this range.

Statement of implementation of Policy in the following financial year
The Directors' Remuneration Policy will be implemented for the 2017/18 financial year as follows:

Base salary - £'000s

Director 2016 2017
Mark Allen 540 560
Tom Atherton 340 348
Adam Braithwaite 255 262

Mark Allen’s base salary increased on 1 January 2017 and he will not be eligibie for a further increase until 1 July 2018. Base salary increases
for Tom Atherton and Adam Braithwaite will be in line with Increases across the general workforce and will be effective from 1 July 2017,
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Non-executive Directors’ fees - £'000s

Role Pre 1 December 2016 Effective 1 December 2016
Non-executive Chairman 15E 155

Non-executive Director (base) 38 50

Audit Committee Chair +5 +10

Corporate Responsibility Ghair +5 +10

Remuneration Committee Chair +5 +10

Senior Independent Director +5 +10

The Board noted that Non-executive Directors’ fees had not been increased since 2008 and were below the level of comparable roles within
companies of similar size and complexity. Further to a review of market levels and recognising the need to recruit appropriately skilled and
experienced new Nan-executive Directors, the Chief Executive recommended to the Board that the fees were increased as above. It was
therefore determined that the fees be increased, effective from 1 December 2016,

Bonus measures
Maxirmum opportunity for Executive Directors under the 2017/18 bonus remains at 100% of salary.

Recognising the importance of reducing debt, the weightings under the bonus plan have been reviewed and the proportion of 2017/18 bonus
relating to free cash flow generation will increase. Performance will therefore be assessed against the following measures:

» Profit before tax — 50% of award

» Fres cash flow — 25% of award

» Personal objectives — 25% of award

The targets for the 2017/18 annual bonus measures are considered commercially sensitive because of the information that this provides to the
Company's competitors. The targets and payout against them will be disclosed in the 2017/18 report. Categories in respect of the personal
objectives include establishing new revenue streams and acquisition opportunities for Mark Allen, further managing pension liability, delivering
systems change projects and manzaging the debt position for Tom Atherton and brand development, sales growth and establishing new sales
channels for Adam Braithwaite.

Matus and clawback provisions will cperate in respact of the 2017/18 bonus. The malus provision will apply to the deferred share awards up to
vesting. The clawback provision will apply to the cash award for three years from the date of payment. Clawback may be operated in the event
of gross misconduct on the part cf the empioyee and/or material misstatement in Cormpany or Group financial statements.

Long term incentive plan
No grant of LTIP will be made in 2017. The first grant under this new incentive structure will be made in 2018, subject to approval of the Policy
and to approval by shareholders of the LTIP.

Sharesave Scheme

The Sharesave Scheme is open to all eligible employees and full time Executive Directors. Employees enter into an approved savings contract

over a three year term to make monthly contributions up to an overall maximum of £500 per month. At the end of the term, members have the
right to buy ordinary shares in the Company at a price fixed at the time of the option grant. Opticns may not be granted at less than 80% of the
market price at the time of grant.

Consideration by the Directors of matters relating to remuneration

Members of the Remuneration Committee

The Board has appointed a Remuneration Committee of independent Non-executive Directors of the Company. During the year the
Committee consisted of:

* Richard Macdonald (Chairman)

* Andrew Carr-Locke

e Sue Farr

Stephen Alexander in his capacity as Company Chairman and Mark Allen, Chief Executive attended the Remuneration Committee by
invitation, Members ¢t the Remuneration Committes have no potential conflicts of Interest arising from cross-directorships and they are not
involved in the day-to-day running of the Company.

The Committee’s activities during the financial year

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the broad Policy with respect to senior executives’ salary and other remuneration. it
specifically determines, within remuneration principles agreed with the Beoard, the totai remuneration package of each Executive Director and
reviews with the Chief Executive the remuneration packages for other senior execulives. A copy of the terms of reference of the Commitiee
can be found on the Company's wehsite, www.dairycrest.co.uk
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In 2016/17, the Committee met six times. Attendance at meetings by members of the Commiittes is shown on page 31. The Committee
discussed, amongst other matters, the following:

Meeting Agenda items discussed

May 2016 Approval of 2015/16 Borus, LTAP outcomes

Approval of 2016/17 Benws rules, 2016/17 Bonus targets and LTAP targets
Executive Directors’ Remuneration

Pension changes for Senior Managemert

Approval of Remunerat.on Report

July 2016 Remuneration of new =xecutive Director

Movember 2016 Review of Remuneration Adwisors

Executive Directors' Remuneration

December 2016 Remuneration Policy Review

January 2017 Review Terms of Reference

Remuneration Poiicy Review

March 2017 Rewview of potential bonus and lcng-term incentive oucomes
Rermuneration Policy update

Review draft of D rectors' Remuneration Report

Advisers to the Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Cammittee has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP {'Pw(C') to provide advice on executive remuneration. PwC has
provided such advice historically and was originally appointed through a competitive tendering process.

Work undertaken by PwC for the Committee included updates to the Remuneration Commities on remuneration and governance trends ang
market practice, providing remuneration benchmarking information for Executive Directors and advice in respect of the review of the
Remuneration Palicy, In this financial year, PwC was paid £89,000. This is based on an agreed fee for business as usual support with
additional work charged at hourly rates.

During the year, PwC also provided other consultancy services to the Group, including tax, pensions, network security and structuring work.,

The Remuneration Committee reviews the independence and objectivity of the advice it receives from PwC at a private meeting held in May
each year. it is satisfied that PwC is providing objective and robust professional advice. PwC is a member of the Remuneration Consuftants
Group and has signed up to that group’s Code of Conduct.

The Remuneration Committee also received materials, assistance and advice on remuneration policy from Robert Willeck, the Group HR
Director of Dairy Crest. The Chief Executive attends all meetings by invitation, but is nct present at any discussions relating specifically to his
own remuneration.

Statement of voting at General Meeting
The table below shows the advisary vote on the 2015/16 remuneration report at the 2016 AGM, and the latest advisory vote on the
remuneration policy at the 2014 AGM.

Resolution Number of votes cast For Against Withheld
Approval of Directors' 75,832,012 59,996,872 5,835,040 489,202
Remuneration Report

(2016 AGM) 92.31% 7.69%

Approval of Directors' 70,936,887 68,098,052 2,837,335 44,478
Remuneration Policy

(2014 AGM) 96.00% 4,00%

The Remuneration Committee noted the cutcome of the advisory vote at the 2016 AGM and remains committed to an open dialogue with
investors, with engagement planned through the periocd ahead of the AGM.

The Directors’ Remuneration report from pages 41 to 81 has been approved by the Board and is signed on its behalf by

Richard Macdonald Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
17 May 2017
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Dairy Crest Group ple (Company') is the holding company of the
Dairy Crest Group of Companies (‘Group’). The Directors' report
for the year ended 31 March 2017 comprises the Strategic report
found at pages 2 to 27, the delails of Directors at pages 28 to 29
and the Corporate Governance report at pages 30 to 61. The
above-menticned sections are expressly incorporated by reference
into this, the Directors’ report.

Geing concern: The Group and Company's busingss activities,
together with factors ikely to affect future development,
performance and position are set out in the Strategic report from
pages 2 to 21. The financial position, cash flows, liquidity position
and borrowing facilities are described in the financial review on
pages 12 to 15 {which alsc form part of the Strategic report). In
addition, Notes 31 and 32 to the Accounts include the Group and
Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its
capital; its financial risk management cbjectives; details of its
financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to
credit risk and liquidity risk. As highlighted in Note 31, the
Company and Group meet day-to-day working capital
requirements through syndicated revolving cradit facilities and cash
to ensure that forecast net porrowings plus reasonable operating
headroom are covered by committed facilities which mature at
least 12 months after the year end. At 31 March 2017, effective
headroom was £112.0 milion. There were no breaches of bank
covenants in the year ended 31 March 2017 and projections do not
indicate any breaches in the foreseeable future. Having reviewed
and taken intc account Going Concern and Liquidity Risk:
Guidance for Directors of UK Companias 2009, published by the
Financial Reporting Council in October 2009, the Directors are
satisfied that the Company and the Group have adequate
rasources to continue operating for the foreseeable future. For this
reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the financial statements.

Viability statement: In accordance with provision C.2.2 of the UK
Corporate Governance Code 2014, the Directors have assessed
the viability of the Group over a three year period. The Directers
have determined that a three year period to 31 March 2020 is an
appropriate period cver which to provide its viability statemeant.
This is the period reviewed by the Board in the strategic planning
process where assumptions are made around future growth for the
existing business, new market opportunities, investment needs
and funding reguirements of the Group. A robust financial mode) of
the Group is built by product and the metrics tor the Group's KPis
and bank covenants are reviewsd.

Taking into account the Group’s current position and potential
impact of the principal risks documented on pages 16 and 17 of
the Annual Report and Accounts, the Directors confirm that they
have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to
continue to operate and meet its liabilities as they fall due aver the
period to 31 March 2020.

In making this statement the Board carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Group, inciuding those
that would threaten its business model, future performance,
solvency or liquidity. The Board considers all of the principal risks,
the likelihood of crystallisation, the potential net profit impact and
the mitigating controls. In assessing the impact of a risk on the
viability of the Group, the Board has considered the potential
impact that the crystallisation of a severe but plausible risk may
have on the Group meeting its bank covenants.
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The assumption hag been made that the Group will be able to
source an appropriate level of funding following the cessation of
the £80 millicn bank facility in October 2018,

Future developments: Future developments are described in the
Strategic report at pages 2 1o 21.

Group results: The Group’s consolidated income statement is
set out on page 70 and shows a profit for the financial year of
£38.3 million compared with a loss of £113.0 million in 2015/16.

Dividends: The Directors are recommending a final dividend of
16.3p {2015/18: 16.0p) per ordinary share which, if approved, will
be paid to members whose hame appears on the register at the
close of business on 7 July 2017. Tegether, the final dividend and
interim dividend (6.2p per ordinary share paid on 28 January 2017)
make total dividends for the year of 22.5p per ordinary share
{2015/2016: 22.1p}.

Directors: Details of the Directors of the Company are set out at
pages 28 10 29.

Directors' interests: Details of the Directors’ intergsts in the
shares of the Company, including those of their immediate familes,
appear in the Directors’ Remuneration report on page 56. The
Company maintaing liabifity insurance for its Oirectors and officers
and those of its subsidiaries. The Directors, Company Secretary
and other officers of the Company and those of its subsidiaries are
indermnified by the Company to the extent permitted by company
law, That indemnity provision has been in place during the year
and remains in force.

Disclosure of information to the Auditor: Each Director
confirms that as far as he or she is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company's external auditor, EY, is
unaware and that each Director has taken all steps he or she ought
o have taken as a Director to make himsaif or herself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the external auditor
is aware of that information.

Political Donations: Nc poiitical donations ar expenditures werg
made during the year endad 31 March 2017.

Financial instruments: Information relating to financial
instruments is at pages 113 to 117,

Post balance sheet events: Maturity of Fixed Coupen Loan
Notes - on 4 April 2017 the Group repaid €107 millian (£9.2 million
Sterling equivalent) and 2.8 million of 2007 fixed coupon loan
notes on their maturity.

Research and development: Relevant information is set out in
the Strategic report on pages 10 to 11.

Employees: We remain committed to empioyee involvement
throughout the business. Employees are kapt well informed an the
perfarmance and strategy of the Group through a variety of
communication tocls, including personal briefings, regular
meetings, and the Group’s intranet, The Chief Executive and the
Executive Committee have held roadshows and employee lunches
at each site during the year. All employees are mnvited to attend
these forums to receive an update on the business’s performance
and its prigrities and to ask any questions.



The Group's principles of equal opportunities mean that the
training, career development and promgetion of disabled persons,
should as far as possible, be the same as for other employees.

The Group has well-established consultation and negotiating
arrangements with established trade unions.

Share schemes are a leng established and successful part of our
total reward package, encouraging and supporting employee share
ownership. Details of the savings-related share opticn scheme
{‘Sharesave Scheme') are set out in Note 27 to the financial
statements on pages 106 tc 107,

Issued Share Capital: The authorised and issued share capital of
the Company together with details of movements in the Company’s
issued share capital during 2016/17 are shown in Note 25 to the
financial statements at page 105. At the date of this Directors’
report there were 141,072,297 ordinary shares of 25 pence each in
issue, all of which are fully paid up and gucted on the London
Steck Exchange with an aggregate nominal value of £35,268,074.

Rights and obligations attaching to shares: The holders of
ordinary shares are entitled to receive the Company’s Report and
Accounts; to attend and speak at General Meetings of the
Company; 10 appoint proxies and to exercise voting rights. To be
effective, electronic and paper proxy appointments and voting
instructions must be received at the Company’s registered office,
or such other place in the United Kingdom specified in the relevant
notice of meeting, not later than 48 hours before a General
Meeting. None of the shares carry any special rights with regard to
control of the Company. There are no known arrangements under
which finangcial rights are held by a person other than the holder of
the shares and no known agreements con restrictions on share
transfers or on voting rights. Shares acquired through company
share schemes and plans rank pari passu with the shares in issue
and have no special rights,

Purchase of shares: The Directors have the authority to
purchase up to 14,072,690 million of the Company's ordinary
shares. The authority remains valid until the AGM in 2017,

Transfer of shares: Subject to applicable laws and regulaticns,
there are no restrictions on transfer or limitations on the holding of
any class of shares and no requirements for pricr approval of any
transfers.

Share schemes: Details of the employee Sharesave Scheme are
set cut in Note 27 to the financial statements. The Company has a
discretionary employees’ benefit trust, The Dairy Crest Employess’
Share Qwnership Ptan Trust (ESOPT’) funded by gifts to acquire
shares for the potential benefit of employees. Details of shares held
by the ESOPT at 31 March 2017 are set cut on page 1G6. During
the year shares have been refeased Dy the ESORT in respect of
share schemes for employees. The trustee of the ESOPT has the
power 1o exercise all voting rights in relation to any investmeant
(including ordinary shares) held within the ESOPT.

Issue of shares: At the AGM on 19 July 2018, shareholders
renewed the authority for the Board under the Articles to exercise
all powers of the Company to allot relevant securities up to an
aggregate nominal amount of £23,454,480,

Purchase of own shares: Atthe AGM cn 19 July 2016,
shareholders granted the Company authority to make market
purchases of up to 14,072,690 of its issued ordinary shares of 25
pence each, provided that (i) the minimum grice which may be paid
far any such ordinary share is 25 pence (exclusive of expenses and
appropriate taxes) and (i) the maximum price iexclusive of
expenses and appropriate taxes) which may be paid for any such
crdinary share shall be not more than 5% above the average of the
middle market prices for an ordinary share in the Company, as
taken from the Londcn Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of purchase.
The Company did not exercise this authority during the year and
made no market purchases.

Governance

Substantial shareholdings: As far as the Company is aware, the
only holder of more than 3% of, or 3% of voting rights attributatle
to, the Company's issued ordinary share capital en 31 March 2017,
is indicated in the table below:
Notified
percentage of
Notified No. of issued share
shares capital
Black Rock, Inc.

7,729,917 5.47

No disclosable changes in interests in the share capital of the
Company have been nctified to the Company between 1 April 2017
to 17 May 2017.

Articles of association: Changes to the Articles must be
approved by the shareholders in accordance with applicable
legislation. The Articles are available on our website.

Significant agreements - change of control: There are a
number of agreements to which the Cempany or its subsidiaries is
a party that take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of controi
of the Company following a takecver bid. Details of the significant
agraements of this kind are as follows:

Borrowing facilities — Non-compliance with the change of control
clauses in the Group's funding arrangements, or failure to reach
agreement with the parties on revised terms, would require any
acquirer to put in place replacement facilities.

Supply agreements — Certain supply agreements contain
provisions whereby on a change of control of the Group, they may
be terminable. Accordingly, a change of contro! of the Group could
resutt in the need for the Group to source alternative supply for
certain materials or services.

No compensation for loss of office: The Company does nct
have agreements with any Director or employee that wouid provide
compensation for loss of office or employment resulting from a
takeover, except that provisions of the Company’s share schemes
and plans may cause options and awards granted to employees
under such schemes and plans to vest on a takeover.
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Pensions: The Company employs only the Executive Directors.
Most empioyees in the Group are employed by the Company’s
main subsidiary, Dairy Crest Limited. Relevant companies within
the Group became subject to the automatic enrolment regulations
on 1 April 2013. Depending on their grade, effective from 1 April
2013 employees either enter the aute enrolled pension
arrangements for the Group which are provided by Zurich of into
the Group’s defined contribution pension scherme also provided by
Zurich, The Group’s defined benefit pension fund is closed to
future accrual and 1s now in run-off. It remains under the control of
a corporate trustee, Dairy Crest Pension Trustees Limited, the
board of which comprises four directors nominated by Dairy Crest
Limited and three directors elected by all members. Its assets are
held separately from those of the Group and can only be used in
accordance with the rules of the fund.

Greenhaouse gas emissions: The Company is required to report
annually cn the guantity of carbon dioxide equivalent emissicns in
tonnes emitted as a result of activities for which It is responsible.
Dstails of our emissions during the year ended 31 March 2017 and
the actions which the Group has taken to reduce them are set cut
on pages 22 to 23 and form part of the Directors’ report
disclosures.

Directors’ responsibility statement: The responsibifity
statement required under DTR 4.1 is set out on page 65.

Branch offices outside the UK: The Company has no branch
offices.

Annual general meeting: The AGM wilt be held at Eversheds
Sytherland (International) LLF, Cne Wood Street, London, EC2Y
7WS on Tussday, 18 July 2017 at 12pm. The Naotice of Meeting will
be issued separately, together with details of the business to be
considered and explanatory notes relating to each of the
resolutions being proposed.

Auditor: The Group has appointed Deloitte LLP as the external
auditor for the year commencing 1 April 2017. A resolution to
appoint Deloitte L LP as the Group’s audiicr will be put to the
forthcoming AGM. The Group's current auditor, EY, will retire by
rotation.

The Directors' report from pages 62 10 64 has been approved by
the Board and is signed on its behalf by

Robin Miller Company Secrstary & General Counsel
17 May 2017

Dairy Crest Group plc
Company No: 3162887
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

Annual Accounts

The Directors are responsitle for preparing the Annual Report and
the Group's and Company’s financial statements in accordance
with applicable laws and International Financial Reporting
Standards ('IFRSs’) as adopted by the EU.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the Group's
and Company’s financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and Company for
that period. In preparing the financial statements the Directors are
required to:

* present fairly the financial position, financial performance and
cash flows of the Group and Company;

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

present information, including accounting policies, in a manner
that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information;

state whether the financial statemments have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

state whether the financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with applicable UK accounting standards subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements; and

make judgements and estimates that are responsible and
prudent.

The Birectors have responsibiity for ensuring that the Group and
Company keep accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy their financial position and which enable the Directors te
ensure that the financial statements comply with relevant
legisiation. They have a responsibility for taking reasonable steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and of the Company to prevent
and detect fraud or other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for preparing a Strategic report,
Directors’ repart, the Directors’ Remuneration report and the
Corporate Governance report in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006 and applicable regulations.

A copy of the financial statements of the Group is placed on our
website at www.dairycrest.co.uk/investor relations. The Directors
are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate
and financial information included on the Group’s website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

DTR 4.1 Statement

Each of the Directors confirms that to the best of his or her

knowledge:

« the Group’'s 2017 Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a
whole, is fair and balanced and understandable, and provides
the information necessary to shareholders to assess the Group’s
position and performance, business model and strategy;

« the Group's and Company's financial statements which have
teen prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,
Financial Reporting Standard 101 ('FRS 101’) and UK accounting
standards give a true and far view of the assets, liabilities,
financial position and prcfit or loss ¢f the Group and the
Company included in the consolidation taken as a whale; and

s the Strategic report includes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and the position of the Group
and Company, included in the consolidation taken as a whole
together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that they face.

The Directors’ Responsibility Staternent has been aporoved by the
Board and is signed on its behalf by

Mark Allen Chief Executive

Tom Atherton Group Finance Director
17 May 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF DAIRY CREST GROUP plc

Our opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

The financial reporting framework that has been applied In their
preparation is applicable law and Internaticnal Financial Reporting

= Dairy Crest Group plo's Group financial staternents and Parent Standards ['tfFRSs’} as adopted by the European Union and, as
company financial staternents (the financial statements’) give a ragards the parent company financial statements, as applied in
true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

company's affairs as at 31 March 2017 and of the Group's profit

for the year then ended;

the Group financial statements have beear properly prepared in

Overview of our audit approach

; s Risks of material * Accounting for promotional experditure. including
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Unicn; misstatement the impact on revenue frecognition
* the parent company financial staternents have been properly » Classificalion of items as exceptional
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Audit scope * We have 3 full scope camponents where we have
Union as applied in accardance with the provisions of the parformed an audit of the financial riformation

Companigs Act 2006; and

+ The entities where we perfarmed full scope audit
proceduras accounted for 99% of profit before tax

« the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with adjusted for non-recurring exceptional items, 1005%
the requirements of the Companies Act 2008, and, as regards the of revenue and 100% of total assets
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the 1AS Regulation. Materiality * Overall Group maeriality of £3.0 milion which

What we have audited

represents 5% of proft before tax adjusted for
nen-recurring exceptional tems

Dairy Crest Group plc financial statements comprise:

Group Parent company

31 March 2017

|
Consolidated balance sheet as at Balance sheet as at 31 Margh 2017

Consolidated ncome statement for Statement of changes in eguity for
the year then ended the year then ended

Consolidated statement of Cash flow statement for the year then
camprehensive income for the year ended

then ended

Consatidated staternent of changes Related notes 1 to 36 to the financal
in equity for the year then ended staterments

Consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then endedi

Related notes 1 to 36 to the financial

staterments
Qur assessment of risk of material misstatement the audit tearm. In adaressing these risks, we have performed the
We identified the risks of matenal misstaternent described below as procedurés below which were designed in the context of the
those that had the greatest etfect on our overall audit strategy, the financial statements as a whole and, consequently, we do not
allocation of resourcas in the audit and the direction of the efforts of exprass any opinion on these individual areas.
I Risk Qur responsa to the risk Key abservations

communicated to the
Audit Commiitee

Accounting for promotional expenditure,
including the impact on revenus recognition

Refer tc the Audit Commuttee Rgport [page 34}
Accounting policies (page 76); ana Note 1 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements {page 821,

Revenue of £416.6 millien (2015/16 £422.3 milliory
{continuing) is recognised net of rebates and
digcourts, which comprise promotional expenses in
relation to agreed promotional activity and funding
with customers,

We tacusad o this a~ga given the significance of
promotional expendityre to the financial statemerts
and the subjectvity in determmning the promot:onal
expenditurs.

Risks includs:

* Promotional expenses could be recorded in the
wrong financial year and are incorrectly classified
in the Income statement,

* The methodology applied in calculatng the level of
promational accruals at 31 March 2017 is
nappropnate.

This risk wag present in the prior year.

Spaciflc procedures to address the fraud risk were: Based on our audit procedures,

* In assessing changes in key estimates and the Group's policy, we the methodology adopted in
assessed both the methodologies and rationale applied ir determining determining promotional
changes in approach from prior periods for risk of management expenditure netted agarst the
overrnde, We corroborated through an analysis of histarical settlements, | reverue recognised is

* We have corroborated the time frame for retaining unclaimed appropnate, and the year end
promotional accruals on the Group's balance sheet and the accrual balance is correctly state

appropratenass of the year end accrual,

* We evaluated tna desigr of controls in relation 1o the autherisation of
promational activity and the determination of year end promotional
ACCrudls.

* Wa tested on a sample basis year end promotional accruals and
obtained third party documentation to support the existence and
measdJrement of the accruals balance,

* We tested subsequent invoices and cash paid after the balance sheet
date la detest any unrecorded liabiliies in promotional aceruals and
re-evaluated the approach to determining accrual amounts at year end.

« We have tested a sample of invoices through the profit and foss
account during the year and verified to customer docurmantation.

= We verified the appropriatereass of management’s key assumptions,
including the determination of regemptior rates. Key assumplions were
reassessed based on observed changes in consumer behaviour in
relation to promaotional afferings ard the Group's experisnca of
payments made aganst accruals.

+ On a sample basis we have pertormed cut-off tesiing to confirm that
promational expenditure has been recognissd in the correct
accounting period.
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Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations
communicated to the
Audit Committee

Classification of items as exceptional

Refer to the Audit Comittee Repcrt (page 34;
Accounting policies fpage 76), arc Note 4 of the
Consclidated Financial Statements {page 85).

Darry Crest Group considers the separate reporting
of exceptional items helps to give users of the
accourts a better understarding of the underiying
aperational performance of the Greup where items
are matenai and one-off N naturs.

We have focused on the £8.8 million (2015/16
£133.4 millien) of total net centinuing and
discantinuing costs that are classifed as exceptional
in the current year,

Rigks ncluce:

= Inappropriate classfication of costs as exceptioral
ems

* Inconsistent treatment of exceptional items from
year to year

# Inappropriate quantification of exceptional items

docurmentation.

ot the disclosures.

This risk was presernt in the prior year.

* For a sample of items we confirmed that they were recorded in line with
the Group's policy for exceptional tems and that the policy has beer
applied consistently with prior years.

* |n particular, we corroborated the appropnateness of the methodaiogy
and ratonale supporting the calcJlation of duplicate -unning costs in
relaticn to the INitiation costs ‘or t~e demineralised whey powder and
GUS prajects, through vouching incremental expenditure to supporting

* We have reviewed the nature of both the incorme and expenditure tems
included wthin exceptionals and tested to supporting documentation
on a sample pasis. We specifically considered the level of transparency

We are satisfieq that these items
and their classification as
exceptional 1s appropriate and in
accordance with the Group's
accounting pclicy for exceptional
ems and consistent with the
treatment m prior years.

recognised in the current year.

In the prior year, our auditor's report included the following risks of material misstatement, We have explained below why they are no longer

Risk identified in 2015/16

Why we do not consider this an area of significant risk in 2016/17

Accounting for the disposal of the Dairies operations

We focused on this area given the material nature of the calculation of the loss on
disposal and the performance of the dairies operations for the period up to the
disposal in December 2015, which was repcried as a single ling item within
discontinued cperations in the income statement.

We do not consider that the level of discontinued operations this financial year
represents a key focus area of the audit.

Deferred tax asset recognition relating to the Dairies
losses.
itself,

year,

This risk was new in the 2015/16 auditor's report as the deferred tax asset relating
to the Dairies losses carried forward arose following the completion of the sale

Key judgements were made in the prior year pertaining to the deferred tax
recognition and those judgements have not changed significantly in 2016/17,
therefore this no longer presents a significant area of audit focus in the currant

Redemption rates do not reflect ongoing changes in
both consumer behaviour and the nature of
promational arrangements {previously included within
promational accruals)

Based on prior years’ audit experience, on reassessment, we do not consider
that there is a high likelihood of a material misstatement occurring in respect of
redemption rates.

The scope of our audit

Tailoring the scope

Qur assessment of audit rigk, our evaluation of materiality and our
allocation of performance materiality determine our audit scope for
each entity within the Group. Taken together, this enables us to form
an opinicn on the consolidated financial statements. We take into
account size, risk profile, the organisation of the Group and
effectiveness of Group-wide controls, changes in the business
environment and other factors such as recent Internal Audit results
when assassing the level of work to be performed at each entity.

In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial
statements, and to ensure we had adequate quantitative coverage of
significant accounts in the financial statements, of the 22 entities
within the Group, we have sefected all 2 trading entities and the
parent company, which represent the principal business units within
the Group. The remaining entities are either non-trading, holding or
dormant entities.

We performed an audit of the ccmplete financial information of 3
compenents (‘full scope components’) which were selected based
on their size or risk characteristics.

The entities for which we performed audit procedures accounted for
100% (2015/2016: 99%) of the Group's revenue and 99%
(2015/2016: 99%; of the Group’s profit before tax adjusted for
non-recurring exceptional items and 100% (2015/2016: 97%) of the
Group's total assets.

For the remaining entities within the Group, we performed other
procedures, including analytical review, testing of the clerical
accuracy of the consolidation to respond to any potential risks of
material misstatement of the Group financial statements and
enquiries of management to address the residual risk of material
misstaternent.

The audit of the entities within the Group is undertaken by one audit
team which is led by the senior statutory auditor.

There have not been any significant changes to the scope of our
audit from the prior year.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF DAIRY CREST GROUP plc CONTINUED

Qur application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the
audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements on the audit
and in forming our audit opinion.

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in
the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the
econamic decisions of the users of the financial statements.
Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and extent of
our audif procedures,

» We determinad mateniality for the Group to be £3.0 million
(2015/2016: £2.8 million}, which is 5% {2015/2016: 5%) of prafit
before tax for continuing operations adjusted for non-recurring
exceptional items. We believe that profit before tax for continuing
operations, adjusted for exceptional iterns, provides us with a
consistent year on year basis for determining maieriality and is the
most relevant perfarmance measure to the stakeholders of the
entity and one which management uses as a key performance
indicator when regorting to the market.

* Reported profit beforg tax from continuing
operations — £40.3 million (2015/2016:
£45.4 millicn)

Starting basis

* Non-recurring exceptional items —
increase basis by £19.1 million (2015/2016:
£11.3 million}

S —

Adjustments

* Take 5% of £69.4 miflion (2015/2016:
£56.7 million) adjusted profit before tax —

Materiality £3.0 million (2015/2016: £2.8 million)

Performance materiality

The application of materiality at the individual account or balance
level. ltis set at an amount to reduce to an appropriately low level the
probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceeds materiality.

* On the basis of our rigk assessments, together with our
assessment of the Group's overall control envirenment, our
judgement was that performance materiality was 75% (2015/2016:
75%) of our planning materiality, namely £2.2 million (2015/2016:
£2.1 million),

Audit work at component locations for the purpose of obtaining
audit caverage over significant financial statement accounts is
undertaken based on a percentage of total performance materiality.
The performance materiality set for each compeonent is based on the
relative scale and risk of the component to the Group as a whole
and our assessment of the risk of misstaterment at that component,
In the current year, the range of performancs materiality aliocated to
compchents was £2.2 miillion to £770,000 (2015/20186: £2.1 million to
£525,000 for all entities).
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Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstaternents are considered as
being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them
all uncorrected audit differences n excess of £160,000 (2015/2016:
£140,000, which is set at 5% of planning materiality, as well as
differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted
reporting on qualitative graunds,

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the
guantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in light of
other relovant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonagle
assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assassrment of:

+ whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group's
and the parent company’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed;

the reascnableness of significant accounting estimates mads by
the directors; and

» the overall presentation of the financial statements,

In addition, we read ali the financial and non-financial informatian in
the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited
financial statements and 1o identify any information that is apparently
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If
we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained moare fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Staternent
set out on page 65, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an
opinion on the financial statemants in accordance with applicable
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those
standards reqguire us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's
Ethical Standards for Audlitors,

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor's report and for ne other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or agsume rasponsibility to
anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a
body, for our audit work, for this repert, or for the opinions we have
formed.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act

2006

In our opinion:

* the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2006, and

* based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the infarmation given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’
Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
preparad is consistent with the finangial statements;

- the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements,



Matters on which

we are required to report by exception

ISAs (UK and
Ireland) reporting

We are reguired to recort to you if, in our opinion, financial and nor-financial nformation in the annual

report 1s;

» materially nconsistent with the information n the audited financial statements; or

» apparently materally nccrract based on, or materially nconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group
acquired In the course of performing our audit; or

» otterwise misleading.

In particular, we are required to report whether we have identified any inconsistencies between our
knowledge acquired in the course of performing the audi: and the directers’ statemeant that ey
consider the annual report and accounts taken as a whole 1s fair, balanced ang understandable and
provides the information necessary ‘or sharehoiders to assess the entity's performance, business
maodel and strategy; and whether the annual report apprepriately addresses those matters that we
communicated to the audit committee that we consider shauld have been disclosed.

We rave no exceptions ta report.

Companies Act
2006 reporting

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its envtronment obtained in the

coarse of the audit, we have identified no material rmisstatements in the Strategic Report or Directors’

Report.

* We are requred to report to you If, In our opinion:

*» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, ar returns adecuate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

» the parent company financial staterrents and the part of the Birectors’ Remuneration Report to be
audiced are nat in agraement with the accounting records and raturns, or

» certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

s we have not receivec alt the information anc explanat ons we require for our audit,

We rave no exceptions to repcr.

Listing Rules

We are required to review:

We have no exceptions 1o report,

Ireland) reporting

review » the directors’ statement in relation to going concern, set out on page 62 and longer-term viability, set
requirements out cn page 62; and
s the part of the Corporate Governance Staternent relating to the company's complance with the
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our revew.
Statement on the Directors’ Assessment of the Principal Risks that Would Threaten the Solvency or Liquidity of the Entity
ISAs (UK and We are required to give a statement as to whether we have anything material to add or to draw We have nothing material to adc or

attention to in relation to:

* the directors’ confirmation in the annual report that they have carned out a robust assessment of the
principai nsks facing the entity, including those that would threaten its business modsl, futurs
performance, solvency of liquidity,

« the disclosures in the annual report that descnbe those risks and explain how they are being
managed or mitigated;

« the directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether they censidered t appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting n preparing trem, and their identification of any
matenal uncertainties to the entity's ability to continue to do so over a period of at least twelve
months from the date of approval of the financial statements; and

* the diractors' explanation ir the annual report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the
entity, over what period they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropnate. and
their staiement as to whether they have a reascnable expectauon that the entity will be able to
caontinue in operation and meet its liabllities as they ‘all due over the percd of their assessment,
including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary gualifications or assumptions.

to draw attention to.

Anup Sodhi (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Emst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor

{Londonj
17 May 2017
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Year ended 31 March 2017

Before
exceptional
items
Note £m
Revenwe 1 a6
Operating costs 2.4 (351.7)
Remeasurement gain on Fromovita Ingredients 4,30 -
Other income - property 3 3.0
b?ﬁt on contiﬁéTpera?or? T 767—;
Finance costs 5 7.7
QOther finance expense — pensions 21
Frﬁ before tax from contmgaa:r;ti;‘l; - 59.4
Tax (expense)credit 6 (10.7)
l;m_ﬁi-from conmng—tapﬁio—n; - - 48.7
Profit/loss) from discontinued operations 7.30 (1.8)
ﬁit](loss) for the yearﬁributatmo equg_ T
shareholders 46.9
[ Earnings per shé:\ - -
Basic earnings per share from continuing
operations (pence) 8
] Diluied earnings per share from continuing
operations (pencej
Basic eamings/{loss) per share (pence}
|£iluted earnings/{loss) per share (pence) -
i -Dividend“s - -
Proposed final dividend (£m) g
Interim dividend paid (£m) 9
( Proposed final dividend (pence) 9
! Interim dividend pa_id lpence) 9

70  Dairy Crest Annual Report 2017

(113.0

{151.5)

2016 |

|

27.9 /

27.7 )
(81.9) ,

_ &3]

2015 ‘
22.3 {
8.4 )
18.0

2017
S T B 78@'0?’5 -
Exceptional exceptional Exceptional
iterns Total terns items
£m £m £m £m
- wes 4223 - 4223
{19.1) {370.8) (360.3) 17.3)
- - - 6.0
- 3.0 3.6 -
{9.1) 488 656 (11.3)
- (7.7) (8.3 -
{0.8) - {0.8) 0.6} -
Tneq) 403 867 (13 454
3.5 (7.2) 9.9} 3.0
{15.6) 331 46.8 8.3
1.8} 7.0 fﬁ - (26.4) (125.1)
{8.6) 38.3 ‘ 20.4 @ﬂ
e
23.7
23.5
27.4
.
2017 -
22.8
8.7
16.3
6.2

s



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
Note £m £m
Profit/ss) for the year B N - 38.3 (113.0)
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit and loss in subsequent years:
Cash flow hedges — reclassification adjustment for {losses)/gains in income staterment 32 (4.8) 4.4
Cash flow hedges — gains/{losses) recognised in other comprehensive income 1.6 (5.4)
Tax relating to compeonents of other comprehensive income 5] 0.9 0.2
o (2.3) ©.8)
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassifi;_d“ to profit and loss i;l-subsequent years:
Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans 21 (80.4) (20.5)
Tax relating to compenents of other comprehensive income 5] 10.7 1.0
- (69.7) (19.5)
aher compreherargl_oss for the year, net of tax {72.0) (20.3)
Total compr;iensive Io_s; ?onr tﬁe )-r;ar, net of tax (33.7) {1 33 3)

All amounts are attributable to owners of the parent company.
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CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS

At 31 March 2017

Consolidated Parent Company
2017 2018 2010 2016
et tn_ tm Em
Assets -
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment " 198.6 2339 - -
Goodwil 12 86.3 86.3 - -
Intangible assets 13 14.4 1.1 - -
Investments 14 - 0.5 229.3 484.3
Deferred tax asset 8 296 18.3 1.9 0.8
Financial assets — Derivative financial instruments ar 123 23 123 23
T o 3412 3534 2435 4874
Currentassets - o -
Inventories 15 154.2 1521 - ~
Trade and other recelvables 18 33.4 432 391.3 10.5
Financial assets — Derivative financial instruments 17 - 16.0 - 16.0
Cash and short-term deposits 18 209 100.3 0.1 40.1
7 " 2085  3fie 3914 665
Non-current assets held for sale i@ 74 0 - - -
Tt i w0 _ esw _ seo
Equity and Liabilities
Non=-current liabilities
Financial liabilities — Long-term borrowings 20 {274.2) {250.3) (146.0) (144.2)
- Derivative financial instruments 20 - (1.3) - 1.3)
Retirament benefit obligations 21 {109.6) 42.5) - -
Deferred tax liability 6 - - - -
Deferred incorme 23 (3.0) {4.5) - -
Provisians 24 2.00 - - -
- (@888  (086)  (1460) (145
C-urrent'liabi[ities - - - - S
Trade and other payables 22 (79.1) (120.3} {1.2) (3.2)
Financial liabilities — Short-term borrowings 20 {12.8) (96.5) (11.9) {35.6)
— Derivative financial instruments 20 (0.3) - (0.1) -
Current tax liability - (3.8) - ©.1)
Deferred income 23 (1.5) {1.6) - -
Provisions B 24 (2.7) (10.0 - -
- T s en2 (133 @89
Totalliabiites 7 @852 (5308 (1502)  (244.4)
Shareholders' equity
Ordinary shares 25 (35.3) (35.2) {35.3) (35.2)
Share premium 25 {85.6) 184.3) {85.6) (84.3)
interest in ESOFP 26 0.5 a.5 - -
Other reserves 26 {48.3) (50.6) 3.8 (157.0)
Retained earnings i 96.8 35.4 (358.6) 33.1}
Etal shareholders’ equity S —('71;] B Wz_) o (47573 R (309.6—)
Towlequiyandlisbiiies " geny o0 48 6640

Mark Allen Chief Executive Tom Atherton Group Finance Diractor

The financial statements were approved by the directors on 17 May 2017.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 March 2017

Orzinary

Attributable to owners of the parent

Share Interest Other Retanad Total
shares prermium In ESQP reserves” samings Equity
2017 “m £m £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2016 Y 84.3 0.5} 50.6 35.4) 134.2
Profit for the year - - - - 38.3 38.3
Other comprehensive gai;/ﬁoss):
" Cashflow hedges - - - (3.2) - {3.2)
- Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plan - - - - {80.4) (80.4)
, Tax on compenents of other comprehensive income - - - 09 10.7 11.6
Other comprenensive loss - - - 2.3) (69.7) (72.0)
Total comprehensive loss - - - 2.3) 31.4) @33.7)
Issue of share capital 0.1 1.3 - - - 1.4
Share-based payments - - - - 1.2 1.2
Tax on share-based payments - - - - (0.1} (0.1)
Equity dividends - - - - (31.1) {31.1)
At 31 March 2017 35.3 85.6 ©5 483  (968) 71.9
2016
A 31 March 2015 - 34.4 79.8 0.1) 51.4 1243 289.8
Loss for the year - - 0.3) - {112.7) (113.0)
Other comprehensive gain/{loss): o
Cash flow hedges - - - (1.0) - (1.0)
Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plan - - - - (20.9) {(20.5)
Tax on components of other comprehensive income - - - 0.2 1.0 1.2
Other comprehensive loss - S - (0.8) (18.5) (20.3)
Total comprehensive css _ - 03 ©0.8) (132.2) (133.3)
Issue of share capital 0.8 4.5 - - - 5.3
Shares acquired by ESQP - - {0.3) - - 0.3)
Exercise of options - - 0.2 - 0.2) -
Share-based payments - - - - 2.3 2.3
Tax on share-based payments - - - - 0.4 0.4
Equity dividends - - - - {30.0) (30.0)
At 31 March 2016 35.2 84.3 {0.5) 50.6 {(35.4) 134.2

* Further details are provided in Note 26.
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 March 2017

Qrdinary Share Capital Hedging Other Retained Total
shares aremium reserve reserve raserva’ eamnngs Equity
2017 m £ £m £m £m £m £m
At31 March2ote 352 843 1427 Q9 162 331 309.6
Profit for the vear - - - - - 196.9 196.9
Other comprehensive gaindlossy. I
" Cash flow hedges - - - 3.2 - - 3.2)
‘ Tax on components of other
comprehensive income - - - 0.9 - - 09 -
" Other comprehensiveloss - - - 2y - - 2.3)
T’ébefehensive gain/foss) S - q(2??] o - 1967 i 194_?
Issue of share capital 01 13 - - - 1.4
Share-based payments - - - - 0.4 .8 1.2
Sale of shares held in Dairy Crest Limited - - (142.7) - (16.2) 158.9 -
Equity dividends - - - - -~ (31.1) (31.1)
AMt31March20i7 353 856 - _ (42) 04  3BB6 4157
2016
AL31March 2016 T a4 798 1427 (09 147 274 2081
Profit for the year - - - - ~ 345 34.5
Fﬁer comprehensw\;e gain/(loss): o - - '
Cash flow hadges - - - (1.2) ~ - (1.2)
Tax un components of other }
| comprehensive income - - - 02 - - 0.2
Oth(_ar comprehensive loss - - - {1.0) o - (1.0)
ﬁél comprahensive gainfloss) - - - - - (1.0) O 34.5 T 33.5
Issue of share capital 0.8 4.5 - - - - 5.3
Share-based payments - - - - 15 0.8 2.3
Tax on share-based payments - - - - - 0.4 0.4
Equity dividends - - - - - {30.0) (30.0)
AL31 March 2016 - 352 843 1427 (8 162 331 3096

* Other reserve represents the share-based payment creditin respect of amounts capitalised as investments (see Note 14),
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CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 March 2017

Consolidated Parent Company
2017 2018 2017 2016
N Note £m £m £m £m
Cash gener;e—dufrom operations ) 33 32.8 31.3 - -
Interest paid (12.2) (12.8) - -
;ﬂlet cash inflow from operating activities 20.6 18.5 Tz -
Cash flow f;c;;i-ﬁvesting activities i
Capital expenditure (25.6) (66.8) - -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 42.4 5.4 - -
Purchase of businesses and investments 30 - 8.0) - -
{Repaymenty/proceeds relating to sale of business net of fees 30 (28.4) 49.0 - -
Amounts received from/(paid to) subsidiaries - - 69.9 (11.2}
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (11.6) (18.4) o 69.9 {11.2)
Cash fldw from finanéing activities -
{Repayment)/issue of foan notes 34 {80.2) 76.1 {80.2) 76,1
Net drawdown under revelving credit faclities 34 23.0 - - -
Dividends paid g {31.1) (36.0) (31.1) {30.0)
Proceeds from issue of shares (net of issue costs) 25 1.4 5.0 1.4 5.0
Finance lease repayments 34 (1.5) (1.5) - -
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (88.4) 49.6 {109.9) T STW_
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents {79.4) 49.7 (40.0) 7 _3ng
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 34 100.3 50.8 40.1 0.2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year D 34 20.9 100.3 0.1 40.1
Netdebtatend of year 34 {249.8) {229.0) (140.1) (180.3)
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Year ended 31 March 2017

Basis of preparation

The consolidated and Company financial staterments have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, modified in respect of the
revaluation to fair value of financial instrurments, assets held by
defined benefit pension plans and on consolidation the original
interest in an acquiree purchased through a stepped acquisition.
They are prasented in sterling and all values are rounded to the
nearest 0.1 million (£ mitlion) except where otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements of Dairy Crest Group plc
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
European Union ('EU"). The separate Comparny financial staterments
have been prepared in accordance with iIFRS as adopted by the
EU and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2G06. The Company has taken advantage of the
exermption provided under section 408 of the Companies Act 2008
not to publish its individual income statement and related notes.

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group and Company have adequate
resources to continue in operaticnal existence for the foreseeable
future. The financial statements have therefore continued to be
prepared on a going concern basis. See Going Concern section on
page 62 of the Directors’ Report.

Areas of estimation

The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant
risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are (i The
caiculation of prorotional discount accruals, (i) the measurement
of defined benefit pension scheme assets and obligations and (i)
the measurement of impairment of goodwill.

i) The Group accrues for agreed promotional funding. Accruals
tor promotional funding are calculated based on an estimated
redemption rate of the promation on expected volumes, The
redernption rate and volumes used are dependent on the
promational mechanic and considers known histortcal data on the
performance of that mechanic. Management considers this to be
ar area of estimation, which is dependent on the customer mix
and promaotion mechanic. See Note 22,

() The Group recognises and disclosss its retirernent benefit
obligation in accordance with the measurement and presentational
reguirement of 1AS 19 ‘Retirement Benefit Obligations’. The
calculations include a number of judgements and estimations in
respect of the expected rate of return on assets, the discount rate,
inflation assumptions, the rate of increase in salaries, and life
expectancy, amongst others. Changes in these assumptions can
have a significant effect on the value of the retirement benefit
obligation. See Note 21.

(i) The Group determines whather geodwill is impaired on an
annual basis and this requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated. The
assassment of value in use is cornpared 1o the carrying value of
goodwill. This requires estimation of future cash flows and the
selection of a suitable discount rate. See Note 12.
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Areas of judgment

The following items are considered by Management to be key
areas of judgment:

iy Classification of exceptional items — The Group classifies items of
a material, one-off nature, which result from a restructuring of the
business or some other event or circumstance as exceptional. These
are disclosed separately in the consolidated income staternent.
Managerment considers this to be an area of judgment due to the
assumption made that the items are material in size and one-off in
nature. Further disclosure is provided in Nate 4 and Note 7.

{iy Profit on the disposal of depots — The Group recognises profits
from the disposal of closed Dairies depots as ‘Other income —
property’ within continuing operations. Management considers this
treatment appropriate on the basis that the closed depots were not
related to the disposal of the Dairies operation and that all historic
costs in respect of the closure of these depols have been charged
to the income statement therefore ensuring consistent treatment
between gains and losses.

(i) Non-current assets held for sale — The Group has classified
some closed properties as non-current assets held for sale,
Management considers this to be an area of judgement due to the
assumptions made around the timing of the disposals. See Note
18.

(v) Contingent liability in respect of Chadwell Heath — The Group
has disclosed a contingent liability in relation to a potential
dilapidations lizbility at Chadwell Heath. Management considers
this to be an area of judgement due to the uncertainty around the
interttion of the landlord with respect to the future use of the land
following the cessation of the lease. See Note 28.

(v Contingent liability in respect of potential litigation - The Group
has disclosed a contingent liability in respect of petential litigation
in relation to the demineralised whey and galacte-oligesaccharide
capital project at Davidstow. Management considers this to be an
area of judgment because a reliable estimation of the liability, if any,
cannot be made at this stage. See Note 28,

vi) Recognition of deferred tax asset - The Group has recognised a
deferred tax assat in relation to carried forward trading losses on the
basis that these losses, which have arisen from varicus unprofitable
operations within the Group and rationalisation initiatives to promote
the profitability of the Group as a whole, will be available to offsst
future taxable profits of the Group. See Note 6.

{vii) Operating segments - Management has judged that the Group
comprises one segment under IFRS 8 'Operating Segments”.
Certain product Group information is provided voluntarily to agsist
the users of the accounts. See Note 1.



Changes in accounting policies
The following accounting standards and interpretations became
effective for the current reporting period:

international Accounting Standards {|AS/IFRSs)

e |AS 7 ‘Disclosure Initiative’ — Amendments to |IAS7

* |AS 12 'Recegnition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses’
- Amendments to 1AS 12

» |FRS 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ — Clarification of
the scope of the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12

The application of these standards has had nc material impact on
the net assets, results and disclosures of the Group in the year
ended 31 March 2017,

The IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and

interpretations (with an effective date after the date of these

financial statements);

¢ |IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (effective 1
January 2018)

* |FRS & ‘Financial Instruments’ (effective 1 January 2018)

s |FRIC Interpretation 22 ‘Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Gonsideration’ (effective 1 January 2018)

* IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ effective 1 January 2018)

The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of IFRS 9
‘Financial Instruments’, IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with
Customers' and IFRIC Interpretation 22 ‘Foreign Currency and
Advance Consideration’ will have a material impact on the Group’s
financial statements, however further disclosure around the
potential impact of IFRS 15 has been provided.

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ wili replace IAS
18 'Revenue’ and the Group is in the early stages of evaluating the
impact of the standard.

Under IFRS 15, revenue will be recognised based on a five step
madel which reguires, for each contract with a customer, the
transaction price to be matched against the performance
obligation arising under the contract or in the case of more than
ong performance obligation, apporticned over those obligations.
The transaction price wili be the amount of consideration the
Group expects 1o be entitled to in exchange for transferring the
goods or service to the customer. Depending on the particular
contractual arrangemsnts in place, application of the new standard
could change the amount of revenue recognised on a contract
and/or its timing.

Whilst management continues the process cf evaluating the impact
against all of the Groups contracts with customers, initial reviews
by management indicate the impact of IFRS 15 would not
materially change the way in which the Group accounts for
reverue.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ will apply to annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2019 and will be applicable to the Group in its
financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2020.

IFRS 16 will remove the distinction between Operating Leases and
Finance Leases and will require lessees to report operating leases
on the balance shest, similar to the treatrment of finance leases
under IAS 17. Lessees will recognise an asset and a liability for
each lease and will have to recognise an element of each lease
payment as an interest charge.

The effect of this on the Group’s financial statements will be that
the gross assets and gross liabilities will each increase by an equal
and opposite amount. There will alsc be a timing effect on the
income statement, as interest on leases will have to be charged in
a similar way tc that in which interest is charged on a loan which
will result in mere interest being charged in early periods of each
lease and less interest being charged in the later pericds.

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate the accounts of Dairy
Crest Group pic (the Company), its subsidiaries and associates
{together referred to as the Group). The financial statements are
drawn up tc 31 March each year using consistent accounting
policies.

Subsidiaries are entities that are directly or indirectly controlied by
the Group. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
the Group obtains control and continue to be consclidated until the
date control ceases. All intercompany balances and transactions,
inctuding unrealised profits and losses arising from intra-group
transacticns, have been eliminated in full.

a) Acquisitions

Subsidiaries acquired during the year are censclidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. The separable
net assets, both tangible and intangible, of the newly acquired
subsidiary undertakings are incorporated into the financial
statements con the basis of the fair value as at the effective date of
control, if appropriate. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed in
the income statement.

If a business acquisition is achieved in stages, the acquisition date
carrying amount of the Group's previously held interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through
the consolidated profit and loss account. The fair vaiue
measurement is determined using the hierarchy principles of
IFRS13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’.

b) Discontinued operations

Results of subsidiary undertakings disposed of during the financial
year are included in the financial statements up to the effective date
of disposal. Where a business component representing a separate
major line of business is disposed of, or classified as held for sale,
it is classified as a discontinued operation. The post-tax profit or
loss of the discontinued operations is shown as a single amount on
the face of the income statement, separate from the other results
of the Group. The comparative consclidated income statement,
other comprehensive income and associated notes have been
restated as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of
the comparative year.

Foreign currency translation
The functional and presentational currency of Dairy Crest Group
plc and its subsidiaries is Sterling (£).

Transactions in foreign currency are initially recorded in the
functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into Sterling at the balance sheet date. Exchange
differences on monetary items are generally taken to the income
statement. However, foreign currency differances arising from the
translation of qualifying cash fiow hedges to the extent the hedges
are effective are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Property, plant and equipment
Praperty, plant and equinment is stated at cost less accumulated
depreciaticn and any impairment losses. Cost comprises the
purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended oy management. Deprecation
is calculated to write off the cost (less residual value) of property,
plant and equipment, excluding freshold land, on a straight-lineg
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as folows:
Freehold buildings: 25 years
Leasehold land and buildings: 25 years o, if shorter, the
period of the lease
Vehicles, plant and eguipment: 4 to 20 years
The carrying valus cf property, plant and equipment is reviewed for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may nat be recoverable. If tha carrying value
exceeds the estimated recoverable value, the asset is written down
o its recoverable amount, The recoverable amount of plant and
eguipment is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell or value
in use. In assessing vatue in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted 1o their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does
not generate largely independent cash flows, the recoverabie
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Impairment losses are charged to the consolidated
income statement.

An item of property, plant and eguipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the asset is included in the consolidated
income statement in the year that it is derecognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
consiruction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use are
capitalised as part of the cost of the respective assets.

Al other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the
period they occur.

Goodwill
Geodwill arising on an acquisition is carried at cost at acquisition
date less any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill on acguisition is initiafly measured as the cost of the
acquisition less the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired and
the liapiities assumed in exchange for the business combination.
The cost of the acquisition is measured as the consideration
transferred (measured at acquisition date fair vatue), the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and in the case of
business combinations achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired.
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Any goodwill acquired is allocated to the cash-generating unit or
groups of cash-generating units expectad to benefit from the
combination’s synergies as at the acquisition date. Impairment is
determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unitis less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Where
goodwill forms part of a cash generating unit and part of the
operation withir that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of
the operation, Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is
measured con the basis of the relative values of the operaticn
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amartisation
and any recognised impairment lossas. All intangible assets
recognised by the Group have finite useful economic fives and are
being amortised on a straight line basis.

Intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition of a business
are recognised at fair value separately from goodwill if the fair vatue
can be measured reliably on initial recognition and the future
expected economic benefits flow to the Group. Acguired intangible
assets comprise the Frylight brand which was considered to have
a useful life of 15 years at the date of acquisition.

intangible assets generated internally comprise software and
product development where the future recoverability can
reasonably be assured under |AS 38 ‘Intangibie Assets’.
Development is amartised over a peried of up to ten years
dependent on the type of development. Internally generated
intangible assets that are not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit Jevel or more freguently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Investments

The Company recognises its investments in subsidiaries at cost
being the fair value of consideration paid, less provisions for
impairment where appropriate.

Research and development

Expenditure on research 1s written off as incurred. Development
expenditure is also written off as incurred unless the future
racoverability of this expenditure can reasonably be assured as
required by [AS 38 ‘Intangible Asseats’.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost includes the purchase price of raw materials {on a first in first
out basis), direct labour and a proportion of manufacturing
overheads based on normal operating capacity incurred in bringing
each product to its present location and conditicn. Net realisable
valug is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated costs of completion and selling costs.



Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised at fair value on initia
recognition,

The Group and Company classity financial assets on initiad
recognition within the scope of [AS 39 as;

- financial agsets at fair value through income statement;

- loans and receivables;

— held-to-maturity investments; or

- available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate.

The Group and Company classity non-derivative financial liabilities
into the following categories:

- financiai liabilities at fair value througn profit and loss; or

- other financiai liakilities.

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its
foreign currency exposures,

A financial asset is derecognised when the rights 1o receive cash
flows from that asset have expired. A financial liability is
dersognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged,
cancalled or expires.

a) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised and carried at original
invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectable amounts.
An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full
ameunt is no longer probable. Trade receivable debts are written
off when there is no expectation of recovery.

b) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand
and short-term deposits with an criginal maturity of three months
or less. For the purposes of the consclidated cash flow statement,
cash and cash squivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above, net of bank overdrafts.

c) Interest bearing loans and borrowings

Interest bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the
fair value net of issue costs associated with the borrowing. After
initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any issue costs and any discount or pramium on
settlerment. Gains and losses are recognised in the Consolidated
thcome Staterment when the liabilities are derecognised.

d) Net debt

The Group ang Company define net debt as interest bearing lcans
and borrowings and finance leases less cash and cash
equivalents. The calcuiation of net debt excludes the fair value of
derivative financial instruments with the exception of cross-
currency swaps to fix foreign currency debt in Sterling where they
are designated as cash flow hedges. In this case the fixeg Sterling
debt, not the underlying foreign currency delst retranslateq, is
included in net debst. It inctudes any ¢ash or borrowings included
within disposal groups classified as held for sale and excludes
unamortised upfront facility fees.

e) Derivative financial instruments

The Group and Company use derivative financial instruments such
as forward currency contracts, cross-currency swaps to hedge its
risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently re-measured to fair value at each balance sheet date,

For derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge
accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
are taken directly to the income statement for the year.

f) Cash flow hedges

When a derivative financial instrument is designated as a cash flow
hedging instrument at inception of the hedge relationship, the
effective portion of the changes in fair value of the derivative is
recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the hedging reserve. The ineffective portion is recognised in the
income statement.

The cumulative amount recognised to cther comprehensive
income is reclassified into the income statement cut of other
comprehensive income in the same period or periods during which
the hedged forecast cash flows affects the income statement or
the hedged item affects the income statemaent, for sxample when
the future sale actually occurs, interest payments are made or
when debt matures.

If the forecast transaction is nc longer expecied to occur, the
hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the
hedge instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or
designated as revoked, the hedge accounting is discontinued
prospectively. If the forecast transaction is no longer to occur, then
the cumuiative amounted recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to the income statement.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless cf whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if marker participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or

disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair

value hisrarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest fevel

input that is observable and significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:

» |evel 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

¢ Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable

= Level 3 - Valuation technigues for which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement is uncbservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have cccurred between levels in the hierarchy by
rg-assessing categorisaticn {based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Provisions

A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount that is
recognised when the Group or Company has a present obligation
{legal or constructive) where, as a result of a past event, it is more
likely than not that payment will be reguired to settle the abligation
and the amount can be estimated. If the effect is material,
expected future cash flows are discounted using the current
pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the liabllity.

Provisions are estimates and the actual costs and timings of future
cash flows are dependent an future events. Provisions are
reviewed regularly by management, with any difference between
the amounts previously recognised and current estimate ¢r actual
liability being recognised to the income statement.

Leased assets

Assets acquired under finance leases, which transfer to the Group
substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the
ieased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at fair
valug of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the
minimurn lease payments. The net present value of future Jease
rentals is included as a liability on the batance sheet. The interest
element of lease rentals is charged to the income statement in the
year., Leases where the [essor retains substantially all the risks and
benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating
leases.

Assgts held under operating leases are not recognised in the
Group’s balance sheet, with the aperating lease rentals being
charged 10 the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale comprise closed properties
owned by the Group that meet the definition of held for sale assets
under IFRS 5 'Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations’.

For & property to be classified as held for sale it must be available
for immediate resale in its present condition and the sale must te
highty probable. The following criteria must be met for the sale to
be 'highly prebable’;

« Management must be committed to a plan to sell the asset

* An active programme to locate a buyer and complete the plan
must be initiated

The asset must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is
reasonable

The sale should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification; and
Actions required ta complete the plan shauld indicate that it is
unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made or the
plan withdrawn

Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of
carrying value and fair value less costs to sall.
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Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates two types of pension arrangemenis, a defined
benefit scheme and a defined contribution scheme.

a) Defined benefit scheme

The net asset or liability recagnised in the balance shest in respect
of the defined benefit pension scheme is the fair value of scheme
assets less the present value of the defined benefit obligations at
the balance sheet date as adjusted for unrecognised past service
cost. Any asset resulting from the calculation is limited to past
service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and
reductions in future contributions to the scheme. Where the Group
is considered to have a contractual cbligation to fund the scheme
above the accounting value of the liabilities, an onerous obligation
is recognised as an unrecoverable notional surplus. The defined
benefit obligation 1s caleulated annually by independent actuaries
using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments
and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in full to the
statement of comprehensive income as they arise.

The Company has closed its defined benefit scheme and therefore
nc current service costs are required to be charged fo income
statement. Past service costs are recognised in the income
statement at the earlier of the date of the plan amendment or
curtailment, and the date that the Group recognises related
restructuring costs.

Scherne administration costs that are not directly related to
investrnent activities are charged to the inccme statement.
Administration costs that are directly related to investment are
recognised as part of the re-measurement exarcise through the
Statement of Comprenensive Income.

The net interest charge is calculated by applying the discount rate
1o the net defined beneiit liability or asset.

b} Defined contribution scheme

These pension arrangements do not constitute a future obligation
1o the Group. Members of these schemas will contribute a
percentage of their salary into the scheme and the Company will
pay an additiornal amount into the scheme. The size of an
individual's pension on retirement is based on the performance of
the asset portfolio and is not linked to salary. Company
contributions to the scheme are charged to the income statement
in the same period as services are rendered by the reievant
employee.

Share-based payments

a) Equity-settled performance payments

The Group and Company have issued equity instruments for which
they receive services from employees in consideration for these
equity insirurments, All of the awards granted under existing plans
are classified as equity-settled awards. The Group and Company
recognise a compensation expense that is based on the fair value
of the awards rmeasured at grant date using an appropriate pricing
model. Fair value is not subsequently remeasured unless relevant
conditions attaching to the award are modified.

Fair value reflects any market performance conditions and all
non-vesting conditions. Adjustments are made to the
compensation expense to reflect actual and expected forfeitures
due to failure to satisfy service conditions or non-market
performance conditions.



The compensation expense is generally recognised to the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting pericd and a
corresponding credit is recognised in equity.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any cost not yet recognised
in the income statement for the award is expensed immediately.

Rights granted to employees of subsidiary undertakings over
equity instruments of the Company are treated as an investment in
the Company's balance sheet.

b) Employees’ Share Ownership Plan {(“ESOP”)

The shares in the Company held by the Dairy Crest Employees’
Share Ownership Plan Trust to satisfy Long Term Incentive Share
Plan awards are presented as a deduction from equity in arriving at
shareholders’ equity. Consideration received from the sale of such
sharss is also recognised in equity with no gain or loss recognised
in the consclidated income statement.

Revenue

Revenue on the sale of food related products is recognised on
delivery. Revenue comprises tha invoiced value for the sale of
goods net of Value Added Tax, rebates and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.

Discounts comprise mainly promotional accruats, overriding
discounts and customer terms. Promotional accruals are made in
respect of customer claims, where a discount is claimed following
comglation of the promotion based on the redemption rate of that
promoction. The accruals are calculated based on the expected
in-store redempticn rate for the particular promotional mechanic
{e.g ‘buy one get one free’ or ‘25% off') against the delivered
volume. The redemption rate used considers known historical data
on the performance of that mechanic and is adjusted for actual
performance. An overriding discount is a discount given across all
sales of a particular product, providing the sales exceed agreed
votumes. The overriding discounts are calculated as a proportion
of the level of customer sales in the period. A customer term is
whereg the Group has agreed to pay a customer a sum of money
based on that customer delivering an agreed sales and
promotional plan. These terms are generally paid for in arrears,
following delivery of the plan, and are accrued for over the period
to which they relate.

Dividend income is recognised when the Company's right tc
receive payment is established.

Other income
Other incorne comprises the profit on disposal of depots as a
result of rationalisation.

Exceptional items

Certain items are recorded separately in the income statement as
excepticnal. Only items of a material, one-off nature, which result
from a restructuring of the business or some other event or
circumstance, are disclosed in this manner in order tc give a better
understanding of the underlying operational performance of the
Group. The prefits arising on disposal of closed sites, other than
closed Dalries depots retained by the Group following disposal of
the Dairies operation, are reported within exceptional items.

Government and other grants

Government grants are initially recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonatle assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs
that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an
asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the income statement over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset in equal annual instalments.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is
recognised to the income statement except to the extent it relates
to items recognised directly to equity or other comprehensive
income.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authcrities,
based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabifities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements, except as indicated below. Deferred tax is not
recognised {n respect of:

« termporary differences arising from the initial recognition of
goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or lability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

* taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
contrelled and it is probakle that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred incorme tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which they can be utilised. The
carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred incorme tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates {and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset only if a legal
enfarcement right exists to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities, the deferred income taxes relate to the same
taxation autherity and that authority permits the Group to make a
single net payment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Segmental analysis

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be determined based on the Group’s internal reparting to the Chiet Operating Declsion Maker
(CODM"). The CODM has been determined to be the Company's Board members as they are primarily responsible for the allocation of
resources 1o segments and the assessment of performance of the segments,

The business is managed centrally by functional teams (Demand, Supply, Procurament and Finance] that have responsibiity for the whole of
the Group's product portfolio. Although some discrete financial information is available to provide insight to the management team of the key
performance drivers, the product group prefit is not part of the CODM's review. Management has judged that the continuing Group comprises
one operating segment under IFRS 8. As such, disclosures required under IFRS 8 for the financial statements are shown on the face of the
consolidated income staternent and kalance sheet.

Tc assist the readers of the financial staternents, management considers it appropriate to provide veluntary disclosure on a basis consistent
with historical reporting of the cheese and functional ingredients product group and the butters, spreads and oils product group results
included within the consolidated income statement. In disclosing the product group profit for the year, certain assumptions have been made
when allocating resources which are centralised at a group level,

The ‘Other’ product group comprises revenue earned from distributing products for third parties and certain central costs net of recharges to
the other product groups. Generally, central costs less external ‘Other’ revenue is recharged back into the product groups such that their
result reflects the total cost base of the Group. ‘Cther’ operating profit therefore is nil.

The results under the historical segmentation basis for the Group included in the financial information are as follows:

2017 2016
Note £m £m
g(t;al revenué e -
Chease and Functional Ingredients 254.8 263.7
Butters, Spreads ana Qils 150.7 152.6
Other 111 6.0
Total promap:‘t_@ﬁnue ~ contmngerEons__ ihﬁ:_ _i‘__ﬁ ;4& _ 422.3
Product group profit*
Cheese and Functional Ingredients 42,8 36.4
Butters, Spreads and Qits 255 296
ﬁ product g;'oup profitxntinumﬁons e -ES 665
Finance costs 5 7.7 (8.3)
deusted profit before tax — contm_g operations** - - *GDT T E?
Acquired intangible amartisation 2 {0.4) 0.4}
Exceptional items 4 {19.1) {(11.3)
Qther finance expense - pensions 21 (0.8) 0.6)
EE@ profit before tax — c;ﬁm o@ﬂs\ii T g:— T i ﬂ 45.'4_
2017 2016
£m £m
Total assets -
Cheese and Functional Ingredients 305.8 331.6
Butters, Spreads and Oils 150.5 147.2
Investments - 0.5
Other 100.8 47.8
Total proguctgroup . ssrd s2va
Unallocated assets - 137.9
Totalassets 7 5s1d 6650,

Profit on operaticrs batore exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intargibles.

'+ Adjusted profit before tax from continuing operations I1s presented as management’s key Group profit measure because it excludes exceptional tems and theretore
gives a better ndication of the underlying operational perfarmance of the Groug. The calculations aiso exclude amortisatior of acaurred intangibles and pension
interest in ~elation ta the Group's defined benefit pension screme, oeing dependert on market assumptions at 31 March each year.,
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1 Segmental analysis continued

2017 2016
Note £fm £m

Product group depreciation and amortisation (excludinb amortisation
of acquired intangible assets)
Cheese and Functional Ingredients {8.6) 8.1
Butters, Spreads and Qils (4.0) (4.5)
Other {2.8) (5.0)
Total (15.4) (17.6)
lsroduct group additions to non-current assets
Cheese and Functional Ingredients 21.6 658
Butters, Spreads and Qils 6.4 2.5
Other 2.6 4.1
Total S s e e e e 30.6 72.4
Dairies additions not included above amounted to Enil (2016: £7.3 million)
Product group exceptional items
Cheese and Functional Ingredients (19.0) (10.2)
Butters, Spreads and Qils - 0.7
Unsegmented {0.1) (1.8}
Total exceptional operating costs 4 (19.1) (11.3)

Interest ncome and expense are not included in the measure of product group profit. Group treasury has always been centrally managed and
external interest income and expense are not allocated to product groups. Further analysis of the Group interest expense is provided in Note 5.

Tax costs are not included in the measure of product group profit.

Product group assets comprise property, plant and equipment, goodwill, intangible assets, inventories, receivables and cash and cash

equivalents. They excluds derivative financial assets and deferrad tax assets. Other product group assets comprise certain property, plant and

eguipment that is nat reported in product groups.

Product group depreciation and amortisation excludes amortisation of acquired intangible assets of £0.4 million 2016: £0.4 milion) as these costs

are not charged in the product group result.

Product groun additions to non-current assets coemprise additions to goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equioment through

capital expenditure and acquisition of businesses.

Geographical information - continuing operations

2017 2016
External revenue attributed on basis of custormer location fm £m
UK 404.7 411.3
Rest of warld 11.9 11.0
Totat revenue B e 416.6 422.3
Non-current assets* based on location
UK 336.3 350.6
Rest of world - 0.5
Total ‘ S 336.3 3511

- Comprises craperty, plant and equipment, goedwill, intangible assets, investments, deferred tax asset and assets held for sale.

The Group has three customers which individually represent rmore than 10% of revenue from continuing operations in the year ended 31 March
2017 (2016: four) with each custormer accounting for £54.2 million, £56.2 million and £92.7 million (2016: £46.9 million, £53.6 million, £67.6 million

and £102.1 million) of revenue from continuing cperations being 13.0%, 13.5% and 22.3% (2016: 11.1%, 12.7%, 16.0% and 24.2%).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2  Operating costs - continuing operations

2017 2016
\EDI'B T T T —B@— T T
exceptional Excepticnal exceptional Exceptional
items items Total tems tems Total
£m €m £m £rm £m £m
Costofsales 2815 191 3066 29586 165 3111
Distribution costs 31.6 - 3.6 28.7 - 268.7
Administrative expenses 32.6 - 32.6 38.0 1.8 39.8
s\ 1es 308 G373 3176
2017 2018
Profit from continuing operations is stated after (charging)/crediting ] £m £m
Releass o grants T T e g
Depreciation {14.9) {16.5)
Amortisation of intangibles - acquired (0.4) 0.4
Amortisation of intangibies — internally generated (0.5) {1.1}
Operating lease rentals (3.9} (4.9)
Research and development expenditure {2.6) (2.3)
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (287.5) (295.6)
Including: moverment in inventory provision e 0.9 1.0_
The equivalent disclosure for discontinued operation is contained within Note 7.
2017 2016
Remuneration paid to auditors - ) __ Em £m
Fees payabie (o the Companyams:;mfﬁayaa ac?gunts* - - 7 0.1 - G.1
Fees payable to the Company's auditors and its associates for other services:
Audit of the Company's subsidiaries pursuant 10 legislation 0.4 0.3
Taxation services 0.1 01
_Othe!rs_Lviceiel“a@ fo corporatﬁan_ce t@aoﬂns e 0.1 0.1
0.7 0.6

* £10,000 (2016: £10,000) of this relates to the Company.

Non-audit services carried out in the year include advice in relation to the disposal of the Group's Dairies operations and tax advisory services.

Fees paid o Ernst & Young LLP and its associates for non-audit services to the Company itself are not disclosed in the individual accounts of
the Company because Group financial statements are prepared which are required o disclose such fees on a consclidated basis.

Ernst & Young LLP are auditors of the Dairy Crest Group Pension Fund. Fees paid by the Fund for audit services are not included in the above
table.

3 Other income - property
Other income of £3.0 million (2016: £3.6 million) relates to the profits from the disposal of closed Dairies depots retained by Dairy Crest.
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4 Exceptional items
Exceptional items comprise those items that are material and one-off in nature that the Group believes should be separately disclosed to
assist in the understanding of the underlying financial performance of the Group.

The exceptional iterms charge to the operating costs of the continuing operations are analysed below. The exceptional items charged in
relation to discontinued operations are analysed in Note 7.

2017 2016

Operating costs £m £m
Demineralised whey powder and GOS projects {19.0) (16.2)
Property provision - (1.8)
Spreads restructuring costs - 0.7
Disposal costs in relation to closed manufacturing sites (2.3) -
T T T T2 (17.3)

Settlement gain in relaticn to Farmright Limited and Quadra Foods Limited 2.2 -
Gain on remeasurement tc fair value of original investment in Promovita Ingredients Limited - 6.0
ST {81 (1.3

Tax relief on exceptional items 2.8 3.0
Release of deferred tax tability in respect of industrial buildings 0.7 -
T (15.6) ®.3)

Demineralised whey powder and GOS projects

The Group has completed an investment in its cheese creamery at Davidstow, Cornwall enabling the Group to manufacture demineralised
whey powder, a base ingredient of infant formula, and galacto-oligosaccharide ('GOS'), widely used in infant formula. During the year £19.0
million of costs were charged to the income statement in relation 1o this project. £12.3 million related to commissioning of the facility of which
£7.3 miltion was for the write-down of product produced during the commissicning process which did not mest the requirsd standard to be
considered for infant formula. In addition, £5.8 million refated (¢ project review costs. A further £0.9 million has been charged in respect of a
finangial liability relating to the project that did not mest the criteria for hedge accounting due to it being an ineffective hedge at 31 March 2017.
In the prior year £16.2 miflion of excepticnal costs were incurred of which £5.3 miliion related to the commissioning and £6.5 miltion on project
raview costs. A further £4.4 million was charged for set up costs. The tax credit relating to this exceptional charge in the year was £3.1 millicn
(2016: £2.7 million). Management considers these costs to be excepticnal due ta the materiality and the cne-off nature of the capital project to
which thay relate and do not expect any significant costs in relation to this project geing forward.

Disposal costs in relation to closed manufacturing sites

The Group has incurred costs of £2.3 million relating to the disposal of closed manufacturing sites in Totnas in Devon, Fenstanton in
Cambridgshire and Crudgington in Shropshire. Management has determined these properties to be ‘held for sale’ at the 31 March 2017 and
any future gains in respect of these properties will be treated as exceptional consistent with the historical closure costs. The tax credit in
refation to these costs was £0.1 million.

Settlement gain in relation to Farmright Limited and Quadra Foods Limited

On 9 May 20186, the Group paid £1.0 million in full and final settlement of claims arising out of the debt criginally owed to Farmright Limited.
Claims betwesn the Group, Farmright Limited and Quadra Foods Limited (and any assignees of the claims) are now resclved. Following
settlement, £2.1 million plus a provision for professional fees aof £0.1 million which was no longer required, have been released. Management
considers this credit to be exceptional due to it being one-off in nature and in relation to the debt of Quadra Foods Limited, for which £4.3
million was provided for under an exceptional impairment provision in the year ended 31 March 2012, The tax charge in relation to this release
was £0.4 million.

Prior Year

Property provision

The Group commissioned a dilapidation assessment on some of its leasehold properties. The £1.8 million exceptional charge represents an
increase in provision for property dilapidation liabilities on properties where the Group considers there tc be a high likelihood of exiting when
the lease term expires. The tax credit on this exceptional charge was £0.4 million.

Spreads restructuring costs

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group completed the consclidation of its spreads production operations into one site in Kirkby,
Liverpoal. As a result of this consolidation, the site at Crudgington, Shropshire ceased production in December 2014. The exceptiona! credit of
£0.7 million in the year reprasents the release of a prior year provision relating to the completion of this project that was not required. The tax
charge relating to this exceptional credit was £0.3 million.

Gain on remeasurement to fair value of original investment in Promovita Ingredients Limited

0On 18 December 2015, the Group completed the stepped acquisition of Promovita Ingredients Limited (‘Promovita). In accordance with IFRS
3 (Revised), the ariginal investment was revalued to fair value at point of acquisition and the resulting gain of £6.0 million has been recognised
within exceptional items. See Note 30.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

§ Finance costs and other finance income

2017 2016
Finance costs gm  Em
Bank loans and overdrafts {at amortised cost) I 7
Finance charges on finance leases o o _‘w _ by
Tolal net finance costs - continuing operations - B EE

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts is stated after capitalising £3.1 million (2016: £3.8 million) of interest on expenditure on capital
projects at a rate of 4.0% (2016: 5.0%). The tax impact of the capitalised interest was £0.6 million (2016: £0.7 milion).

6 Tax expense

Continuing operations
The major components of income tax expense for continuing operations for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 are:

2017 2016
Consolidated income statement £m £m
Current incométa_x— T T T T T T e
Deferred income tax

Net utilisation of deferred tax asset 8.5 7.5
Effect of change in tax rate (0.5) 0.2)
Adiustment in respect of previous years —~ deferred tax (0.8) 0.4)
- R S
Analysed: Before exceptional items 10.7 9.9
Exceptional items (3.5) 3.0
- T - 12 68

There is no current tax charge in the year due to tax refief in respect of pensions contributions, capital allowances and in relation to the
disposal of the Dairigs operation in December 2015.

Reconciliation between the tax charge and the profit before tax multiplied by the statutory rate of corporation tax in the UK:

2017 2018

£m £m
Profitbefore tax a3 454
Tax at UK statutory corporation tax rate of 20% (2016: 20%) 8.1 9.1
Adjustments in respect of prévious years (0.8) 0.4)
Adjustment for change in UK corporation tax rate” (0.5) 0.2)
Non-deductible expenses 1.2 1.1
Profits offset by available tax relief (0.8) (2.7}
I T O Y)

The effective pre-exceptional rate of tax on the Group’s prafit before tax from continuing operations is 18.0% (2016: 17.5%).

The tota) Group effective tax rate is below the headline rate of UK corporation tax at 17.0% (2018: 15.2%). One of the reasons for this is the
availability cf capital losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised against profits of £3.0 million oh the disposal of closed
depots. We expect the effective tax rate to remain below the headtine rate of UK corparation tax next year due tq the expeacted disposal of
closed properties.

* Twao further reductions in the UK Corporation tax rate have been enacted, taking the rate to 19% from April 2017 and to 17% ‘rom April 2020. Accordingly, deferred tax
has been provided on all temporary differences at the rate in foree when they are anticipated to reverse,

Discontinued Operations

The total income tax credit in respect of discontinued operations for the year ended 31 March 2017 is £9.8 million {(2016: £35.7 million). Tax
relief on exceptional costs incurred by discontinued operations in the year ended 31 March 2017 was £5.7 million (2016: £28.8 million). A £3.8
rrillion tax credit has been realised in respect of the disposal of St Hubert SAS. Tax attributable to discontinued cperations is disclosed in
Note 7.
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6 Tax expense continued

Tax credit relating to components of consolidated other comprehensive income 22: 2021:
Deferred incoms tax related toc items charged tc other comprehensive incorne o -
Pension deferred tax movement taken directly tc reserves {10.7) (1.0
Valuation of financial instruments {0.9) 0.2)
Tax credit {11.6) (1.2)

Tax on items recognised directly to equity
Deferred tax of £0.1 million relating to share-based payments was charged directly to equity in the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016; £0.4
million credited to equity).

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax at 31 March 2017 and 2016 relates to the following:

2017 2016
Deferred tax liability £m £m
Accelerated depreciation E)r gx purposes . (4.5)
Goodwill and intangible assets (7.8) (7.9)
- e (12.4)
Deferred tax asset
Accelerated depraciation for tax purposé; o 141 T -
Government grants 0.9 1.2
Share-based payments 1.0 0.9
Pensicns 18.6 12.5
Financial instruments valuation 1.2 0.3
Trading losses 14.0 15.3
Other 0.6 1.5
- - 37.4 31.7
Net deferred tax asset 206 193

The recognition of the deferred tax asset relating to trading losses is based on the expectation that the business will continue to be profitable
going forward.

The Company has a deferred tax asset of £1.9 million at 31 March 2017 (2016: £0.8 million). This relates to temparary differences in respect of
financial instruments valuations and share-based payments.

The movernent on the net deferred tax asset is shown below:

Deferred tax asset/(liability)

Goedwill and Accelerated Other

intargible tax temporary
assets Pensions  depreciation differences Total
Cm £m £m £m £m
Balances at 31 March 2018 7.9) 12.5 .5) 192 19.3
{Charge)/credit to income statement: continuing operations 0.1 (4.6) 5.6 8.3) {7.2)
Credit to income statement: discontinued operations - - - 8.0 6.0
Credit to other comprehensive income - 10.7 - 0.9 11.8
Charge taken directty to reserves - - - 0.1) 0.1}
Baiances at 31 March 2017 " @8 186 11 477 296
Batances at 31 March 2015 {8.5) 16.0 (29.5) 10.9 (11.1)
(Charge)/credit to income staterment: continuing cperations 0.6 (4.5) (3.5) 0.5 6.9)
Cradit to income staterment: discontinuad operations - - - 7.2 7.2
Credit to other comprehensive income - 1.0 - 0.2 1.2
Credit taken directly 1o reserves - - - 0.4 0.4
Disposal of business - - 28.5 - 28.5
Balances at 31 March 2016 {7.9) 12.5 (4.5) o _1_95 19.3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

6 Tax expense continued

The Group has capital lasses which arose in the UK of £121.2 million (2016: £118.1 million) that are available indefinitely for offset against future taxable
gains, Deferred tax has not been recognised In respect of these lpsses as there is no foreseeable praspect of thelr being utilised. The Group has
realised capital gains amounting to £22.6 mifion {2016: £47.8 million) for which rollover relief claims have been or are intended to be made.

7 Discontinued operations
On 26 Decermber 2015, the Group completed the disposal of its Dairies operation to Muller UK & ireland Group LLP. The Dairies operation has
been classified as a discontinued operation since the year of disposal,

The results of the Dairies operation which have teen included in the consolidated income staternent within discontinued operations can be
analysed as follows:

2017 2016
o Em e
ﬁeEluT S - 7 - - 52384
Operating costs {2.1) (562.5)
Other income - property - 0.1
b;rating Iossﬁore ex—(:ptml operatind items aﬁd tax attributable to disconfim::;rations T (T‘I) o {33.3}
Exceptional operating items - (16.6}
Eéﬁrgl_oaefore tax attributable?c;dﬁﬁtinued operations S **\‘217) 7¥(4?9)
Attributable tax 0.8 9.1
Tax credit in relation 1o the disposal of St Hubert 3.8 -
Profitl(loés) after tax from_di scontinued operations - EE (AOVE}
Loss on disposal (2.5) 137.3)
Attributable tax on disposal ] 5.2 26.6
@fiutlosﬁrhe- period from discontinued opeﬁg- - _;:: j_ o _(TE}E
Earnings/({loss) per share from discontinued operations

Basic (pence) 3.7 (109.9)
Diluted {pence) 3.7 (109.0)
2017 2018

Loss from discontinued operations is stated after charging ) - M £m
" Depreciation ' o - 6.9)
Amortisation of intangibles - internally generated - {0.9)
Operating lease rentals - (13.7)
Research and development expenditure - {0.4)
Cost of inventarigs recognised as an experise - {426.3)

The operating costs of £2.1 million in the year comprise £1.6 million relating to certain casts in respect of the Dairies operation that had not
been accrusd for at the point of sale and as such were the liability of the Group in line with the sale and purchase agreement with Muller UK &
Irefand LLP. A further £0.5 milion has been charged in respect of the Group's investment in HEIGC Limited which has been fully impaired in
the period. The investment related to the Dairies operation and as such the impairment has been recegnised within discontinued operations.
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7 Discontinued operations continued

2017 2018

a. Exceptional items £m £m
Exceptional operating items after attributabie tax 43 _-714—,4—)
Profit/{loss) on disposal after attributable tax (Note 30) 27 (110.7)
Exceptional iterms after tax _TO_ (125.1)
2017 2016

Exceptional operating costs fm £m
Rationalisatio_nofo_pér;t_ing siies - o - (7.7
Costs associated with the separation and proposed sale of the Dairies operation - 8.9
Exge_abfional operm?éciosg—ﬁ(-jigc-on'tinued operations T o o - {16.6)
Tax relief on excepticnal items 0.5 2.2
Tax credit in relation to the disposal of St Hubert 3.8 -
43 (144

Tax credit in relation to the disposal of St Hubert

A tax provision of £3.8 million was created when St Hubert SAS was disposed of in August 2012, A tax credit has been recognised in the
period in respect cf this because the period during which the French authorities can raise tax assessments has now expired. This has been
recognised within discontinued operations consistent with the results of St Hubert SAS following disposal.

Costs associated with the separation and proposed sale of the Dairies operations
In the prior vear the Group incurred £8.9 million of separation casts such as one-off systems costs and professional fees. A tax credit of £0.5
million has been recognised in the period (2016: £1.9 million).

Rationalisation of operating sites

In September 2014, the Group anncunced it had started consultation with employees and their representatives regarding the closure of its
glass bottling dairy in Hanworth, West London. In the prior year, an exceptional charge of £21.7 million was incurred in the year, primarily
comprising accelerated depreciation of assets following an assessment of their useful economic lives as well as other associated closure
costs. The Group ceased production at its specialist creamn potting factory in Chard, Somerset in September 2015, In the prior year a charge
of £6.0 million was recognised in relation to site decommissioning and demolition costs. The tax credit on these exceptional costs in the priar
year was £0.3 millior,

b. Net cash flows attributable to discontinued operations
Net cash flows attrioutable to the Dairies operaticn in the period and comparative period are as follows:

2017 2016

£m £m

Cash flow from operating activites i - 2.1) (5%.6)
Cash used in investing activities - {10.4)
Net cash flows attributable to discontinued operations E_l) o {62.0)

8 Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share (EPS’') measures for the year have been calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity shareholders from
the relevant operations (continuing, discontinued and total Group) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
period, excluding those held by the Dairy Crest Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust which are held as treasury shares and treated as
cancelled.

The weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of basic EPS is detailed below along with the diluted weighted average
number of ordinary shares used for the calculation of diluted EPS. The diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares reflects the dilutive
impact of share options exercisable under the Group's share aption schemes. Note that in the circumstances where there is a basic loss per
shars from continuing operations, share opticns are anti-dilutive and therefore are not included in the calculation of any other EPS measures.

Dairy Crest Annual Report 2017

The numbers

89



90

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

8 Earnings per share continued

To show earnings per share on a consistent basis, which in the Directors’ opinion refiects the underlying performance of the Group more

appropriately, adjusted earnings per share has been calculated.

Year ended 31 March 2017

‘Year ended 31 Marck. 2016

Weighted Weighted
average average
number of Per share rurmoer of Per share
Earnings shares amount Earnings shares amcunt
£m miIIi_(i _ _pence ﬂ rviilion_ _ pence
Basic EPS fromrcontinuiing opérations - - 33.1 139.8 ' 23.7 38.5 . 137.9 27.9
Effect of dilutive securities:

Share opticns - 1..’3_ (0.2) - 1.1 0.2)

biluted EPS from éonlinuing operétions 7 3371 Ji o ?3? jﬂ o 139.C_)_ _ ﬁ
Adjusted EPS from continuing operations*
%f frem continuing aperations 7 - 33.1_ 139.8 23.7 o 38.5 137._9 o 27.8
Exceptional items {net of tax] 15.6 - 1.2 8.3 - 6.0
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (net of tax) 0.3 - 0.2 0.3 - 0.2
Pension interast expense (net of tax) 0.7 - 0.5 0.5 - 0.4
Adjusted basic EPS f?om continuingioperatior_is - T] ‘_1-39.8 35.(757 ‘_ﬁ 1373 - 34.5
Effect of dilutive securities: ' ' - - - -

Share options - 1.3_ (0.4} = 11 0.3)
deusted diluted EPS from continuing operations; 4?‘(_ _‘ﬂ j o 476 7 139£ . 343
gﬁic earnings/(loss) per share from discontinued N 5.2_ 139.8 :’:? o (151.5) 137? o 109.9)
operations
Effect of dilutive securities:

Shars opticns - 1.3 - - 1.1 0.9
Diluted earningél(loa;s) ber sharé from c.i'iscontinrued T ) o - -
operations 5.2 1411 37 _LSWE] 1320 {109.0)
@ic earnings/{loss) per share for the year - 38.3_ —ﬁ 27.4_ *(17.0) 13?5 o (81.9)
Effect of dilutive securities:

Share aptions - 1£ (0.3) - 1.1 0.6
Diluted earninéé/(loss) per share for the year ) 38.3 1414 _TL @ o 139.0. (8?3_)

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of signing of

these financial statements.

* Adjusted earnings per share from continuing operations calculations are presented to give an Indication of the underlying operational performance of the Group. The
calculations exclude exceptional items, amortisation of acquired ntangibles and pensan interest i relation to the Group's defined benefit pension schams, being

dependent on market assumptions at 31 March each year.

9 Dividends paid and proposed

D_eclared and paid during the year

Equity dividends on ordinary shares:
Final dividend for 2016: 16.0 pence (2015; 15.7 pence)
Interim dividend for 2017: 6.2 pence (20?6: E.1 pence)

Proposed for approval at AGM (not recognised as a liability at 31 March)

Equity dividends on ordinary shares:
Fin@l dividend for 2017 16.3 pence (2018: 16.0 pence)

2017 2016
£m £m
224 21.6
8.7 8.4

) 311 30.0
228 223
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10 Remuneration of employees and key management personnel

Number of employees (continuing operations) - Group nunztob::r nui?:wefi
Average number of employess: o
Production 668 620
Sales, distribution and administration 455 560
Total employees o 1,123 1,180
There were no employees in relation 1o the discontinued operation (2016; 2,708).
Remuneration of employees, including key management personnel
2017 2016
Continuing operations £m m
Wages and salaries o 41,2 44,3
Social security costs 4.9 A7
Equity settted share-based payments expense (Note 27) 1.2 1.4
Pensich costs (Note 21) 2.0 2.1
B ) N N 49.3 52.5
The above costs include amounts paid to the Company’s Executive and Non-executive Directors.
2017 2016
Discontinued operations £m £
Wages and salaries - - 64.7
Social security costs - 6.7
Equity settled share-based payments expense (Note 27) - 0.8
Pension costs {Note 21} - 29
,__ -
Key management compensation
Key management is represented by the Company's Executive and Non-executive Directors.
2017 2018
Directors £000 £000
Salaries and benefits T 187 1,058
Bonuses 194 373
Fees and benefits to Non-exscutive Directors 308 289
Emoluments o 1,873 1,720
Employer payments tq _dfﬁned contribution pension scheme 2_ 18

The Executive Directors did not exercise any cptions during the year. Aggregate gains made by the Directors on the exercise of share options

in 2016 were £9,830. The amount of the gain relating to highest paid director was £nil {2016 £9,830).

2017 2016
Highest paid director £000 £000
Salary and benefits o 703 675
Bonus 102 235
Emoluments T _91a

805

Further information relating to Directors’ remuneration far the year ended 31 March 2017 is provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Report an

pages 41 to &1,
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11 Property, plant and equipment

Vehicles, Asgets in

Land and plantand the course of

buildings  equipment construction Total
Consolidated 2017 ] £m £m £m £m
Cost o ) T -
At 1 April 2016 82.0 197.9 a8.2 376.1
Additions 4.9 9.3 12.2 26.4
Disposals {1.3) 44.8) - (46.1)
Transfers and reclassifications 4.0 91.0 95.0 -
Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (14.6} 0.5) - (16.1)
At 31 March 2017 ' 750 2528 134 3413
Accumulated depreciatidn - _ ' T - )
At 1 Aprl) 2016 30.3 111.9 - 142.2
Charge for the year - continuing 2.6 12.3 - 14.9
Disposals - 6.7) - 8.7)
Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (7.3) 0.4} - 7.7}
At 31 March 2017 T T ST 23 - 1427
Net book amount at 31 March 2017 - - t o 49.1 L 1353 13.4 ——15(;
Consolidated 2016
Cost S T B
At 1 April 2015 171.7 310.0 749 556.8
Additions 7.0 12.8 44.4 64.2
Disposals (5.0} - - (5.0)
Disposal of Dairigs operations (Note 30) ©92.4) (147.3) - (239.7)
Transfers and reciassifications a.7 22.4 (23.1) -
At 31 March 2016 - s20 1979 962 3761
Hmulated depreciation V ) - o -
At 1 April 2015 £68.6 159.5 - 228.1
Charge for the year — continuing 20 14.5 - 16.5
Charge for the year — discontinued operations 1.8 5.1 - 6.9
Asset impairments — discontinued operations - 1.6 - 1.6
Disposals (3.4) - - (3.4)
Disposal of Dairies operations {(Nete 30) (38.7) 168.8) - 107.5)
AL31 March 2016 ) ' ' 303 119 - 1422
Net book amount at 31 March 2016 517 80 952 2338

2017
On 31 March 2017, £7.3 milion of land and buildings and £0.1 million of plant and equipment was transferred to non-current assets held for
sale (see Note 18).

During the year, the Group disposed of £37.9 million of plant and equipment under two sale and leaseback agreements with Lombard
Business Leasing Limited. The sale and leaseback was for certain plant and equipment relating to the Demineralised Whey and GOS facility at
Davidstow {see Note 28).

2016
in the year ending 31 March 2016, £1.6 million of exceptional accelerated depraciation was charged in relation to Hanworth pricr to the
disposal of the Dairies operation (see Note 7).

Gapitalised leases included in vehicles, plant and equipment comprise: 22:: E%ﬁ
Giost¥ S s 8.9
Accumulated depreciation {21.7} {19.8)
Net beok amount 7 ' S ' ' 63 ol
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12 Goodwill

£m
Cost -
At 31 March 2015 145.6
Acquisition of Promovita ingredients Limited (Note 30) 12.0
Disposal of discontinued operations (Note 30) (70.7)
At 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 L ___ 86.9
Accumulated impairment
At 31 March 2015 (71.3)
Dispesal of discontinued operations (Note 30) 70.7
At 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 (0.6)
Net book amount at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 86.3

During the year ended 31 March 20186, the Group acquired the remaining share capital of Promovita Ingredients Limited ieading to the
recognition of £12.0 million of gcodwill (see Note 30) and disposed of its Dairies operaticn leading tc the disposal of £70.7 milfion of goodwill
which was fully written down during the year ended 31 March 2012

Impairment testing of goodwill

Acquired goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to three groups of cash-generating units {{CGUs'): Butters and
Spreads, MH Foods and Cheese and Functional Ingredients. Goodwill recegnised on the acquisition of Promovita Ingredients Limited is
inctuded in the Cheese and Functional Ingredients CGU as the business is directly linked to the Chease and Functional Ingredients product
group with a numkber of shared overheads.

All groups of CGUs with goodwill are tested for impairment annually by comparing the carrying amount of that CGU with its recoverabie
amount. Recaverabie amount is determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets and
strategic plans approved by sentor management covering a thres-year period and appropriate growth rates beyond that. The discount rate
applied to the projections was 6.56% for Butters and Spreads. MH Foods and Cheese and Functional Ingredients (2016: 6.0%).

The growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the three-year period for Butters and Spreads, MH Foods and Cheese and Functional
Ingredients is nil 2016: nil).

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to groups of CGUs at 31 March 2017 is:

MH Foods £6.7 miltion (2016: £8.7 million)
Butters and Spreads £65.5 million {2016: £65.5 million)
Cheese and Functicnal Ingredients £14.1 million {(2016: £14.1 milfion)

Key assumptions on which management has based its cash flow projections

Gross margin - budgeted gross margins are based initially on actual margins achieved in the preceding year further adjusted for projected
input and output price changes, volume changes, initiatives implemented and associated efficiency improvements. The budgeted margins
form the basis for strategic plans, which incorporate longer-term market trends.

Discount rates - Discount rates are pre-tax and calculated by reference to average industry gearing levels, the cost of debt and the cost of
equity based on the capital agset pricing model and GGU-specific risk factors.

Raw materials prices — budgets are prepared using the most up to date price and forecast price data avallable. This is based on forward
prices in the market place adjusted for any contracted prices at the time of forecast. The key resources are milk, vegetable ails, fuel oll, diesel,
gas and electricity and packaging costs.

Growth rate estimates — for periods beyond the length of the strategic plans, growth estimates are based upon published industry research
adjusted downwards to reflect the risk of extrapolating growth beyond a three-year time frame.

The Directors consider the assumptions used to be consistent with the historical performance of each CGU where appropriate and to be
realistically achievable in the light of eccnomic and industry measures and forecasts.

2017 and 2016

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

With regard to the assessment of value-in-use of the Butters and Spreads, MH Foods and Cheese and Functional Ingredients CGUs,
management believes that nc reascnably possible change in the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of those units to
exceed their recoverable amount.
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13 Intangible assets

Assets in
he course of internally Acaured
construction generated intangibles Total
- £m £m £m £m

Cost o -
Al 31 March 2015 1.4 35.6 8.7 45,7

Additions 35 - - 3.5

Disposals (0.4) 31.2) - (31.6)
Transfers and reclassifications (1.0 1.0 - -
A3 March 206 7 as B4 87 116
Additions 4.2 - - 4.2

Cisposals - {3.5) - (3.5)
Transfers and reclassifications 3.5) 8.1 [2.6) -
motMaohzr T T T ap a0 et iaa
Accumulated amortisation

At 31 March 2015 - 16.2 3.9 20.1

Amortisation for the year — continuing - 1.1 04 1.5
Amortisation for the year — discentinued operations - 0.9 - 09

Disposals - (18.0) - (16.0)
At 31 March 2016 T - 22 43 85
Armortisation for the year — continuing - 0.5 0.4 0.9
Armortisation for the year — discontinued operations - - - -~
Disposals - {3.5) - (3.5)
Transfers and reclassifications - 2.3 (2.3) -~
At31March2047 N 15 24 38
Net book amount at 31 March2047 a2 &5 a1 144
Ee‘s hook émount at731 March 2016 - 7‘33 N ﬁ872 \747 7—;117

in the year ending 31 March 2017, additions to assets in the course of construction of £4.2 million comprised third party systerm support costs
relating to a new enterprise planning system of £3.7 million @016: £nifj and product development costs of £0.5 miliion (2G16: £nil). in the prior
year, the assats in the course of construction of £3.5 million comprised third party systems and set-up support costs relating to the
demineralised whey powder and GOS projects at Davidstow.

Internally generated intangible assets comprise software developrment and implementation costs across manufacturing sites and Head Office
and praduct development whera the future recoverability can be reasonably assured under 1AS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’,

Acquired intangibles comprise predominantly brands acquired with the acquisition of businesses. The largest component within acquired
intangibles is the "Frylight’ brand acquired with the acquisition of Morehands Limited (MK Foods Limited) in June 2011, A useful life of 15 years
has been assumed for this brand, with 9 years remaining. The carrying value of the Frylight brand at 31 March 2017 is £3.7 million (2016: £4.1
miflion).

14 Investments

Consolidated
A charge of £0.5 million was incurred during the year ended 31 March 2017 following an impairment of the investment in HEICO Limited. This
investment related to the Dairies operation and the charge has therefore been recognised within discontinued operations.

In the prior year, the Group acquired the outstanding share capital of Promovita Ingredients Limited {'Promeovita’) for a cash consideration of
£6.0 million. Promovita was established in 2014 as a joint venture between the Group and Fayrefield Foods Limited to develop and produce
galacto-oligosaccharide, a prebiotic for use in infant formuia. (see Note 30).
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14 Investments continued

Company Share grants Shares in
awarged in s.bsidiary
subsidianes  underakings Tetal
£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 April 2015 14.7 468.1 482.8
Share-based payment charge in subsidiary companies 1.5 - 1.5
At 31 March 2016 16.2 468.1 484.3
Share-based payment charge in subsidiary companies 0.4 - 0.4
Disposal of shares (18.2) (239.2) (255.4)
At 31 March 2017 0.4 228.9 2293

Shares in subsidiary undertakings comprise an investment in Dairy Crest UK Limited of £228.9 milion. During the year the shares held in Dairy
Crest Limited of £255.4 million (including £16.2 million of share grants awarded in subsidiaries) were scld to Dairy Crest UK Limited for a

consideration of £450.0 million.

Share grants awarded in subsidiaries represent the cumulative cost of the Company's grant of equity instrumenis, under share-based
payment awards, 1o employees of subsidiary undertakings.

At 31 March 2017 the subsidiary undertakings were:

Parent

All Subsidiary undertakings:

Dairy Crest UK Limited

Dairy Crest France Holdings 1 Limited
Dairy Crest (Jersey) Limited

Dairy Crast (Services) Limited

Trading:

Dairy Grest Limited

MH Foods Limited

Promavita Ingredients Limited

Non-Trading:

Dairy Crest Dairy Products Limited
DC Quest Trustess Limited

Dairy Crest Facilities Limited
Coombe Farm Dairies Limited

Dairy Crest (Foston) Limited

Dairy Crest Foed Ingredients Limited
Dairy Crest Investments Limited
Dairy Crest Pension Trustees Limited
Dairy Crast Share Trustees Limited
Dairy Crest France Holdings 2 Limited

Unigate Dairies Limited
Cressdene Limited
Morehands IP Limited

Being Dissolved:
Morehands Limited
Magnuss & Usher Limited

Dairy Crest Group plc

Dairy Crest Limited

Dairy Crest Limited

Dairy Crest France Holdings 1 Limited

Dairy Crest UK Limited
Dairy Crest Limited
Dairy Crest Limited

Dairy Crest Limited

Dairy Crest Group plc

Dairy Crest UK Limited

Dairy Crest Limited

Drairy Crest Limited

Dairy Crest Limited

Dairy Crest Limited

Dairy Crest Limited

Dairy Crest Limited

Dairy Crest France Holdings 1 Limited
Dairy Crest (Services) |_imited
Dairy Crest (Jersey) Limited
Dairy Crest (Jersey) Limited
MH Foods Limited

Magnuss & Usher Limited
Dairy Crest Limited

Business_ o
Holding Company
Holding Company
Holding Company
Holding Company

Percentage of ordinary
share capital held

Manufacture of dairy products

Manufacture of cocking oils

Development and sales of
galacto-oligosaccharide

Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading
Non-Trading

Dormant
Haolding Company

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
95%
5%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%

The principal place of operation and country of incorporation of all subsidiary undertakings is England and Wales except Dairy Crest {Jersey)
Limited whose country of incorporation is Jersey.

The registered office of all subsidiary undertakings incorporated in England and Wales is Claygate Houss, Littleworth Road, Esher, Surrey,
KT10 9PN. The registered office of Dairy Crest (Jersey) Limited is 44 Esptanade, St Helier, Jersey, JE4 9WG.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

15 Inventories

Consolidated

2017 2016

£m £m
Raw materials and consumables 130 125
Finished goods 141.2 139.8
T T

Cheese inventorles at 31 March 2017 totalled £123.8 million (2016; £129.6 million). This matures over an average of 11 months, and upto a
rmaxirmum of 50 months.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, £7.3 million of product produced during commissioning of demineralised whey and GOS was written
off {2016: £0.4 million). At 31 March 2017 a provision for impairment has been made of £3.8 million (2016: £0.6 million) against product with a
carrying value of £7.6 million (2016: £1.0 milion) where the expected net realisable value of the product was below carrying value.

In April 2014, the Group granted the Trustee of the Dairy Crast Group Pensicn Fund a floating charge over maturing cheese inventories with a
maximum realisable value of £60 million.

16 Trade and other receivables

Coensoclidated Parent Company

T a0 2o 2017 2016

£m m £m £m

Trade recevables 24 304 - -

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 391.3 101

Other receivables 1.5 Q.2 - 0.4

Prepayments and accrued income 4.5 3.6 - -

o S ®a 482 313 105
All amounts abave, with the exception of prepayments and accrued income, are financial assets,

Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Consolidated

2017 2016

£m £m

Sterh‘ng—;k T 72577 - 29.4

Euro 1.7 1.0

US Dollar - _

Swiss Franc - -

e "

There are no material concentrations of credit risk.

Trade receivables are non interest bearing and are generally on 30-90 days’ terms and are shown net of a provision far impairment. As at

31 March 2017, no trade receivables have been impaired and provided for (2016: £8.2 million). The prior year figure included an impairment of
£4.3 million in relation to Quadra Foods Limited that was charged to the income statement in the year ended 31 March 2012, This has been
utilisad in the period as part of the full and final settlement of liabilities betwesn the Group, Quadra Foods Limited and Farmright Limited {see
Notg 4).

At 31 March, the analysis of trade receivables that were past due but not impaired is as follows:

Past due, not impaired

Nerther past
due ner
Total :mpaired 30-60days 60-90days =90 days
£m _Em em £m £m
31 March 2017 27.4 22.6 4.3 0.5 ~
31 March 2016 ) ) ) 30.4 26.2 2.3 1.0 0.9

The credit quality of trade receivables is assessed by referance to external credit ratings where available, octherwise historical information
relating to counterparty default rates is used.
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17 Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments

2017 2016
Consolidated Note £m £m
Current - T -
Cross currency swaps {cash flow hedges} 31 - 16.0
Non-current
Cross currency swaps {cash flow hedges} 31 12.3 2.3
2017 2016
Company Note £m £m
Current
Cross currency swaps (cash flow hedges) 231 - 16.0
Non-current
Cross currency swaps (cash flow hedges) 31 12.3 2.3

All derivative financial instruments are fair valued at each balance sheet date and all comprise Level 2 valuations under IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value
Measurement', namely, that they are based on inputs observable directly {from prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

18 Cash and short-term deposits

Consolidated Parent Company
2017 2015 2017 2018
£m £m £m £m
Cash and short-term deposits 20.9 100.3 0.1 401
Cash and short-term deposits eamn interest at floating rates based on daily bank depaosit rates.
Counterparty risk and the Group's policy for managing deposits are described in Note 31.
19 Non-current assets held for sale
Consolidated Parent Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
fm £m £m £m
Non-current assets held for sale 7.4 - - -

Non-current assets held for sale of £7.4 million represent properties owned by the Group, ccmprising closed depots and clesed production
facilities, that management has committed to sell and where the completion of the sale within twelve months of the classification date is highly
probatble. The held for sale value represents the lower of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. Any future profit on disposal of the
closed depots will be recognised as Other Income - property within the Income Staterment. Any future profit on disposal of the closed

production facilities will be reccgnised under exceptional items within the Incorme Statemant.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

20 Financial liabilities

2017 2018
Consolidated . Nete ®m  im
Eugnt S
Chbligations under finance leases 32 1.5 1.5
Loan rotes (at amortised cost) 32 11.9 95,8
Debt issuance costs L - _Eﬁl L @
Finarcial liabilties - Borrowings S - 7 7 N 12.8 965
Cross currency swaps (cash flow hedges) 0.1 -
Forward currency contracts (at fair value: cash flow hedge) 32 0.2 -
Financiaul liabiites — Derivative financial inéirumenis T E L
Gurrent financial liabilities - - *: 134 965
Non-~current o ' a
Obligations under finance leases 32 1.0 2.4
Loan notes (at amortised cost) 3z2 146.0 1442
Bank loans (at amortised cost) 3z 128.0 105.0
Debt issuance costs (0_8) {1.3)
l;'l‘nancw'am{es - Borrbwings o - - 274.2 o 250.3
Cross currency swaps (cash_ flow hedges) ] ] ] - 1_3
;na;mcia! liabilities — Derivative financial instruments - 1.3
Nor-current financial liabilities T S 2142 2516

All derivative financial instruments are fair valued at each balance sheat date and all comprise Level 2 valuations under IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value
Measurement’, namely, that they are based on inputs observable directly (from prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
The effective interest rates on loans and borrowings at the balance sheet date were as follows:

Effective =tfectve
2017 Interest rate 2016 Interest rate
Maturity £m at March 2017 £m at March 2016
Eurrent o - T
l.oan notes: US$ swapped into £ April 2016 - - 85.6 5.31%
Sterling April 2016 - - 10.0 5.27%
Euro swapped into £ April 2017 9.1 5.53% - -
Sterling April 2017 2.8 5.84% - -
Finance leases 1.5 3:61‘ Ya 1.5 3.61%
Debt issuance costs (0.6} o 0.6) -
o ) - - 12.8 —E
Nic;n-current ) S o
Revolving credit facilities: Steriing floating Qctober 2018 80.0 LIBOR + 150bps 53.0 LIBOR + 160bps
Sterling floating October 2020 48.0 LIBOR + 170bps 52.0  LIBOR + 190bps
Loan notes: Euro swapped into £ Aprit 2017 - 5.53% 8.5 5.53%
Sterling April 2017 - 5.84% 2.8 5.84%
US$ swapped into £ November 2018 20.0 3.87% 17.4 3.87%
USE swapped into £ Navember 2021 45.0 4.52% 39.2 4.52%
Us$ swapped into £ March 2023 36.0 3.33% 31.3 3.33%
Sterling March 2026 45.0 3.34% 45.0 3.34%
Finance Leases 1.0 36& 2.4 3.61%
Debt issuance costs (0.8) - {1.3) -
S - T . maaz 2503
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20 Financial liabilities continued

On 4 April 2018, the Group repaid $123 million (£70.2 million) and £10 million of 2006 fixed coupen loan notes on maturity. To fund the
repayment, on 23 March 20186, the Group raised £45 million and $45 million (£31.1 million) of fixed coupon loan notes. The Sterling loan notes
have a maturity of 10 years and an interest rate of 3.34%. The US Dollar loan notes have a maturity of seven years. The principal and the
interest cash flows have been swapped into Sterling at an exchange rate of 1.4471 and an interest rate of 3.23%. Upfront debt issuance costs

amounted to £0.4 millicn and these are being charged to the consolidated income statement over the term of the loan notes.

On & October 2015, the Group refinanced its revolving credit facility. The £170 million plus €90 million revalving credit facility which was due to
axpire in October 2016 was cancelled and replaced by a £240 million facility, of which £80 million will expire on 6 October 2018 and £160
million will expire on 6 October 2020. Upfront debt issuance costs amountad to £1.6 million and these are being charged to the consolidated
income statement over the expected life of the facility. There were no debt issuance costs charged to the income statement relating to the

cancelled facility in the prior year.

The Group is subject to a number of covenants in relation to its borrowing facilities which, if contravened, would result in its loans becoming
immediately repayable. These covenants specify a maximum net debt to EBITDA ratio of 3.5 times and minimum interest cover ratio of 3.0

times. No covenants were contravened in the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: None).

Details of the Group's interest rate management strategy and interest rate swaps are included in Notes 31 and 32.

2017 2016
Company £m £m
Current
Locan notes (at amartised cost) 11.9 95.6
Financial liabilities — Borrowings 11.9 95.6
Cross currency swaps (cash flow hedges) - T (;T -
Financial liabilities — Derivative financial instruments S -“——6.; -
Current financial liabilities 12.0 95.6
Non-current
Lean notes (at amortised cost) 146.0 1442
Financial liabilities — Borrowings B “14-65 T 1442
Cross currency swaps (cash flow hedges) - 1.3
Financial liabilities — Derivative financial instruments - 1.3
Non-current financial liakilities T T T46—0_ 145.5

All derivative financial instruments are fair valued at each balance sheet date and all comprise Level 2 valuations under IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value

Measurement’, namely, that they are based on inputs observaple directly (from prices) or indirectly {derived from prices).

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
The effective interest rates on loans and borrowings at the balance sheet date were as fcllows:

Effective Effective
Interest rate Interest rate
2017 at March 20186 at March
Maturity £m 2017 £m 2018
Current
Loan notes: US$ swappedinto £ April 2016 - - 85.6 5.31%
Sterling April 2016 - - 10.0 5.27%
Euro swapped into £ April 2017 9.1 5.53% - -
Sterling April 2017 28 5.84% - -
11.9 95.8
Non-current
Loan notes: Euro swapped into £ April 2017 - - 8.5 5.53%
Sterling April 2017 - - 2.8 5.84%
US$ swapped into £ Novernber 2018 20.0 3.87% 17.4 3.87%
US$ swepped into £ Novernber 2021 45.0 4.52% 39.2 4.52%
US$ swapped into £ March 2023 36.0 3.33% 31.3 3.33%
Sterling March 2026 45.0 3.34% 45.0 3.34%
o T T o 146.0 442
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

21 Retirement benefit obligations

The Group has a defined benefit pension scheme (Dairy Crest Group Pension Fund), which is closed to future service accrual and a defined
contribution scheme (Dairy Crest Group defined contribution scheme).

Defined Benefit Pension Scheme
The Dairy Crest Group Pension Fund {'the Fund) is a final salary defined benefit pension scheme, which was closed to future service accrual
from 1 April 2010 and had been closed to new joiners from 30 June 20086. This pension scheme is a final salary schems.

The Fund is administered by a corporate trustee which is legally separate from the Company. The Trustee’s directors comprise representatives
of both the employer and employees, pius a professional trustee. The Trustee is required by law to actin the interest of all relevant beneficiaries
and is responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets plus the day to day administration of the benefits.

The Company and Trustes have agreed a long-term strategy for reducing investment risk as and where appropriate. This includes an
asset-liability matching policy which aims to reduce the volatility of the funding level of the pension plan by investing in assets which perform in
line with the liabilities of the plan so as to protect against inflation being higher than expected. in December 2008 and June 2003, certain
obligations relating to retired members were hedged by the purchase cf annuity contracts.

During the financial year, a Flexible Retirement Option (FRO") exercise was carried out. An offer enabling deferred pensioners aged 55 and
over to take cash equivalent transfer values {or trivial commutation lump sums, where applicable), with financial advice paid for by the
company. Transfer valugs totalling £16.7 million and trivial commutation Jump sums totalling £0.1 million were accepted. This resulted in a
seftlernent gain before costs of £2.0 millicn, representing 1AS19 liabilities extinguished of £18.8 million less amaounts paid of £16.8 milllion.

UK legislation requires that pension schemes are funded prudently. The most recent full actuarial valuation of the Fund was carried out as at
31 March 2013 by the Fund's independent actuary using the projected unit credit methed. Full actuarial valuations are carried out triennially.
This valuation resulted in a deficit of £145.0 million compared to the IAS19 deficit of £56.3 million reported at that date. The next full actuarial
valuation is currently being carried out on the 31 March 2016 position. We expect the resuits of the valuation in the first haif of 2017/18.

Under the latest schedule of contributions, which was signed in March 2014, the level of contributions is £13 million per annum from April 2014
o March 2016, then £16 miflicn per annum until March 2017 and then £20 miflion per annum until March 2020. Until June 2018, these
contributions included £2.8 milion per annum of rental payments for land and buildings that were subject to a sale and leaseback
arrangement between the Group and the Fund as part of the final schedule of contributions. The Group bought back the fand and buildings
for £8.3 million in Novernber 2015 with rental payments ceasing from this date. This reduced contributions payable te £11.8 million per annum
to March 2018, £13.2 millicn par annum frem April 2016 to March 2017, £17.2 million per annum frorm April 2017 urtl June 2018 and then £20
miflion per annum untii March 2020.

A new schedule of contriibutions will ba agreed with the Trustee following the next actuarial review as at 31 March 2016.

The Fund duration is an indicator of the weighted-average time untii benefit payments are made. For the Fund as a wholg, the duration is
around 20 years reflecting the approximate split of the defined benefit obligation (including insured pensioners) between deferred members
{duration of 27 years), current non-insured pensioners {duration of 15 years) and insured pensioners {duration of 11 years).

The principal risks associated with the Group's defined benefit pension arrangements are as follows:

Asset Volatility

The liabilities are calculated using the discount rate set with reference to cerporate bond vields; if assets underperform this yield, this wili
create a deficit, The Fund holds a significant proportion in 2 range of return-seeking assats which, though expected to outperform corporate
bonds in the long-term, create volatility and risk in the short-term. The aliocation to return-seeking assets is monitored ta ensure it remains
appropriate given the Fund's long-term objectives.

Changes in Bond Yields
A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the Fund's liabilities for accounting purposes, although this will be
partially offset by an increase in the value of the Fund’s bond holdings.

Infiation Risk

A significant portion of the Fund's benefit cbligations are linked to inflation, and higher expected future inflation will lead to higher liabilities
falthough, in maost cases, caps on the level of inflalionary increases are in place to protect against extreme inflation). The majerity of the assets
are either unaffected by or only loosely correlated with inflation, meaning that an increase in expected future inflation will also increase the
deficit.

Longevity Risk

The majority of the Fund's obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in lifa expectancy will resull in an increase
in fiabilities.

A contingent liability exists in relation to the equalisation of Guaranteed Minimum Pension {GMP*). The UK Government intends to implement

legislation which could result in higher benefits for sorme members. This would increase the defined bensfit abligation of the Fund. At this
stage, it is not possible to quantify the impact of this change.
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21 Retirement benefit obligations continued

The following tables summarise the components recognised in the consclidated balance sheet, consolidated income staterment and
consclidated statement of comprehensive income.

2017 2016
Defined benefit obligation £m £
Falr value of scheme assets: - Equities - 437
— Bonds and cash 747.0 502.9

- Equity return swaps vaiuation® 18.6 1.9

— Property and other 115.5 114.6

- Insured retirement cbligaticns 310.6 291.3

T T T e 10444

Defined benefit abligaticn: - Uninsured retirement obligations™ o ' (994.0) : (786.8)
- Insured retirement obligaticns {307.3) (288.0)

Total defined benefit obligation o (1,301.3) (1,074.8)
Recegnition of lability for unrecoverable notional surplus - (12.1)
T (1,301.3) (1,086.9)

Net liability recognised in the balance sheet {109.6) (42.5)
Related deferred tax asset 18.6 125
Net pension liability ) (91.0) (30.0)

* Compnses a positive synthetic eguty exposure of £157.5 million (2018: £107.7 million) and a negative LIBOR exposure of £138.9 million {2016: £105.8 millicn).
** Includes obligations to deferrec membpers of £676.9 millon (2016: £541.8 milion) and non-insured members of £317.1 million {2018: £244.9 million].

The Group is entitled to any surplus on winding up of the Fund albeit refunds are subject to tax deductions of 35% at source. Based on the
present value of committed cash contributions at 31 March 2017 and the IAS 19 valuation at that date of £109.6 million, there would be
nothing deducted from any netional surplus returned to the Group (2016: £12.1 million). In the prior year this was recognised as an additional
liability in accordance with [FRIG 14. It shouid be noted that cash contributions are determined by reference to the triennial actuarial valuation,
not the J1AS 19 valuation. The actuarial deficit is greater than that recognised under IAS 19 since liabilities are discounted by reference to gilt
yields rather than high quality corporate bond yields.

2017 2016
Amounts recognised in consolidated income statement £m £m
Administration expenses ) o {1.0) {0.8)
Settlement gain 2.0 -
Other finance costs — pensions (0.9) {0.6)
[oss hefore tax 0.2 - (1.4)
Deferrad tax (0.3} 0.3
Loss for the year R (04) {1.1)
2017 2016
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income £m £m
Return on plan assets (exc-:-lt:ai—n(;:,;:lounts included in net interest) 1525 {44.0)
Experience gains arising on scheme liabilites 30.6 14.1
Actuarial (losses)y/gains due to changes in the financial assumgticns (275.6) 4.6
Netactuaralloss B (92.5) (25.3)
Movement in liability for unrecoverable notional surplus 121 4.8
Recognised in other COmpFJ&I’?SiTG income (8?4) o (263)
Related tax 10.7 1.0
Net actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive income - (69.7) (19.5)

Actual returns on plan assets were £188.4 million {2016: £(8.0) million).
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21 Retirement benefit obligations continued

Moavement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows: 22:1-: 20{1::

Overing defined penefit obiigaton - T nema8 (10037
interest cost (36.7) {36.6)
Actuarial (losses)/gains arising from changes in financial assumptions (275.6) 4.6
Actuarial gains arising from experience 30.6 14.1

Benefits paid 63.2 36.8

%ment gains 20

Closing defined benefit abligation (1,301.3)  (1,074.8)

2017 2016
Movement in the fair vatlue of fund assets are as follows: S o gm £m
abening fair value of fund assets 7 - - ' 1,044.4 1,069.2
Interest income on fund assets 35.9 36.0
Rameasurement gains/(losses) cn fund assets 152.5 {44.0)
Contributions by employer E 13.4 20.8
Administration costs ingurred (1.0 {0.8)
Benefits paid out 53.2) (36.9)
@ng fa‘\rval'ue?uﬁassets T ' o jﬂij 7&44._;

The Fund’s assets ars frivested in the following asset classes (all assets have a quoted market value in an active market with the exception of
property, annuity palicy and cash).

2017 2018 2015
Assets £m £m £m
Equites: ' e
United Kingdom 428 35.0 49.9
North America 62.4 46.3 65.9
Europe (ex UK) 22.8 17.9 26.4
Japan 17.9 12.2 171
Asia [ex Japan) 11.6 8.5 9.2
Emerging Markets - 15.4 23.7
Glaobal Small Cap - 16.1 18.2
Cash/LIBOR Synthetic Equity (138.9) (105.8) {144.6}
Emerging Market Debt* 55.0 52.3 54.0
Multi Asset Credit*™ 69.1 62.0 62.5
Insurance Linked Securities*** 37.6 31.7 29.4
Absolute Return Bonds**** 33.5 325 331
Bonds:
Corporate Bonds 203.9 123.8 118.1
Liability Driven Investments***** 305.9 2253 224.86
Annuity Policy 310.6 2913 306.8
Property 77.9 82.9 76.6
Cash 79.6 97.0 100.3
Total ' s rpade 10092

Equities are 2 combination of physical equities of £nil {2016: £43.7 million), a positive synthetic equity exposure of £157.5 million (2016: £107.7
million) and a negative LIBOR exposure of £138.9 milion (2016: £105.8 million).
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21 Retirement benefit obligations continued
The Group does not use any of the pension fund assets.

Tris is debt issued by emerging market countries denominated in the emergi-g market's domestic currency. The deot is almast entirely issued by governments and
rot by corporations. Investors berefit frorn tugher yelds on the bonds due <o the additional nsks of iInvesting 1~ er-arging mar<et countries, corrparec to developed
countries and it 15 also expected that emerging market currencies will appreciate over ime elatve to developed countries.

Multi Asset Credit strategies invest giobally in a wide range of credit-based asset classes wnich include bank loans, high yeld bonds, secuntised debt, emerging
market debt and distressed debt af non- nvestment grade. The investment strateges will alsc alocate amou~ts in investment grade creat, soversign bonds and
casr for defensive reascns. The strategies are opportunrstic anc allocate dynarmically to the best opporiunites within the credt market frorm an asset allocation and
individual secunty selection perspective.

P

Insurance linked securities are svent-inked irvestmeants which allow investors outside the insurance industry to access nsurance premums for assuming various
farms a~d degrees of insurance nsk. The underlying ns< premiurm 1s a tyge of investment nisk where the event 1s inked to natural or man-made catastrophes. The
premium paid to the iInvestor represents compensation for the “expected loss™ due to the uncertainty arourd the size and tming of the nsured event,

Tt Absolute Return Bond strategies are designed fo deliver a pos tive returr in all market ervironmerts and will ta<e advantage of rumerous alpha opportunities within
the fixed income universe, The objectve of the strategy 18 1o caplure returrs from active management in a number of areas within fixed ncome including interest
rates, curre~cies, asset aliocaton and security selection. The strategy will Fave lorg and short positions and employ a degree of leverage. The strategies tend to
have low sensitivity to the directio™ o irterest rates and credit.

Py

tnsight have been appointed to manage he Liability Drivery Investment {'LDY) portfolio for the Fund, The objective is to hecge a progortion of the Fund's labiites
against changes in interest rates and inflation expectations by invest ng n assets that are similarly sensitive to changes in interest rates and inflation expectations.
Insight will seek to add terest and inflation exposure to the LEI portfalio aver time in line with paramsters that have been set by the Trustes. Insight are perm tted
to use a range of swaps and giit based derivative instrurmen-s as welf as prysical bends to structure the liability hedge for the Fund. In addition, Insight are
responsible for monitoring marke: yieids aganst a number of pre-set vield triggers and will increase the level of hedging as and when the triggers ara met.

The principal assumptions used in determining retirement benefit obligations for the Fund are shown below:

2017 2016 20°5
% % %

Key assumptions:
Price inflation (RP) 3.3 3.2 3.1
Price inflation (CPI) 2.2 2.1 2.0
Pension increases (Pre 1983 - RPl to 7%/annum) 3.3 3.2 3.1
Pension increases (1993 to 2006 — RFI to 5%/annum) 3.2 3.1 3.0
Pension increases (Post 2006 - RPI to 4%/annum) 3.0 2.9 2.8
Life expectancy at 65 for a male currently aged 50 (years) 241 24.0 23.9
Average expected remaining life of a 65 year old retired male (years) 22.5 22.4 22.4
Life expectancy at 85 for a female currently aged 50 (years) 27.0 26.9 26.8
Average expected remaining Ife of a 65 year old retired female (years) 24.8 24.7 24.6
Discount rate 2.4 3.5 3.4

The financial assurmnptions reflect the nature and term of the Fund'’s liabilities. The mortality assumptions are based on analysis of the Fund
members, and allow for expected future mprovements in mortality rates. It has been assumed that members exchange 25% of their pension
for a cash lump sum at retirement and 30% cof deferred members take the Pension Increase Exchange option at retirement.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
The key assumptions used for IAS 19 are discount rate, inflation and mortality. If different assumptions were used, this could have a material
effect on the results disclosed. The sensitivity of the results to these assumptions is as follows:

Expacted Expense for 2017/18

Service Net Total P&L March 2017

Cost Interest Charge Deficit

£m m £m £m
Current Figures 1.0 2.4 34 (109.6)
Effect of a 0.1% decrease in the discount rate - 0.4 0.4 (22.9)
Recalculated value 1.0 2.8 3.8 (132.5)
Effect of a 0.1% increase in the inflation assumption - 0.5 0.5 (20.3)
Recalculated value 1.0 2.9 3.6 {129.9)
Effect of a 1 yvear increase in life expectancy - 1.0 1.0 41.6)
Recalculated value 1.0 3.4 4.4 _ __(1,51_2_’

The above sensitivities assume that, with the exception of the annuity contracts, the Fund's assets remain unchanged due to changes in
assurnptions, but in practice changes in market interest and inflation rates will also affect the value of the Fund's assets. The Company and
Trustee have agreed a long-term strategy for reducing investment risk as and when appropriate. This includes an asset-liability matching policy
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21 Retirement benefit obligations continued

which aims to reduce the volatilty of the funding level of the Fund by investing in assets which perform in line with the liabilities of the Fund. In
December 2008 and June 2009, certain obligations relating to retired members ware fully hedged by the purchase of annuity contracts, The
Fund's other investments in¢lude matching assets which pratect against changes in bond yields and against inflation risk. The respective
interest rate and inflation hedge ratios for these assets as at 31 March 2017 were both 36% of those obligations not covered by annuity
contracts.

The Company recognises no liabilities on its balance sheet, or charges or credits in its income statement or statement of recognised income
and expense in relation to the Fund. The legal sponsor of the Fund is Dalry Crest Limited.

Defined Contribution Pension Scheme

The Group has charged £2.0 million in respect of the Dairy Crest Group defined contribution scheme in the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016
£2.1 million), The Company has made no charge in respect of the Dairy Crest Group defined contribution scheme in the year ended 31 March
2017 2016: nil).

22 Trade and other payables

Consolidated Parent Company

T 27 cue 2w 208

-~ E',"l £m £m £m

Trade payables 7 48  s02 - -
Amounts due ta subsidiary undertakings - - - -
Other tax and social security 1.2 1.3 0.1 -
Other creditors” 6.4 32.4 - -~
Accruals* 25,7 36.4 1.1 3.2
o - - o 791_7720;.3_kq12'_ Y

* Financial liabilities at amortised cost,

Inciuded within accruals is £7.6 million in relation to promotional funding which is subject 10 a degree of estimation uncertainty (2016: £13.0
million). The accruels relating to promoticnal funding are caicuiated based on an estimated redemiption rats of the promation. The customer
will claim the funding retrospectively Dased on the performance of the promotion. There has been a reduction in accruals relating to
promotional funding in the period reflecting a growing trend towards off-invoice promational funding from retrospective promational funding.

23 Deferred income

2017 2016
Current Em £
Grants ] ] 1.5 1.6
Non-current
Grants 3.0 4.5

In 2010711 two new biomass boilers were installed at the Davidstow cheese manufacturing site. Capital expendiure amounted to £3.9 million
and we received cash grants of £0.8 million during the year ended 31 March 2011 and £0.2 million during the year ended 31 March 2012 from
the South West of England Regional Development Agency.

During 2012/13 the Group received a grant of £5.3 million under the Regicnal Growth Fund from the Department of Business, Innovation and
Skills in relation to the consolidation of the spreads manufacturing into a single site at Kirkby, Liverpool. This grant is conditional upon certain
conditions over a five year term, principally the project being cornpleted and the creation or safeguarding of an agreed number of jobs.
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24 Provisions

Site
restructunng
and Dares disposal Dilapidation:
razionalisation provis.cn provision Total
£m £m £m £m
Ag at 1 April 2016 5.0 3.0 2.0 10.0
Utihsed during the year (2.7) (2.8) - (5.5
Charged during the year - - 0.2 0.2
At 31 March 2017 2.3 0.2 2.2 4.7
Current 2.3 0.2 0.2 2.7
Non-Current - - 20 2.0
At 1 April 2015 3.1 - - 3.1
Utilised during the year (2.4) - - (2.4)
Charged during the year 43 3.0 2.0 9.3
At 31 March 2016 5.0 3.0 2.0 10.0
Current 5.0 3.0 2.0 10.0

Non-Current - - - -

Restructuring and rationalisation of operating sites

In the prior year, the Group provided through exceptional operating items, decommissicning and demalition costs in relation to the closure of
the Chard site of £4.3 million, The Group has paid £2.7 milion of these costs in the year ending 31 March 2017 (2016: £2.4 millon) and expects
the remaining provision to be utilised in the year ending 31 March 2018.

Dairies disposal provision

At 31 March 2018, the Group held a provision of £3.0 million for future expected costs in relation to the disposal of the Dairles operation to
Muller UK & Ireland Group LLP on 26 Dacember 2015, The Group has paid £2.8 million of these costs in the year ending 31 March 2017 and
expects the remainder of this provision to be utilised in the year ending 31 March 2018.

Dilapidation provision

At 31 March 2017, the Group held a provision relating to leasehold property dilapidation liabilities on properties where the Group considers
there to be a high likelihood of exiting when the lease term expires. The payment of this provision would occur following vacation of the
respective properties. A provision of £0.2 million relates to vacated properties and therefore may become payable in the year ending 31 March
2018. The remaining £2.0 million relates to properties where the lease term exgires in the year ending 31 March 2020 and as such the
provision has been re-classified as non-current in the Group's financial statements. The prior year has not been re-stated.

25 Share capital

2017 2018
Authorised Thousands  Thousands
_O}%'ary shares of 25 pence each o 240,000 240,000
Issued and fully paid Thausands £m
At 31 March 2015 - 137,725 34.4
lssued for cash on exercise of share options 1,768 0.5
lssued to ESOR at par for nil consideration 1,200 0.3
At 31 March 2016 o 140,591 35.2
Issued for cash on exercise of share options 380 B Q.1
At 31 March 2017 o T 141071 353

During the year ended 31 March 2017 380,281 shares were issued at a premium of £1.3 milion for an aggregate consideration of £1.4 milfion
(2016: 2,965,762 shares at a premium of £4.5 million for an aggregate consideration of £5.0 million). Exercises of management share options
are fulfiled by the ransfer of existing shares from The Dairy Crest Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust (ESOP’) - see Note 27.
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26 Notes to statement of changes in equity
Consolidated
The shares held by the ESOP are available to satisfy awards under the Company’s management share option schemes (see Note 27).

At 31 March 2017 the ESOP held 1,132,532 shares (2016: 1,203,367 shares) in the Company at a cost of £0.3 million (2016: £0.3 million). The
ESOP was established in August 1998 to acquire shares in the Company in order to hedge certain fulure obligations of the Group including
sharas awarded under the Company's management share option schemes. During the year the Trustee of the ESOP transferred 71,035 (2016:
87,401) shares following exercises of options and subscribed for 200 shares at 25 pence per share. The market value of the shares held by the
ESOPR, which are listed on the London Stock Exchange was £6.3 million at 31 March 2017 {2016: £7.4 million).

Merger Hedging Translafion Other

resarve reserve reserve reserves

£ £m £m £m

AU31 March 2016 o o T sss @8 (5 508
Total recognised in other comprehensive income ] B - 2.3) - 2.3)
AU31 March 2017 _ -  ss8  ®N (.5 _ 483
At 31 March 2015 I L L Y
Total recognised in other comprehensive income - 0.8 - ©.8
A3 March 2016 ) - -  s58 @8 (1.5 506

The merger reserve includes the premium on shares issued to satisfy the purchase of Dairy Grest Limited in 1996. The cumulative amount of
goodwill charged against the merger reserve is £86.8 million (2016: £88.8 million). The reserve is not distributable.

The hedging reserve records the gains and losses on hedging mstruments, to the extent that they are effective cash flow hedges. Any gains
and losses previousty recorded in the hedging reserve are reclassified in profit and loss when the underlying hedged item affects profit and
loss.

The translation reserve records exchange differences arising from the translation of the accounts of foreign currency denominated subsidiaries
offset by the maovements on lcans and derivatives designated to hedge the net investment in foreign subsidiaries,

Parent Company

As parmitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, no separate profit and loss account is presented for the Company. The profit for the
year dealt with in the accounts of the Company is £186.9 million (2016: £34.5 million), this included a profit on the sale of shares held in Dairy
Crest Limited of £194.6 millicn and dividends received from subsidiary companies of £nit (2016: £34.5 million). Dividends paid amounted to
£31.1 million 2016: £30.0 million) which, along with a debit for share-based payments of £0.8 milion 2016: £0.8 million) and a transfer
between reserves of £158.9 million resulted in a £325.5 milion increase in retained earnings (2016: £5.7 million). Not all the retained samings
are distributable at this point as this is dependent on the proceeds for the sale being settied in cash, as is the Company's intention in the
future.

In 1996 the Company acguired the entire issued share capital of Dairy Crest Limited, Consideration was in the form of cash and the issue of
109.8 millicn ordinary shares of 25 pence each. The fair value of the shares issued was estimated as £170.2 million. The capital reserve of
£142.7 million, shown in the statement of changes in equity, represents the differénce between the fair value of shares issued and their
nominal value of £27.5 million. During the year these shares were sold to Dairy Crest UK Limited.

27 Share based payment plans
Consolidated
The Group has five share option schemes in operation.

The Pairy Crest Long Term Alignment Plan {'LTAP’)

The LTAP is a long-term incentive scheme under which awards are made to Diractors and senior managers consisting of the right to acquire
shares for a nominal price. The vesting pericd for grants made under this scheme is 50% of the award after 4 years and 50% after 5 years.
Pre-grant performance criteria determine the amount of any initial grant after which there are no significant perfermance conditions prior to
vesting. As such, these options are fair valued at 100% of the price at the date of the grant.

The Transformational Incentive Award (‘TIA")

The TIA was grantad, under the rules of the LTISF, in December 2014. The TIA is a nil price option to acquire ordinary shares subject to certain
performance objectives being met in addition to continuing employment. The performance obijectives relate to three categories detailed
below:

1) managing the competition approval process relating to the proposed Dairies operation disposa;

2} appropriate reshaping of the Group, taking into account the competition approval process; and

3) establishing a successful future business, by reference to the development of the Group, including delivering value to sharehclders.

The vesting period is three years from the date of grant. There are no cash settlement alternatives,
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27 Share based payment plans continued

Deferred Bonus Plan {‘DBP')

Any honus in excess of 50% of basic annual salary 1s deferred in share options with a vesting period of 3 years. The only vesting condition is
continuing employment. The cost of these share opticns is based on the number of shares issued and the share price at the date of grant,
spread over the vesting period. During the year ended 31 March 2017, no deferred shares were awarded in relation to the year ended 31
March 2016 {2018: none).

The Dairy Crest Long Term Incentive Share Plan {‘LTISP’)

This is a long-term incentive scherne under which awards are made to Directors and senicr managers consisting of the right to acquire shares
for a nominal price subject to the achievement of financial targets based on {} total shareholder returns (' TSR’) over a three year period versus
comparator companies and (i) growth in adjusted basic earnings per share. The TSR element represents 60% of the awards granted. The
vesting period for grants made under this scheme is 3 years with an exercise period of 7 years. There ware no awards granted in the year
ended 31 March 2017 (2016: nil). There are no cash settlement alternatives. The LTISP was replaced by the LTAR in the year ended 31 March
2014.

Dairy Crest Sharesave Scheme

All employees are eligible to join the Dairy Crest Sharesave Scheme, which allows emgloyees to use regular monthly savings to purchase
shares. Options are granted at a discount of up to 20% of the market value of the shares. No financial performance criteria are attached to
these options and they vest three years from the date of grant with an exercise period of six months. During the current year 629,539 options
were granted at 463 pence (2016: none). There are no cash settlement alternatives.

The number of share options and weighted average exercise price for each of the principal schemes is set out as follows:

LTAP: TIA DBeP- LTISP* Sharesave Scheme

o weighted

average

exercise

price

number number number number number {pence)

Options outstanding at 1 April 2016 877,831 252,668 71,23 131,589 991,800 367.8
Options granted during the year 216,927 - - - 829,639 483.0
Reinvested dividends 40,077 9,816 2,410 6,218 - -
Options exercised during the year (63,641) - - (7,394) (380,281) 358.1
Options forfeited during the year - - - - (300,022) 381.5
Options outstanding at 31 March 2017 T 4,071,194 262,374 73533 130,393 941,136 431.1
Exercisable at 31 March 2017 o - - 2,875 130,393 - -
Opticns outstanding at 1 April 2015 716,937 240,623 68,034 196,737 3,119,443 3193
Options granted during the year 264,779 - - - - -
Reinvested dividends 38,490 11,935 2,189 8,902 - -
Orptions exercised during the year - - - (71,738) (1,771,686) 285.9
Ogptions forfeited during the year (142,375) - - (2,332) (355,957) 351.9
Options outstanding at 31 March 2018 g77.831 252,558 71,123 131,560 991,800 367.8
Exercisable at 31 March 2016 63,640 - - 131,569 579,195 -

“LTAP, TiA, DBP and TISP aptions are nil cost options, The weighted average exercise price during the year under LTAP and LTISP was 562.8 pence and 565.0 pence
respectively.

LTAP options are exercisable at varying dates up to June 2026 {March 2016: May 2025). TIA options are exercisable up 1o December 2024
{March 2016: December 2024). DBP options are exercisable at varying dates up to December 2024 (March 2016: December 2024), LTISP
options are exercisable at varying dates up to July 2022 (March 2016: July 2022). Sharesave scheme opticns are exercisable up to February
2020 at prices ranging from 376 pence to 4683 pence (March 2016: exercisable up t¢ February 2018 at prices ranging from 281 pence to 376
pence).

The remaining welghted average contractual life of aptions outstanding at March 2017 is 7.8 years for the LTAP, 7.7 years for the TIA, 7.7 years
for the DBP, 5.1 years for the LTISP and 2.2 years for the Sharesave Scheme (2016: LTAP 8.4 years, TIA 8.7 years, DBP 8.6 years, LTISP 8.1
years and Sharesave Scheme 1.8 years).

The fair value factor of the Sharesave Scheme options issued in May 2016 was 19.0% giving a fair value of £1.08 per optien granted. This hag
been computed using a Black-Scheles option pricing model. The key assumptions used in the valuation model were expected share price
volatility 24%, risk free rate of interest 0.61% and dividend vield 3.57%. The volatility assumption is based on ths historical volatility of the Dairy
Crest Group plc share price aver a period commensurate with the expected option life, ending on the grant date of option.
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27 Share based payment plans continued

The fair value of T'A options issued on 23 December 2014 was £4.91 per option granted. This has been computed using a Black-Scholes
option pricing model. The key assurptions used in the valuation model were expected share price volatlity 24% and a risk free rate of interest
0.85%. The volatility assumption is based on the historical volatility of the Dairy Crest Group ple share price over a period commensurate with

the expected option life, ending on the grant date of option.

The Group expanse arising from share option plans for continuing operations for the year ended 31 March 2017 was £1.2 million (20186: £1.4
million). The Group expense related to discontinued operations was £nil (2018: £0.8 million). See Note 10.

PBP LTIS!’
numberﬁ numbet
52,251 50,859

1,743 1,976

Sharesave Scheme

Company
The number of share options and weighted average exercise price for each of the schemes for employees of the Company is set out as
follows:
AP TIA

number number
Cptions -outstandmg at 1 April 2016 - 424,375 Ez_ssia
Options granted during the year 118,668 -
Reinvested dividends 23,462 9,816
Adjustment for change of director during the year 60,375 -

Options exercised during the year -~ -
Options forfeited during the year - -

Options outstanding at 31 March 2017 626,870 262,374

Exercisable at 31 March 2017 -~ -

Options cutstanding at 1 April 2015 392,313 240,623
Options granted during the year 128,741 -
Reinvested dividends 20,221 11,835
Adjustment for change of director during the year (24,020) -

Options exercised during the year - -
Options fqrfeited during the year {92,880) -
Options outstanding at 31 March 2016 424,375 252,558

Exercisable at 31 March 2016 - -

53984 52,835

2,875 52,835

68,934 73,355
2,189 3,638
(18,872)  (26,134)

52,2561 50,859
- 50,859

weighted

average

exercise

price

number 7 {pence)
12,775 352.2
3,886 463.0
4,336 -
3,202) -
17,795 4045
21,572 333.7
(5,595) -
(3,202) -
12,775 3522

LTAP opticns are exercisable at varying dates up to June 2026 (March 2016: May 2025). TIA options are exercisable up to December 2024
{March 2016: December 2024). DBP options are exercisable at varying dates up to December 2024 (March 2016: December 2024). LTISP
options are exercisable at varying dates up to July 2022 (March 2018: July 2022). Sharesave Scheme options are exercisable up to February
2020 at prices ranging from 376 pence t© 463 pence (March 2016: exercisable up to February 2018 at prices ranging from 281 pence to 376

pence).

The remaining weighted average contractual life of options outstanding at March 2017 is 7.8 years for the LTAP, 7.7 years for the TIA, 7.7 years
for the DBP, 5.3 years for the LTISP and 1.6 years for the Sharesave Scheme (2016: LTAP 8.4 years, TIA 8.7 years, DBP 8.6 years, LTISP 7.3

years and Sharesave Scheme 1.6 years).

The Company expense arising from share option plans for the year ended 31 March 2017 was £0.8 millien (20186: £0.8 million;.
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28 Commitments and contingencies

Operating Leases

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain land and buildings, vehicles and equipment. There are no material renewal options,
escalation clauses or purchase options included in the lease contracts. There are no contingent rentals or operating leases or material
sub-leases. There are no significant restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases. Excluding land and buildings, these
leases have an average life of between three and seven years.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 March are as follows:

2017 2016

£m £m

Within one ye?- T ) 7.5 2.6
After one year but not more than five years 253 3.7
More than five years 8.0 -

During the year, the Group entered into two sale and leaseback agreements with Lombard Business Leasing Limited. The sale and leaseback
was for certain plant and equipment relating to the Demineralised Whey and GOS fagility at Davidstow. The future minimum rentals at 31
March 2017 in respect cf these operating lease agreements was £34.6 million.

Finance leases
On 23 June 2015 the Group recegnised a finance lease for certain assets at Nuneaton. The lease term is for 3.75 years. Future minimum
payments under finance leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments are as follows:

2017 2018

Present Present

Minimum value of Minmum value of
payments payments payments payments »
£m Em £m £m a.)
Within one year 1.6 1.5 1.5 1.5 L0
After one year but not mere than five years 1.0 1.0 2.8 2.4 g
More than five years - - - - c
Total minimum lease payments 2.6 2.5 41 3.9 2
Less: amounts representing finance charges 0.1) - 0.2) - =

Present value of minimum lease payments 2.5 2.5 3.9 3.9

Guarantees

The Company has provided guarantees and indermnities to Lombard Business Leasing Limited in relation to the cbligations of Dairy Crest
Limited under two lease agreements that were taken out during the year. The future lease rentals payable under these agreements at 31
March 2017 were £34.6 million and the maximum amount payable by the Company under these guarantees is capped at £76.0 million plus
interest. There were no guarantees and indemnities in the prior year.

Capital commitments

Consolidated

2017 2018
£m £m
Future capital expenditure contracted on property, plant and equipment 13.0 134

Contingent liabilities

Dilapidations liability of Chadwell Heath

Under the terms of the sale and purchase agreement of the Dairies operation, the Group has a potential dilapidations liability to 26 December
2015 in relation to the Chadwell Heath site, The lease does not end until July 2032, with break clauses in July 2022 and July 2027. Muller UK &
Ireland Group LLP have announced they intend to close the site in 2018, however any obligations are dependent on the intentions of the
landlord in respect of the site. The Directors are not quantifying the potential liability in respect of this obligation because to do so may be
prejudicial to the interests of the Group as the matter may be subject to negotiation or judicial proceedings.

Litigation in relation to the capital project at Davidstow

There are a numbear of contractual disputes in respect of the demineralised whey and GOS capital project at Davidstow which remain
cutstanding as of 31 March 2017, In a numiber of instances, ¢laims have been made by the Group, and in athers, claims made against the
Group. To the extent that claims are being made by the Group, including the most significant ongeing dispute, the status of the resolution of
these matters does not support recognition of an asset. The Group has rebutted zll claims against it, but noretheless has accrued for
professional fees on these claims.

In the case of both the claims made by the Group and those made against it, the Group is not disclosing detall of the claims dus to the legal
sensifivity of the matter. In each instance, it is anticipated that the case will be resolved in the next finangial year, It is the opinion of the
Directors that there is no significant financial liability that would require being provided for as at 31 March 2017,
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29 Related party transactions
The Group had no significant related parties.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group anq Company 2:: é(gma
Shortterm employes benefts T T 20 e
Share-based payments ~ 0.8 0.8
Tolal componsation paid o key rmanagerment persormel 28 27

* Further details relating to compensation of key management personnel are set outin she Directors' Remuneration Report. This ircludes a description of pension
arrangerments and any cash supplements paid.

Key management personnal comprise Executive and Non-executive Directors of Dairy Crest Group plc. The seniar managerment team is small
and all key decisions are made by either the three Executive Directors or by the Group Board which meets regularty.

Company

Dairy Crest Limited, a subsidiary company, incurred costs of £2.0 million (2018: £1.9 million) from the Company for the provision of
managerment and administrative services carried out on its behalf. Dairy Grest Limited received £1.9 million {2016: £1.8 million) for the
remuneration of the Company's employees which had been paid by Dairy Crest Limited.

Interest charges of £2.5 million {2016: £4.0 million) were incurred by the Gompany from Dairy Crest Limited on loans reflecting an interest rate
of LIBOR+10C basis points. Interest income of £5.7 million (2016: £11.5 million) was received by the Cormpany from Dairy Crest Limited on
loans reflecting an interest rate of 4,5% (2016: 5.3%) and a further £5.4 million was received by the Company from Dairy Crest UK Limited on
floating rate loans paying LIBOR plus margin (2016: £0.4 million). The Company paid ne interest 2016: £nil} to Dairy Crest Limited on cross-
currency swaps paying LIBOR and receiving EURIBOR.

30 Business combinations and disposals

(i) Disposal of Discontinued Operations

On 26 December 2015, the Group completed the disposal of its Dairies operation to Muller UK & irefand Group LLP {‘Muller). The Dairies
operation has therefore been classified as discontinued operations,

The disposal resulted in a post tax loss of £108.0 million which 1s analysed below. The final consideration of £23.5 millicn comprised £54.5
million received in cash during the prior year net of £25.9 millicn which was provided for in the prior year but repaid to Muller in 2017, The final
considaration adjustment of £2.5 million was agreed in the current year. The disposal resulted in a net cash outfiow in the current year of £28.4
million (2016: £49.0 million inflow, after £5.5 milllion of professional fees).

Year ended ‘Year ended

31 March 31 March

2017 2016

, , emo o

Property, plant and eqdipment [ {1 32.2)
Intangible assets - {15.6}
Inventories - (33.0)
Trade and other receivables - (9.0)
Trade and other payables ] - 29.4
Net éssets anmmgased - = = {1 60.135
Congideration {2.5) 28.6
Disposal costs - (5.5)
Loss on disposal betore tax o (2.5) (1%?3)
Attributable tax ] ) 5.2 28.6
@@Eposﬁl of discorﬂad bperatio-r;r S :ﬁ _E

{i1) Acquisitions

There were no business acquisitions during the year.

In the pricr year, the Group acquired the outstanding share capital of Promovita Ingredients Limitad (‘Promovita’) for a cash consideration of
£6.0 million bringing its shareholding to 100%. Promovita was established in 2014 as a joint venture between the Group and Fayrefield Foods
Limited to develop and produce GOS, a prebiotic for use in infant formula. In accordance with IFRS 3 (Revised) ‘Business Combinations’, the
value of the previously held 50% shareholding has been restated to fair value at the acquisition date. The difference between the fair value of
the equity owned prior to acquisition of £6.0 million and the bock value of the original investment of £nil was recognised in the consolidated
income statement, with the gain of £6.0 million reported in exceptional iterms under continuing operations.
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30 Business combinations and disposals continued

The fair value of the original shareholding has tbeen calculated based on the principles of IFRS 13 'Fair Value Measurement’ under Hierachy
Level 2, with the fair value being equal to the amount paid for Fayrefield Foods Limited's £0% share.

Sook and
provisional
fair valug
B £m

Net assets acquired:
Trade and other receivables 0.8
Trade and other payables 0.8)
Gain on remeasurement to fair value 6.0)
Goodwill 12.0
Total consideraticn satisfied by cash 6.0

The goadwill of £12.0 million arising on acguisition represents future opportunities in relation to the use of GOS ininfant formula and other
products. None of the goodwill is expected ta be deductible for corparate income tax purposes.

31 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The objective of the treasury function, which is accountable to the Board, is to manage the Group's and Company's financial risk, secure
cost-effective funding for the Group's operations and o minimise the effects of fluctuations in interest rates and exchange rates on the value of
the Group's and Company's financial assets and liabilities, on reported profitability and on cash flows.

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise bank loans and overdrafts, loan notes, finance leases and cash and short-term deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions; principally cross currency swaps and forward currency contracts. The purpose is to
manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group’s cperations and its sources of finance. It is, and has been throughout
2016 and 2017, the Group's policy that no trading In firancial instruments shall be undertakan.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, price risk and credit risk.
Information on how these nisks arise is set out below, as are the objectives, policies and processes agreed by the Boarg for their management
and the methods used to measure each risk. Derivative instruments are used to change the economic characteristics of financial instruments
in accordance with the Group's treasury policies. The Group's accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out in the Accounting
Policies note.

Liquidity risk

The Group's chjectives are:

+ to ensure that forecast peak net borrowings, plus a prudent ocperating headrocom are covered by committed facilities which mature after at
least 12 months;

» {o ensure that prudent headroom versus bank and loan note covenant ratios are forecast for the next three years;

* to maintain flexibility of funding by employing diverse sources of funds (eg use of non-bank markets such as private placements); and

* to avoid a concentration of facility maturities in any particular year.

The maturity analysis of Group borrowings is set out in Note 20. At 31 March 2017 the Group's total credit facilities amounted to £397.8 million
{2016: £479.8 million) excluding finance leases of £2.5 million (2016: £3.9 millicn) and the impact of cross-currency swaps on US Oollar and
Euro loan notes of £12.2 millicn (2016: £19.4 million). The facilities at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 consisted of:

March 2017
s £240 millicn revolving credit facility of which £80 million will exgire on 6 October 2018 and £160 million on 6 Octaber 2020.
¢ loan notas totalling £157.9 million repayable betwesen April 2017 and March 2026.

March 2016
s £240 millicn revolving credit facility of which £80 million will expire on 6 October 2018 and £160 million an 6 October 2020.
* |oan notes totalling £239.8 million repayable between April 2016 and March 2026.

Undrawn revolving credit facilities at 31 March 2017 amounted to £112.0 million {2016: £135,0 million), Effective headroom including cash and
short-term deposits amounted to £132.9 million {2016: £235.3 million).

The Group aims to mitigate liquidity risk by closely managing cash generation by its operating businesses and by monitoring perfermance to
budgsts and forecasts. Capital investment is carefully controlled, with detailed authorisation fimits in place up to Executive level and cash
payback criteria considered as part of the investment appraisal process. Short-term and long-term cash and debt forecasts are constantly
reviewad and there are regular treasury updates to the Executive highlighting facility headroom and net debt performance.

Day-to-day cash management utilises undrawn revolving credit facilities, overdraft facilities and occasionally short-term money market
deposits if there is excess cash.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

31 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk for changes in market interest rates relate primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations with a floating
interest rate.

The Group’s policy is to manage s interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt. The Group’s long-term strategy is to keep
petween one third and three quarters of its borrowings &t fixed rates of interest in the medium term. To manage this mix in a cost-efficient
manner, the Group has issuad fixed coupon loan notes and also enters into interest rate swaps from time to time on a portion of its flcating
bank borrowings, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest
amounts calculated by reference 1o an agreed-upon notional principal amount. Thess swaps are designated to hedge underlying debt interest
cash flow obligations. In the short-term the proportion of fixed and floating rate borrowings can go outside the long-term range.

At 31 March 2017, 55% of the Group's borrowings were at a fixed rate of interest (2016: 70%). On 23 March 2016, the Group raised £76.1
miltion sterling equivalent by way of fixed coupon loan notes and on 4 April 2016 the Group repaid £80.2 miltion sterling equivalent of fixed
coupon loan notes. This resulted in a high percentage of fixed interest rate debt as at 31 March 2016. In the medium term we expect the fixed
proportion of borrowings to continue to be in the target range.

The Group's borrowing facilities require minimum interest cover of 3.0 times.
The Group's exposure to interest rate risk is shown (by way of a sensitivity analysis) in Note 32.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has no significant operations outside the UK. However it buys and sells 2 small amourt of goods in currencies other than Sterling,
As a result the value of the Group's non-Sterling revenues, purchases, assets, liabilities and cash flows can be affected by moverments in
exchange rates — predominantly ELro/Sterling. The Group's exposure 10 Euro/Sterling Is increasing due to the investment in demineralised
whey production which is sold in Eures. The Group's policy is to match foreign currency transaction exposures where possible and whera
appropriate the Group will use financial instruments in the form of forward foreign currency contracts to hedge future transaction and cash
flows dencminated in currencias other than Sterling.

The majority of the Group's transactions are carried out in the relevant entity’s functional currency and therefore transaction exposures are
currently limited. It can be seen in Note 16 that the only significant non-Sterling trade receivables are in Euros. In 2016/17, the Group began
trading demineralised whey products in Euros resulting in an increase in trade receivables denominated in Euros from £1.0 million at 31 March
2016 to £2.3 million at 31 March 2017. We expect this to increase further in 2017/18.

Currency exposures an other transactions, such as certain capital expenditure denominated in a foreign currency, aré hedged following
approval of the project using forward foreign exchange contracts.

In 2007, 2011 and 2016 the Group issued loan notes denominated either in $US, € or £. Cross-currency swaps were implemented as required
to hedge the interest and principal repayment cash flows. These have the effect of fixing the liability and coupon in Sterling. The principal
amount and interest and principal payment dates on these swaps match those on the loan notes exactly and alt swaps are with counterparties
with sirong credit ratings. There is no profit and loss exposure in relation to $US or € note debts as any retranslation impact on the profit and
loss account is offset by reclassification of amounts from other comprehensive income into profit and loss.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk related to certain commodities and their by-praducts used by the Group’s businesses. The principal
non-milk commodities that affect input prices for the Group are vegetable oils, gas, electricity, diesel, heavy fuel cil and crude oil by-products
{used in packaging).

The Group monitors prices on an ongoing basis in order to assess the impact that movernents have on profitability and to assess whether the
amount of forward cover is appropriate. This includes vegetable oil contracts and energy, which is generally contracted one season in
advance for both summer and winter energy but with some requirement contracted at more regular intervals.

The Group regularly reviews relevant commaodity markets and levels of future cover. Fixed price contracts arg only entered intG with the
approval of the Commodity Risk Committee comprising senior operational and finance management and external advisers.

Credit risk

it is the Group’s policy that all custormers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. The Group only offers
these terms to recognised, creditworthy third parties. In addition, receivables balances are menitored on an ongoing basis with the result that
the Group’s history of bad debt losses is not significant.

Debtor days outstanding are closely monitored throughout the year and actior is taken promptly when payment terms are oreached.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
debtors (excludes prapayments) and certain derivative instruments, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty.
The maximum exposure for the Group is equal 1o the carrying amount of these financial assets of £62.1 million (2016: £158.2 million).

All revolving credit facility borrowings are through banks with long-term credit ratings of A or above, Funds tempararily surplus to business
requirements are invasted through deposit accounts with mainstream UK commercial banks with a credit rating of A or betler. The Group
currently has no requiremeant to place deposits for long periods, accordingly counterparty risk is considered to be acceptable. Derivative
financial instruments are contracted with a range of banks with long-term credit ratings of A or above to avoid excessive concentration of
financial instruments with one counterparty.
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31 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

Capital management

The primary cbjective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintaing an appropriate level of gearing in order to support its
business and maximise shareholder value. In addition, the Group monitors its forecast net debot to EBITDA ratios in order that they are
comfartably within its banking covenant requirements. The maximum net debt to EBITDA ratio for the purposes of bank covenants is 3.5 times
though the Directors target a ratio of below 2 times. At 31 March 2017 the ratio of net debt to EBITDA was 2.94 times (March 2016: 2,69
times).

The Group monitors its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions or changes in Group
structure. Possible mechanisms for changing capital structure include adjusting the level of dividends, issuance of new shares or returning
capital 1o shareholders. No significant changes in capital structure have been implemented in the yaar ended 31 March 2017 or the prior year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by shareholders’ funds. The analysis of net debt is included in Note
34. The gearing ratio at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 can be analysed as follows:

2017 2016
o o £m £m
Net debt 249.8 229.0
Shargholders' funds 71.9 134.2
Gearing ratio 347% 171%

Dividends

Details of dividends paid and proposed during the year are given in Note 9. The dividend policy is to maintain a progressive dividend whilst
seeking to maintain a level of dividend cover between 1.5 and 2.5 times. The final proposed dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March
2017 is 18.3 pence, up 0.3 pence from last year {2016: 16.0 pence). Total dividends paid and proposed in respect of the year ended 31 March
2017 amount to 22.5 pence (2016: 22.1 pence),

32 Financial instruments
An explanation of the Group's financial instrument risk management objectives, policies and strategies is set cut in the discussion of Treasury
paolicies in Note 31.

Consolidated

Interest rate maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities

The following table sets out the carrying armount, by maturity of the Group's financial assets and ligbilities that are exposed to interest rate risk.
No other financial assets and liabilities, othar than those shown below, are exposed directly to interest rate risk,

< 1 year =1 <2 years >2 <3 years »3 <4 years >4 <5 years > 5 years Total
At 31 March 2017 £m err £m £m £m £m £m
Fixed rate - ‘
Loan notes* {11.9) (20.0} - - 45.0) (81.0) (157.9)
Forward currency contracts (0.2) - - - - - {0.2)
Finance leases (1.5) (1.0) - - - - {2.5)
Cross currency swaps 0.1) 3.6 - - 6.2 2.5 12.2
Floating rate I
Bank loans - (80.0) - {48.0) - {128.0)
Cash at bank and in hand 20.8 - - - - - 20.9
Al 31 March 2016 o
Fixed rate
Loan notes* (95.6) (11.3) (17.4) - - (115.5) (239.8)
Finance leases - - {3.9) - - - (3.9)
Cross currency swaps 16.0 0.7) 1.0 - - 0.7 17.0
Floating rate S
Bank loans - - (53.0) - (52.0) - (108.0)
Qash at bank and_in hand 100.2 - - - - - 100.2

- Classified as fixed rate after taking irte account the effect of interest rate swaps.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

32 Financial instruments continued

Interast on financial instruments classified as floating rate is repriced at intervals of less than one year. Interest on financial instruments
classified as fixed rate is fixed until the matunty of the instrument.

Interest rate risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reascnably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax through the impact on floating rate borrowings. There is no material impact on the Group’s equity resulting from
movements in interest rates other than in relation to the $US/CBP and EUR/GBP cross-currency swaps used as a cash flow hedge on $US
and EUR loan notes, The impact on equity is nil over the life of the instruments as these swaps comprise an effective hedge. At 31 March
2017, 55% of Group borrowings were at fixed rates of interest (2016: 70%] (see Note 30).

The sensitivity analysis below excludes all non-derivative fixed rate financial instruments carried at amortised cost but inciudes nen-derivative
floating rate financial instruments except those where interest rate swaps have been used as cash flow hedges. This is due to the fact that
gains and losses on the hedging instrument offset losses and gains on the non-derivative floating rate financial instrument which are subject to
the hedge and are matched in both profit and loss and cash terms. No non-derivative fixed rate financial instruments have profit and loss
exposure due to floating rates as a result of interest rate swaps.

The 2017 analysis below reflects lower reasonably possible changes in interest rates to 2016 — upside LIBOR expectations assumed iast year
were not realised and the assumption is that base rates will increase less than anticipated at March 2016.

Effect an

Increase/ profit Effect on
decrease n before tax equity
basis points £m £m

2017
Sterling +100 1.5 -
Sterling ] -50 0.7) -
2016 -
Sterling +100 11 -
Sterling =50 {0.5) -

Equity price risk
The Group holds no listed equity investments and is not subject to equity price risk other than through the pension scheme (see Note 21).

Credit risk

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group unless otherwise disclosed. The maximum credit risk exposure relating
to financial assets is represented by carrying value as at the balance sheet date (see Note 31).

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy on managing its liquidity risk is set out in Note 31. The table below surmmarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial
liabilties at 31 March 2017 and 2016 based on contractual undiscounted payments of interest and principal.

< 1year »1 <2 years »2 <3 years >3 <4 years >4 <5 years > S years Totat
At 21 March 2017 £ £m £m £ £m gm £m
Loan notes (17.1) 248 (45 4.5 486  (882)  (187.6}
Cross-currency swaps (on loan notes):
payment ieg (12.4) {19.0) (2.6) 2.8) (37.9) (32.1) (106.7}
receipt leg 12.7 23.3 3.0 3.0 471 372 126.3
Bank loans - (80.0) - {48.0) - - (128.0)
Finance leases (1.5) {1.0) - - - - {2.5)
At 31 March 2016 Restated* Restated* Restated*
Loannotes 7 ' T [100.9) 3300 @ @1 @) (1258 @724)
Cross-currency swaps [on loan notes):
payment leg [74.0) [28.1) (2.6) (2.6) [2.6) 700 (179.9)
raceipt jleg 89.2 28.7 2.6 2.6 2.6 73.4 199.1
Bank loans - - (53.0) - 52.0) - (105.0)
Financéleases o ) N (1.5 B {1.5) (1 ﬁ o - - —1)

- Comparaiive period restated to reflect the loan notes payatle in November 2021 as payable in = 5 years

Short-term payables all mature within one year.
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32 Financial instruments continued

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts and the fair values of all of the Group's financial instruments that are carried in the financial statements are the samz,
with the exception of the loan notes. The carrying amount of the loan notes was £157.9 million (2016: £238.8 million) and the fair value was
£156.4 mitlion (2016: £231.0 millicn). The fair value of borrowings has been calculated based on the principles of IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value
Measurement’ under Hierachy Level 2, by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

Cross currency swaps

The noticnal principal amount of the outstanding $US/GBP cross currency swap contracts at 31 March 2017 was $126.3 million (£101.0
million) (2016: $249.4 million (£173.5 milliony). These cross currency swaps have both legs at fixed interest rates, are designated as cash flow
hedges and meet the criteria for hedge accounting. At 31 March 2017 the fixed interest rates varied from 3.227% to 4.516% (2016: 3.227% to
5.305%). Any gains/losses arising from fair value adjustments deferred in equity will reverse in the income statement (finance costs) during the
next six years (being the life of the swaps).

The naticnal principal amount of the cutstanding EUR/GBP ¢ross currency swap contracts at 31 March 2017 was €10.7 million (£9.2 millior)
{(2016: €10.7 milion {£8.5 million)). These cross currency swaps have both legs at fixed interest rates, are designated as cash flow hedges and
meet the criteria for hedge accounting. At 31 March 2017 the fixed interest rates varied from 5.47% 1o 5.60% (2016: 5.47% to 5.60%). The loss
deferred in equity will reverse in the income statement (finance costs) during the next year (being the life of the swaps).

Forward currency contracts

The Group enters into certain forward currency contracts in order to hedge the Sterling cost of currency-denominated future purchases and
receipts. The forward currency purchases in place at 31 March 2017 do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting and the loss in respect of
these has been recognised within the income staterment.

Borrowing facilities

The Group has undrawn committed long-term borrowing facilities available at 31 March 2017 of £112.0 million {2016: £135.C million) in respect
of which all conditions precedent had been met at that date. Undrawn facilities expire cn 6 October 2018 {£nil) and 6 October 2020 (£112.0
million).

Company

Interest rate maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are exposed to interest rate
risk. No other financial assets and liabilities, other than those shown below, are exposed directly to interest rate risk.

< 1year >1 <2 years »2 <3 ysars »3 <4 years >4 <5 years > Syears Total
At 31 March 2017 £m £m em £m £m £m £m
Fixed rate
Loan notes* (11.9) (20.0) - - (45.0) 81.0) {157.9)
Intercempany receivables 152.9 - - - - - 152.9
Intercompany payables (48.8) - - - - - (48.8)
Cross currency swaps 0.1) 3.6 - - 6.2 2.5 12.2
Floatingrate - -
Intercompany receivables 456.4 - - - - - 456.4
lntercompany payables (169.2) - - - - - (169.2)
At 31 March 2016 restated**
Fixed rate - B
Loan notes* (95.6) {11.3) (17.4) - - (115.5) (239.8)
Intercompany receivables 238.7 - - - - - 238.7
Intercompany payables (48.6) - - - - - (48.6)
Cross currency swaps 16.0 0.7 1.0 - - o7 17.0
Floating rate S - o
Intercompany receivables 35.4 - - - - - 35.4
Intercompany payables {215.4) - - - - - _(2_ 1 Ei)

* These have been classifiec as fixed rate after takang into account the efiect of interest rate swaps.,
** The comparative figures have been restated to report intercompany receivables and intercormpany payables separately within fixed and floating rate.

Interest rate risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Company's profit befare tax through the impact on floating rate borrowings. There is no impact on the Company's equity resulting from
movements in interest rates other than in relation to the $US/GBP and FUR/GBP crass-currency swaps used 2s a cash flow hedge on $US
and EUR loan notes. The impact on equity is nil over the life of the instruments as these swaps comprise an effective hedge.
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NOTES TO THE FINANGIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

32 Finangcial instruments continued

The sensitivity analysis excludes all non-derivative fixed rate financial instruments carried at amortised cost but includes non-derivative floating
rate financial instruments except those where interest rate swaps have been used as cash flow hedges. This is due to the fact that gains and
Josses on the hedging instrument offset losses and gains on the non-derivative floating rate financial instrument which are subject to the
hedge are matched in both profit and loss and cash terms. No non-derivative fixed rate financial instruments have profit and loss exposure
due to floating rates as a result of imerest rate swaps.

The 2017 analysis below reflects lower reasonably possible changes in interest rates to 2016 — upside LIBOR expectations assumed last year
were not redlised and the assumption is that base rates will increase less than anticipated at March 2016.

Effect on
Increase/ profit before Effect or
degrease in tax equity
basis ponts £m £
2017
Sterling +100 - -
Sterling -50 - -
2016
Sterling +100 - -
Sterling -50 - -

Equity price risk

The Company holds no listed equity investments and is not subject to equity price risk.

Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of financial assets.

Liquidity risk

The Company's policy on managing its liquidity risk is set out in Note 31. The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company's
financial llabilities at 31 March 2017 and 2016 based on contractual undiscounted payments of interest and principat.

< 1vear >1 <2 years »2 <3 years >3 <4 ygars »4 < years > B years Total

At 31 March 2017 £m £m £m £m £m __Em fm
Loan notes T T Ty pam @S 45 @8B) (882 (187.6)
Cross-curfency swaps (on loan notes):

payment leg {12.4) (19.0) (2.8) (2.6} (37.9) 32.1) (106.7)

receipt ieg 12.7 233 30 3.0 474 37.2 12\6i
At 31 March 2016 ) Restated* Rastated” Restated”
Loannotes 7 {ooe @0 @) @n @1 (259 (272.4)
Cross-currency swaps [on loan notes).

payment leg {74.0) (28.1) (2.6) 2.6) (2.8) (70.0) {179.9)
¥reciptle_L 89,2 28.7 2.6 28 2.6 73.4 198.1

* Comparative period restated to reflect the loan notes payable in November 2021 as payable in > § years

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts and the fair values of all of the Company's financial instrumenis that are carried in the financial statements are the same,
with the exception of the loan notes. The carrying amount of the loan notes was £157.9 million (2016: £233.8 million) and the fair value was
£156.4 million (2016: £231.0 million). The fair value of borrowings has been caiculated based on the principles of IFRS 13 "Fair Value
Measurement” under Hierachy Level 2, by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

Cross currency swaps

External

The notional principal amount of the outstanading $US/GBP cross currency swap contracts at 31 March 2017 was $126.3 million (£101.0
million) (2016: $249.4 milion (£173.5 million)). These cross currency swaps have both legs at fixed interest rates, ars designated as cash flow
hedges and mest the criteria for hedge accounting. At 31 March 2017 the fixed interest rates varied from 3.227% to 4.516% (2016: 3.227% to
5.305%). Any gains/osses arising from fair value adjustments deferred in equity will reverse in the income statement {finance costs) during the
next one to six years (being the life of the swaps).

The national principal amount of the outstanding EUR/GBPR cross currency swap contracts at 31 March 2017 was €10.7 million (£9.2 miilion)
{2016: €10.7 million ({£8.5 million)). These cross currency swaps have both legs at fixed interest rates, are designated as cash flow hedges and
meet the criteria for hedge accounting. At 31 March 2017 the fixed interest rates varied from 5.47% to 5.60% (2016: 5.47% to 5.60%). The loss
deferred in equity will reverse in the income statement (finance costs) during the next year (being the life of the swaps).
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32 Financial instruments continued
Borrowing facilities

The Company has undrawn committed long-term borrowing facilities available at 31 March 2017 of £112.0 millicn (2016: £135.0 millicn) in
respect of which all conditions precedent had been met at that date. Undrawn facilities expire on 6 October 2018 (Enil} and & October 2020

(£112.0 million).

33 Cashflow from operating activities

Year ended ‘Year endec
31 March 31 Marek
2m7 2016
£m £m
Profit before taxation — continuing operations 40.3 454
Loss before taxation — discontinued operations (4.6) (187.2)
Finance costs and other finance income - continuing operations 8.5 8.9
Loss on disposal of Dairies cperation 2.5 137.3
Profit on operations 46.7 4.4
Depreciation 14.9 234
Amortisation of internally generated intangible assets 0.5 2.0
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 0.4 0.4
Impairment of investment 0.5 -
Difference between cash outflow on exceptional items and amounts recognised (6.5) 10.3
in the income statement (excluding disposal of Dairies operation)
Release of grants (1.6) (1.7)
Share-based payments 1.2 2.2
Profit on disposal of depots (3.0 (3.7)
Difference between pension contributions paid and amounts recognised in the income statement {14.1) (20.0)
R&D tax credits {0.1) -
{Increase)/decrease in inventories (10.5) 13.8
Decrease in receivables 9.3 44,2
Decrease in payables (4.9) (44.0)
Cash generated from operations 32.8

31.3

No cash was generated from operations for the Company in the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: nil).
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34 Analysis of net debt

At 1 Aprl Cash Non-cash Exchange At31 March
2086 flow maovernent movement 2017
Consalidated £m gm £m gm. Em
Cash and cash equivalents 100.3 (79.4) - - 20.9
Borrowings (currenty™ (95.5) 95.6 {11.3) 0.8) {11.9)
Borrowings (non-current) {249.2) (23.0) 1.3 (13.1) {274.0)
Finance leases™" 3.9) 1.5 0.1 - (2.5)
Debt issuance costs 1.9 0.4 0.9 - 14
(246.5) @9 (1.0 (13.7)  [266.1)
Debt issuance costs excluded {1.9) {0.4) 0.9 - (1.4)
|E1pact of cross-currency swaps” 19.4 {15.4) - 13.7 17.7
Net debt i (229.0) 207 1) - {249.8)
At 1 April Cash Non-cash Exchange At 31 Marcn
205 flow movement mover-ent 2018
- £m £m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 5—(5 49.7 - B ~ 100.3
Borrowings {currenty™ - - 92.9) 2.7y (95.6)
Borrowings {non-currant) {263.2) {76.3) 92.9 (2.6) (249.2)
Finance leases™” - 1.5 {5.4) ~ (3.9)
Debt issuance costs 0.2 1.6 0.1 ~ 1.9
(212.4) (23.5) 5.3) (53]  (246.5)
Debt issuance costs excluded {0.2) 1.6) C.1) - (1.9)
ii‘npact of cross-currency swaps” 13.9 0.2 - 53 19.4
Nat debt (198.7) (24.9) 6.4 - (2290

The Group has $126.3 milion and £10.7 milion of loan notes against which crosa-currency swaps have been putin place to fix nterest and procipal repayments

in Steriing March 2018: $249.4 million and C310.7 mill on). Under IFRS, currency borrowings are retransiated nto Sterling at year end exchange rates. The cross-
currency swaps are recorded at farr value and incorporate movemerts in both market exchange rates ard imerest rates. The Group defines net debt so as to include
the effective Sterling liability where ¢ross-currency swaps have been used to convert foreign currency borrowings inta Sterling. The £17.7 million adjustment included
in the above (March 2016: £19.4 million) converts the Stering equivalent of Dollar and Suro loan notes from year end exchangs rates {£110.1 millon (March 20186:

£182.0 millior)) to the fixed Sterling liability of £82,3 million (March 2016° £162.6 miliior),
During the year the Group repaid $123.0 million {£70.2 mullion) and £16.0 million of 200§ fixed coupor loan notes on maturity, The £80.2 million cash flow in respect
aof the repayment is reflected in the table under borrowings (current) of £95.6 million and the impact of cross-currency swaps of £*5.4 millon.

™ Finance: lease non-cash movement relates to the recognition of the agreement of a secondary Tease term for assets at Nuneaton.

On 4 April 2017 there was a natural maturity of €10.7 million £9.2 million) and £2.8 million of 2007 fixed coupon loan notes.
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34 Analysis of net debt continued

At 1 April Cash Nen-cash Exchange At 31 March

2016 flow mavement movement 2017
Company_ o 3 £m £m £m Em. £m
Cash and 'cash equivalents 40.1 {(40.0} - - 0.1
Borrowings (current) (95.6) 95.6 (11.3) (0.6) (11.9)
Borrowings (non-current) (144.2) - 1.3 {13.1) (146.0)
(199.7) 55.6 - (13.7) (157.8)

Borrowings (non-current) — impact of cross-currency swaps 19.4 (15.4) - 13.7 17.7
Net debt (180.3) 40.2 - - (140.1)
At 1 Aprl Cash Nen-cash Exchange At 31 Maren

20°5 flow movernent movement 2018

£m £ £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 0.2 39.9 - - 40.1
Borrowings (current) - - (82.9) 2.7 (95.6)
Borrowings (non-current) (158.2) (76.3) 92.2 (2.6) {144.2)
(158.0) (36.4 - {5.3) (199.7)

Borrowings (non-current) — impact of cross-currency swaps 13.9 0.2 - 5.3 19.4
Netdebt B - (144.1)  (3.2) - - (1808

35 Post balance sheet events
Maturity of Fixed Coupon Loan Notes

On 4 April 2017, the Group repaid €10.7 millicn {£9.2 million} and £2.8 million of 2007 fixed coupon loan nctes ocn maturity.

36 Corporate information

The consolidated accounts of Dairy Crest Group plc for the year ended 31 March 2017 were authorised for issue in accordance with a
resolution of the Directors on 17 May 2017 and the consdlidated and Company balance sheets wers signed on the Board's behalf by
Mr M Allen and Mr T Atherton. Dairy Crest Group ple is a limited company incorporated in England and Wales and domiciled in the United

Kingdom whose shares are publicly traded on the London Stock Exchange.

Dairy Crest Annual Report 2017

The numbers

118



120

GROUP FINANCIAL HISTORY

Res:ated Festated Restated
2013 2014 20'5 2016 2017

gclsolidated income statement summary — co_r_1tinuing operations £m £m gm  fm £m
Product group revenue 7
Cheese and Functional Ingredients 231.3 264.6 274.4 263.7 2548
Butters, Spreads and Oils 194.6 177.4 170.0 162.6 150.7
Other 4.2 4.2 3.8 6.0 11.14
Group 430.0 4462 4482 4223 4166
Product grt;rl.;;') |:n'ofit-t ) ‘
Cheese and Functional Ingredients 33.1 38.3 33.1 36.4 42.8
Butters, Spreads and Qils 25.5 16.8 33.8 29.8 25.5
Associate - 03 - - -
Ftai product group profit - c;)ntinuing operations o 58.6 56.4 66.9 66.0 68.3
Finance costs B B (18.7) L (9.2) (8.1) o 8.3) 7.7
Adjusted profit before fax - continuing operations™ 38.9 46.5 58.8 57.7 60.6
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 0.4) 0.4) 0.4 (0.4) (0.4)
Exceptional items {26.0) 8.4) {19.8) (11.3) (19.1)
Other finance expense - pensions 3.5 0.3) (1.8} __(0.6) (0.8}
Group profit before tax — continuing operations 10.0 374 36.8 45.4 40.3
Balanhce sheet summary N
Property, plant & equipment, goodwill, intangibles and investments o 375? 391.¢ 428.9 331.8 299.3
Inventories, receivables, payables, deferred income, deferred tax asset
and provisions 74.1 109.8 116.2 80.1 132.3
Total operating assets 450.0 5015 5451 4119 4316
Financial instruments excluding amounts included in net debt 1.5 2.8 (1.3) (2.4) (0.3)
Tax {17.2) (15.0) (13.9 (3.8) -
Retirement obligations 67.2) (57.7) (41.4) 42.5) {109.6)
Net debt (59.7) (142.2) (198.7) (229.0) (249.8)
Shareholders' equity . 307 .4 2804 2898 1342 719
Cash flow summary N o
Generated from/used i) operations ) ’ 19.1 (13.8) 5.3 31.3 32.8
Fixed asset investments (net of grants) (46._0) (58.8) (80.1} (66.8) (25.6)

S (26.9) 72.6)  (44.8) (355 1.2
Interest paid (18.0) {14.0) {10.5) (12.8) {12.2)
Taxation repaid/{paid} 4.7) 2.1 - - -
Dividends paid (27.4) {28.5) (29.2) (30.0) {31.1)
Purchase of businesses and investments {0.6) - ©.1) 6.0 -
Other items (principally business and asset disposals) 354.3 30.5 28.1 54.0 15.3
Mement in net debt 276.7 {82.5) {56.5) (30.3) {20.8)

“ Profit on operations before exceptional tems and amortisation of acquired ntangibles.
- Before exceptional items, amartisation of acquired intanginles and pension interest.

The Consolidated Income Staterment Summary — Continuing Operations has been restated in all years 1o reclassify the results of the sold

Dairigs operation to discontinued operations.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

Company Registrar and Shareholder Enquiries

If you have administrative enquiries concerning your shareholdings
in the Company, such as the loss of share certificates, change of
address, dividend payment arrangements or amalgarmation of
accounts, please contact the Company’s registrar by writing to,
Capita Asset Services, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Read,
Beckenham, Kent BR3 4T\ or by telephone on 0371 664 9266.

Calls are charged at the standard geographical rate and will vary py
provider. Calls from cutside the UK are charged at the applicable
international rate. Lines are open 8.00am to 5.30pm Monday to Friday.

Capita Asset Services also provides anfine facilities for shareholders to
check their holdings and update their detalls. Registering is easy, and
there is no fee invohved, simply access www.dairycrestshares.com

Payment of dividends

Shareholders may arrange to have their dividends paid directly into
a bank or building society account using the Bankers Automated
Clearing System (BACS). Bank mandate forms are available from
Capita Asset Services whose details appear above or you can
register your mandate details online at www.dairycrestshares.com

Low cost share dealing service

if you do nct have share dealing arrangements in place, Dairy Crest
has a low cost share dealing service arranged by Capita Share
Dealing Services. Shareholders wishing to use the service should
either visit the Capita Share Dealing website at www.capitadeal.com
or call 0371 664 Q445. Calls are charged at the standard
geographical rate and will vary by provider, Calls from outside the
UK are charged at the applicable international rate. Lines are open
8.00am to 4.30pm Monday to Friday.

Gifting shares to charity

Sharehaolders who have a small holding of shares on the register
whereby their value makes them uneconomic to sell, may donate
these shares to charity under the Sharegift Scheme - administered
by the Orr Mackintosh Foundaticon - a registered charity. Information
can be found at www.sharegift.org or telephone: 020 7930 3737.

Holders
Analysis of ordinary shareholders at 17 May 2017 number Y Shares Yo
Category
Individuals and other holders 16,580 88.34 27,535,434 19.52
Insurance companies, pension funds, banks,
nominees and limited companies 2,189 11.66 113,536,863 80.48
o - 18769  100.00 141,072,267  100.00
Size of holdings
Up 1o 5,000 shares 17,381 92.61 23,427,965 16.61
5,001 — 20,000 shares 1,185 6.15 8,638,028 6.12
20,001 — 100,000 shares 117 0.62 5,470,230 3.88
Over 100,000 shares 116 0.62 103,536,074 73.39
T T 18769 100.00 141,072,297  100.00

General information

(General information about Dairy Crest can ke found on our
corperate website, www.dairycrest.co.uk

Investors who have questions relating to the Group's business
activities should contact:

Investor Relations, Dairy Crast Group ple, Claygate House,
Littleworth Road, Esher, Surrey KT10 8PN.

Telephone: 01372 472200

e-mail: investorrelations@dairycrest.co.uk

Financial calendar
Dividends
Ex-dividend

Record date
Payment date

Final

Thursday 6 July 2017
Friday 7 July 2017
Friday 11 August 2017

Group results (Anticipated)

Hal Year {Interims) Novermnber 2017
Preiiminary Announcement

of 2017/18 results May 2018
2017/18 Report and Accounts

circutation June 2018
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Visit our website at
www.dairycrest.co.uk
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